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A journey towards equilibrium – A necessary journey towards adjusting to the new ‘normal’  
The year 2020/21 was a year of uncomfortable, yet necessary, fast-tracking. With the start of the pandemic and urgency 
to adapt to Covid-19 regulations, which forced the world to adopt Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) concepts, FASSET 
experienced great turbulence. This turbulence was not seen as a challenge but rather as a means to an end where creative 
thinking and innovation would reign supreme, allowing FASSET to respond to the need for change in its processes and 
programmes.

This shift also relates to the sector, where implementing 4IR in its functions is a necessity rather than a nice-to-have, and 
a slow progression is in place. The sector has also noted the opportunities of digitisation and in the public sector, artificial 
intelligence has been highlighted as a possible solution to non-compliance, performance and audit reporting challenges.

The story to be told by FASSET in 2021/22 is its response to the essentials brought forward by the year 2020/21 in  
an effort to find its feet in a changed world of work. It is the story of FASSET’s journey towards equilibrium.

This story talks to the following:
• Virtual lifelong learning;
• Executive Development Programme – female development;
• Maths, Accounting and English Support Programme;
• The impact of CET/TVET programmes including the TVET Colleges Governors’ Council;
• NSFAS Loan Repayment Grant; 
• Hybrid Annual General Meeting; 
• Executive Knock & Drop campaign;
• Entrepreneurial training for SMMEs (including unemployed learners); and
• Internship Programme (digital skills training became compulsory component).

In this report, FASSET will address its investment from a skills development point of view, especially relating to digital skills 
training. This is a true reflection of the position FASSET finds itself in and a forecast for the 2022/23 financial year where, 
hopefully, equilibrium would have been achieved.
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4IR Fourth Industrial Revolution
AET Adult Education and Training
AFS Annual Financial Statements
AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa
AIR Annual Integrated Report 
APP Annual Performance Plan
ARC Audit and Risk Committee
ATR Annual Training Reports 
BBBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
BRICS Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa 
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
CPD Corporation for Public Deposits
CSR Corporate Social Responsibility
DHET Department of Higher Education and Training 
EDP Executive Development Programme
ERRP Economic Reconstruction and Recovery Plan 
ETDP Education, Training and Development Practices
EXCO Executive Committee
FASSET Financial and Accounting Services Sector Education and Training Authority
FINCO Finance Committee
GSC Governance and Strategy Committee
GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
HEI Higher Education Institution
HET Higher Education Training
HREMCO Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
ICT Information Communications Technology
LPD Learner Professional Development
NLRG NSFAS Loan Repayment Grants
NQF National Qualifications Framework 
NSDP National Skills Development Plan 
NSFAS National Student Financial Aid Scheme
PFMA Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999
PIVOTAL Professional, Vocational, Technical and Academic Learning
POPIA Protection of Personal Information Act
PSET Post-School Education and Training
RPL Recognition of Prior Learning 
SARS South African Revenue Services
SCM Supply Chain Management
SCOPA Standing Committee on Public Accounts 
SDA Skills Development Act 
SDLA Skills Development Levy Act
SETA Sector Education and Training Authority
SLA Service Level Agreement
SMME Small, Medium and Micro Enterprise
SP Strategic Plan
SSP Sector Skills Plan
TVET Technical Vocational Education and Training 
WIL Work Integrated Learning 
WSP Workplace Skills Plan 

2.	LIST	OF	ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS
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Honourable Minister, it is our privilege, as the Accounting Authority, to present the Financial and Accounting Services Sector 
Education and Training Authority (FASSET) Annual Integrated Report for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022.

This report provides an account of FASSET’s financial and non-financial performance for the year under review. It includes 
detail on the manner in which we created value for stakeholders and contributed to the facilitation of skills development across 
the Post-School Education and Training (PSET) pipeline. The FASSET Accounting Authority remains committed to continuing to 
partner with our stakeholders, and various delivery partners to change the personal and professional lives of thousands of  
South Africans.

Combined assurance was provided by all assurance providers in terms of the approved combined assurance framework. The 
Auditor-General of South Africa audited the Annual Financial Statements and the performance information for the 2021/22 
financial year. 

The FASSET Accounting Authority endorses this Annual Integrated Report and remains committed to building a strong legacy in 
skills development with the objective of facilitating the attainment of world-class finance and accounting skills for the sector and 
the broader economy.

  

Ms Lynette Ntuli      Ms Ayanda Mafuleka CA(SA)
Chairperson      Chief Executive Officer

 

3.	LETTER	TO	THE	MINISTER

Dr Blade Nzimande
Minister of Higher 
Education, Science  

and Innovation

Mr Buti Manamela
Deputy Minister of Higher

Education, Science  
and Innovation

Ms Lynette Ntuli
Chairperson

Ms Ayanda Mafuleka
CA(SA)

Chief Executive Officer
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4.1 Scope
This Annual Integrated Report (AIR) provides a strategic, 
operational and financial overview of the activities of the 
Financial and Accounting Services Sector Education and 
Training Authority (FASSET) for the period 1 April 2021 to  
31 March 2022.

4.2 Reporting framework
The report is compiled in compliance with:
• The Public Finance Management Act, No. 1 of 1999 

(PFMA);
• The Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008;
• Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 

(GRAP); and
• Skills Development Act (Amended).

The content of the report also takes into consideration:
• The National Treasury Annual Report Guide for Schedule 

3A and 3C Public Entities 2022; and
• The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South 

Africa, 2016 (King IV). 

4.3 Assurance
The Accounting Authority is satisfied with the integrity of 
the report and the level of assurance applied. The sector 
education and training authority’s (SETA’s) consolidated 
Annual Financial Statements have been audited by the 
independent external auditor, the AGSA. The AGSA’s 
unqualified report can be found on pages 85 to 87.  

The audited Annual Financial Statements presented in this 
AIR were prepared in accordance with GRAP issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board and in accordance with the 
Skills Development Act (SDA) and the Skills Development 
Levy Act (Act No. 9 of 1999), as amended (SDLA). The 
Accounting Authority is satisfied with the level of assurance 
on the AIR.

4.4 Accounting Authority responsibility
The Accounting Authority acknowledges its responsibility 
to ensure the integrity of the AIR and believe that the 
report addresses all material issues and fairly presents the 
performance and impact of FASSET.

4.5 Approval
The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed this AIR 
(including the full Annual Financial Statements) and 
recommended these to the Accounting Authority for 
approval. The Accounting Authority has applied its  
oversight role to the AIR and believes that it addresses 
all material issues, and fairly presents the integrated 
performance of the SETA. The 2021/22 AIR was approved  
by the Accounting Authority.

4.	FASSET	APPROACH	TO	INTEGRATED	REPORTING

PART A: GENERAL INFORMATION
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The work that went into rethinking skills development and training 
for the future in response to the devastating socio-economic effects 
of the Covid-19 pandemic during the previous financial year, 
has served as FASSET’s springboard to deliver its programmes as 
required by our mandate, while proactively responding to emerging 
trends gleaned from the inputs of stakeholders as well as evidence-
based research.

Restoring full service delivery and extending our reach following 
the business interruption of the pandemic is a process, and while 
we have not reached perfect momentum as yet, FASSET has made 
progress.

The South African Government’s Economic Reconstruction and 
Recovery Plan (ERRP) has served as a driver to accelerate efforts 
to embed digitisation, enhance transformation, and advance an 
ethical and integrous FAS sector. Externally, FASSET has partnered 
with other SETAs and the public and private sectors to deliver 
services needed to grow a confident and knowledgeable cohort 
of FAS employees (and possible future employers). We have also 
used this opportunity to gauge whether FASSET’s value proposition 
is aligned with what the profession, complementary sectors and 
the economy need. One result of closer engagement has been 
the adjustment of the FASSET scarce skills identification process to 
better serve industry.

Internally, FASSET has interrogated its job profiles and a 
vigorous process has ensured that these and the commensurate 
performance management expectations and practices are aligned. 
In progressing on our journey to restore balance, we have 
responded with agile talent acquisition endeavours as well as by 
encouraging existing FASSET employees to rise to the next level in 
their performance trajectory; a process that has yielded good fruit 
and contributed to improved staff morale. 

We have moved past the ethical challenges that faced the 
audit sector over the past four years. We will now focus on 
the talent coming through the pipeline and what professional 
skills are needed to embrace this new world of work. Some 
of the challenges that FASSET identified during the reporting 
year, either from research results or from responses to selected 
programmes, concern the future of commercial subjects in 
schools, the insufficient enrolment of learners in bursary and other 
learner-targeted programmes, and the relatively small number 
of businesses supported through discretionary funding. Ongoing 
dialogue with the education sector and a refreshed stakeholder 
engagement strategy are expected to move the needle in the new 
financial year to meet or, better yet, exceed targets.

Of concern is that many of our graduates are not absorbed in 
our labour market. We have noted the upsurge of skills leaving 
our shores and while we are somewhat flattered that our skills are 
evidently required abroad, we do worry about what this may mean 
for the industry locally over the next few years. It is clear that we 
are implementing the right ethos in preparing young graduates, but 

5.	FOREWORD	BY	THE	CHAIRPERSON

“Our focus in this 
reporting period has 
been on developing 
a strong pipeline; 
going the extra mile in 
preparing more women 
for leadership roles and 
entrenching gender 
equality from school 
level upwards”
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the burning question is how to keep this talent in our country, 
gainfully employed and contributing to the overall prosperity 
of South Africa. This is not FASSET’s challenge to meet on 
its own. The employers with whom we partner are essential 
and we are grateful for every new employer that takes up the 
baton. 

Our focus in this reporting period has been on developing a 
strong pipeline; going the extra mile in preparing more women 
for leadership roles and entrenching gender equality from 
school level upwards; and empowering educators with the 
necessary, up-to-date skills to teach commercial-type subjects 
effectively. We have and will continue to ramp up our focus 
on employers and will hone in further on various elements 
of FASSET’s research outputs such as how to capacitate and 
support small, medium and micro enterprises (SMMEs) in the 
FAS sector. 

For their hard work and commitment under often less-than-
ideal circumstances during the reporting year, I wish to thank 
the FASSET Executive Team and all our staff members for 

their commitment to pursue excellence in every programme. 
An unqualified audit report is but one testament to this 
commitment. Further I would like to thank the FASSET 
Accounting Authority for their strategic inputs and support to 
FASSET as a forward-looking entity that continues to navigate 
change and uncertainty, but always with a focus on making the 
future count.

Thank you,

Ms Lynette Ntuli
FASSET Chairperson
31 July 2022
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The 2021/22 reporting year was truly a year of 
responsiveness. FASSET considered the challenges and 
changes brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic, listened 
intently to its various stakeholders and weighed the needs 
of the industry as gleaned from virtual or face-to-face 
engagements but also from our various research projects. 

Of course, first and foremost our goal was to give 
meaningful expression to our mandate of developing and 
implementing national, sectoral and workplace strategies 
to enhance the skills of the national workforce, and in so 
doing improving employability and productivity that adds 
to the competitiveness of our country. FASSET is clear of its 
overarching mandate that is linked to the National Skills 
Development Plan (NSDP) and National Development 
Plan 2030.

Of equal importance was FASSET’s determined journey 
towards equilibrium: that state of work and being that strives 
for balance even as opposing influences – uncertainty, 
personal and socio-economic loss – have the potential to 
disrupt and distract. Have we reached equilibrium? Not 
yet. But we have moved forward and can with gratitude 
acknowledge that it is in partnerships with various 
stakeholders in the SETA space and the Finance and 
Accounting Services sector that we are making progress.

It is my pleasure to share that FASSET has attained a historic 
achievement of 84% against its planned strategic targets 
and has exceeded the majority of its targets. And FASSET 
achieved an unqualified audit opinion with no findings (a 
clean audit) which is a significant improvement compared to 
the previous 5 years. 

Main challenges
FASSET’s main challenges for the reporting year concerned 
was the implementation and migration to the new ICT 
systems for Learner Management as well as enterprise 
resource planning (ERP). However, the risks associated with 
system changes were well managed to the best of our ability.
 
During the period under review, FASSET implemented 
consequence management as a result of a non-compliance 
which resulted in irregular expenditure. This resulted in those 
that were identified as responsible being put on suspension, 
disciplinary action taken and some resignations. We 
responded by rapidly deploying a talent management and 
recruitment strategy and, to minimise any loss in productivity 
in the affected areas; gave opportunity for remaining team 
members to prove their mettle, which they did indeed. Priority 
positions were already filled by financial year end.

With regards to technology, our challenges were more 
pronounced. Technical teething problems caused delays 

6.	CHIEF	EXECUTIVE	OFFICER’S	OVERVIEW

“FASSET achieved 
an	unqualified	audit	
opinion	with	no	findings	
(a clean audit) which is a 
significant	improvement	
compared to the 
previous	5	years.”
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in the payment of the mandatory grants, submission of the 
Workplace Skills Plan and the Annual Training Report as well 
as registration of the non-levy-paying employers. We had 
robust stakeholder engagements and ran a manual process to 
alleviate any inconvenience to our employers. As I am writing 
this, we have worked through these issues and look forward to 
benefit from the new learner management and ERP systems.

Changed landscape
We have embraced the fact that some things will never return 
to pre-pandemic status. For example, virtual meetings are 
here to stay – also because of their surprisingly positive impact 
on productivity. The skills development landscape will never 
be the same, and that is also a good thing in many ways 
because during these months we have had opportunity to 
improve programmes, to get more clarity on what is needed 
in both sectors spanned by FASSET, and to make the changes 
necessary to respond to these. As at the start of the remote-
working period, FASSET continued during the year to supply 
necessary tools of trade such as laptops, data, etc.

Programme growth
No programmes or projects were discontinued during the year. 
In fact, we added to our portfolio of offerings. FASSET also 
insourced the bursary programme and this key programme is 
now administered by FASSET through an internally developed 
bursary management system.

In support of the South African Government’s Economic 
Reconstruction and Recovery Plan (ERRP), FASSET has updated 
its Sectoral Skills Plan for the new financial year. As already 
alluded to by the Board Chairperson, we have undertaken a 
number of research projects to inform decision-making in the 
sector and improve current programmes targeting SMMEs, 
such as cooperatives, spaza shop owners.

FASSET successfully implemented an entrepreneurial 
skills programme where we have trained more than six 
thousand (6 000) SMMEs; entrepreneurs and unemployed 
learners on entrepreneurial skills.

Another focus for the year was monitoring and evaluation 
(M&E). In one project, FASSET’s M&E work at technical and 
vocational education and training (TVET) colleges highlighted 
opportunities for broadening FASSET’s work at TVET colleges 
to support not only TVET college learners, but also TVET 
lecturers. FASSET funded bursaries through its discretionary 
grants for the TVET lecturers for the 1st time and this is to 
empower TVET lecturers.

As mentioned at the start of my overview, FASSET’s work is 
inextricable from that of our stakeholders and partners. During 
the reporting year, we partnered with various stakeholders, 
among others, ETDPSETA, TVET Colleges Governors’ Council, 

a partnership that will add greatly to our strategic direction in 
the TVET college space. We partnered with the International 
Women’s Forum South Africa (IWFSA), Duke University, and 
the Wits Business School to implement the inaugural FASSET 
Executive Development Programme for African females in our 
sector. This transformative programme has been expanded to 
ensure that gender equality is exercised by investing in women 
at all levels – from high school through to university and 
postgraduate levels.

We celebrated our four-year anniversary with partner 
Rural2Rural with whom we have impacted some 37 000 
learners across all nine provinces, specific focus on rural 
schools where we visited more than 200 rural schools. Other 
FASSET partnerships include partnership agreements with 
nine (9) University institutions, five (5) partnership agreements 
with TVET colleges, and more than twenty (20) agreements 
with employers for placement of TVET learners. 

During 2021-2022, we entered into the partnership with 
community education and training (CET) institutions, namely 
KZN CET and Free State CET. We see this collaboration as 
highly beneficial for reaching learners who might otherwise 
fall through the cracks because of their location and social 
economic status. It is our engagement with CET institutions 
that highlighted the need for entrepreneurial programmes but 
that also highlighted the importance of CET institutions as 
vehicles to empower communities. FASSET has listed to the 
call to action by our Minister, Dr Blade during the inaugural 
CET Summit held in March 2022.

In addition, as part of FASSET’s Lifelong Learning programme, 
trade unions were targeted and there were nine Lifelong 
Learning events held focusing on skills needed by the trade 
union representatives. Through other Lifelong Learning events, 
we reached more than 22 400 learners.

Furthermore, FASSET partnered with various NGOs and 
community-based organisations for placements of unemployed 
university, TVET college graduates and unemployed 
matriculants. We have heeded to the call by the Honourable 
President during his State of Nation Address in February 2022, 
for placement of Ten thousand unemployed learners. FASSET 
has committed funding towards the funding of more than 
5 000 towards internships and learnerships. The FASSET sector 
has been critical in the funding some of the learnerships.

Career awareness at the schools remained high on our 
agenda and during 2021/22, FASSET supported and hosted 
353 events in rural, peri-urban and urban areas to share 
career information and respond to questions from learners. 
We reached more than 37 400 learners. 

FASSET’s Mathematics, Accounting and English Support 
Programme targeted 330 learners during the year, and for the 
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first time we could also include learners from a school for the 
visually impaired.

Looking ahead
FASSET will continue to develop and strengthen its current 
programmes and new programmes introduced during the 
year. We are looking to expand our training on financial 
literacy to burial societies but also to informal structures like 
stokvels. Based on the devastation of the floods in KwaZulu-
Natal, we are also exploring how FASSET can contribute 
towards infrastructure development for TVETs and CETs. 

In response to the growing concern around unemployed youth 
that was recently again highlighted by the President of South 
Africa, we aim to increase our intern placements to more than 
5 000, which is a dramatic increase and for which we will 
appeal to FASSET and South African employers. However, for 
the first time, we are also looking at co-funding opportunities 
for our graduate placements with international employers.

Supply chain management and 
governance
FASSET had no unsolicited bid proposals that were concluded 
in the year under review. We have supply chain management 
processes and systems in place and there were no material 
and significant findings or issues identified. 
Even though, in February, there was a circular from the 
National Treasury that halted the procurement and tender 
processes for organs of state, this did not have a negative 
impact on FASSET because we were granted an exemption.
We have implemented consequence management on non-
compliance matters. To date, FASSET has no fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure. We have addressed the issues relating 
to commitments disclosure to the satisfaction of the external 
auditors. 

Financial performance
In the financial year under review, FASSET obtained a clean 
audit! The administrative budget threshold of 10.5% was 
exceeded, which was approved by the Department of Higher 
Education and Training. In the future, FASSET will focus on 
addressing budgetary constraints on its administrative budget 
by identifying interventions that will increase revenue/levies 
but will also address the effect of the delays of the mandatory 
grants payments caused by the ICT system changes where we 
see few of our employers moving to other SETAs.

At the close of the financial year, FASSET remains financially 
viable and resilient. The 2021/22 Annual Financial Statements 
in Part E of this report reflect a going concern. Sound 
governance remains the cornerstone of our operations.

In closing
I would like to thank our Executive Authority, the Minister 
of Higher Education, Science and Technology, Dr Blade 
Nzimande, the Deputy Minister, Buti Manamela; and the 
Director-General, Dr Nkosinathi Sishi for their invaluable 
guidance and policy direction.

I would also like to thank and appreciate the FASSET board 
under the leadership of the Chairperson, Ms Lynette Ntuli for 
the continued support and strategic guidance. 

To all our stakeholders and partners – private and public 
employers, professional bodies, TVETs, CETs, government, 
non-government and community-based organisations, our 
labour partners: We cannot travel this journey to equilibrium 
without you. You not only contribute to the achievement of 
our mandate, but to the improvement of the lives of South 
Africans. My heartfelt gratitude to you, I look forward to what 
we can accomplish in the next few years.

My heartfelt gratitude goes to my executive team and all 
FASSET staff for rising above the challenges posed throughout 
the year, and for delivering outstanding performance! 

It is my desire to see FASSET making a difference in the lives 
of its beneficiaries especially those that are still marginalised. 
I also want to see the FASSET sector being transformed. This 
is a desire shared by our Board, my executive team and 
FASSET’s employees. As an organisation and staff, we have 
all come through unprecedented times where even mental 
health issues have come to the fore. So, as we journey towards 
equilibrium, I wish to see us taking greater care of our own 
wellbeing. FASSET has wellness programmes, so it is my plea 
that our staff do make use of those. 

As the saying goes, one cannot pour from an empty cup, and 
considering the organisational goals and targets we have set 
for ourselves, our commitment to our mandate and the impact 
we all believe we can make in our sector and in South Africa, 
I appeal to the FASSET family to ensure that your cup remains 
full.

Stay blessed,

  

Ms Ayanda Mafuleka CA(SA)
Chief Executive Officer
31 July 2022
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following: 
• All information and amounts disclosed in the AIR is consistent with the Annual Financial Statements audited by the AGSA.
• The AIR is complete and accurate.
• The AIR has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on annual reports as issued by National Treasury.
• The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with the GRAP standards applicable to the SETA.

The SETA is responsible for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and for the judgements made in this information. 

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control which has been designed 
to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the human resources 
information and the Annual Financial Statements.

The AGSA is engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

In our opinion, the AIR fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human resources information and the 
financial affairs of FASSET for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

  

Ms Lynette Ntuli       Ms Ayanda Mafuleka CA(SA) 
Chairperson       Chief Executive Officer
31 July 2022      31 July 2022

 

7.	STATEMENT	OF	RESPONSIBILITY	AND	CONFIRMATION	
OF	ACCURACY	FOR	THE	ANNUAL	REPORT
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8.	STRATEGIC	OVERVIEW

8.1 About us
FASSET, the SETA for the Finance, Accounting, Management 
Consulting and other Financial Services sector is a schedule 
3A public entity reporting to the Honourable Minister 
of Higher Education, Science and Innovation, Dr Blade 
Nzimande, as its Executive Authority.

We are accountable to Parliament and are subject to the 
oversight of National Treasury in terms of performance 
management and financial administration. We engage with 
a broad range of stakeholders to fulfil our mandate, which 
requires us to uphold principles of good governance to 
make a meaningful contribution in skills development for the 
benefit of the FASSET sector and the country. 

We are currently licensed until 31 March 2030 in line with 
the National Skills Development Plan (NSDP). The NSDP 
seeks to ensure that South Africa has adequate, appropriate 
and high-quality skills that contribute towards economic 
growth, employment creation and social development. The 
plan derives from the broader plan of government, namely 
the National Development Plan, which aims to put in place 
the framework of building the capabilities of our citizens to 
make our future work. The NSDP outlines the SETA’s scope 
and crucially highlights its institutional arrangements.

8.2 Our strategy
FASSET’s strategy aims to maximise the enduring impact 
of its work on the lives of individuals and the wellbeing of 
society. Its ultimate goal is to enable skills development in the 
financial and accounting services sector hinging on seven 
pillars: 

1)  Transformation of the FAS sector 
• Develop the historically disadvantaged individuals and 

transform the asset management services 
• Stakeholder Engagement Strategy development and 

implementation. 
 

2)  Strengthened stakeholder engagement and 
partnerships 

• Alignment of partnerships to specific areas and ensure it is 
outcome based 

• Leverage strategic partnerships for enhanced 
implementation of programmes 

• Technology partners. 
 

3)  Capacity and capability building through an 
efficient FASSET business model 

• Develop dashboard to monitor development and reduce 
the paper-based approach and ensure we are quick and 
efficient. 

 

4)  Extension of representation and interventions 
to urban and rural communities in all regions 

• Relevant communication strategy to reach rural areas 
• Increase access to FASSET products and services for the 

people in the rural areas 
• Partner with higher education institutions (HEIs) in rural 

areas to identify learners for access to programmes 
• Use District Development Plan to assist rural interventions. 
 

5)  Fit for purpose and responsive research and 
innovation studies 

• Relevant interventions linked to research findings will be 
implemented. 

 

6)  Monitoring and evaluation (including  
post-investment impact analysis)

• Formal way of capturing and tracking the journey of the 
students. 

 

7)  Supporting the development and sustainability 
of the SME market with critical FAS skills 

• Enter into strategic partnerships to support Black 
businesses, and particular focus to small and medium 
enterprises.

FASSET recognises that it needs to build a robust and 
sustainable skills pipeline; a cohort of finance and 
accounting practitioners of the highest order, primed to step 
into positions, take charge and be influencers at all levels of 
the economy.

The drivers of value in the SETA are performance areas 
that benefit employers or learners and include mandatory 
grants, discretionary grants, research, learner professional 
development programmes and lifelong learning 
interventions. Our business enablers include our people, 
intellectual capital, systems and processes, information 
technology, and partnerships with a range of stakeholders.
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8.3 Vision

8.4 Mission

8.5 Values

To facilitate the achievement of world-class finance and accountancy scarce and critical skills.

• To inject relevant finance and accounting services skills into the South African economy;
• To position FASSET as a thought leader in skills development and training;
• To demonstrate continued excellence in finance and accounting services; and
• To drive transformation and promote inclusivity in the finance and accounting services workforce.

• Professionalism and accountability: We are a high-performance, professional team; we strive for 
excellence through hard work and by taking responsibility and being accountable within an accepted 
and agreed Code of Conduct.

• Ethics: We work with integrity and honesty, and respect internal and external stakeholders at all times.
• Making a difference: We make a difference to the lives of all our stakeholders by identifying their 

needs and exceeding expectations.
• Valuing people: We strive to create a motivating and supportive culture by understanding, respecting, 

developing and valuing each other.
• Innovation: We continuously innovate and improve to add value to all our stakeholders.
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8.6 Aligning with the National Skills Development Plan 
The vision of the NSDP is ‘An Educated, Skilled and Capable Workforce for South Africa’.

FASSET’s Strategic Plan 2020–2025 responds to this vision by building on its externally focused strategic goals and government 
priorities, strengthening the alignment with FASSET’s mandate and considering the external situational analysis. This gives effect 
to an impact statement that aspires to facilitate the timeous and relevant upskilling of the sector.

The impact statement links to four of FASSET’s strategic outcomes:
• Efficient and effective organisational support system with an enabling culture;
• Appropriate skills interventions determined as informed by research;
• Reduced critical skills and skills shortages in the sector; and
• Improved quality assurance system for sector learning programmes.

The FASSET Sector Skills Plan 2021 presents the following operating environment as it relates to its line department and various 
stakeholders.

Department of Higher Education and Training

FASSET

Stakeholders

Learners Employers Government
Education 

and Training 
Providers

Public Internal 
Stakeholders

FASSET is one of 21 SETAs and is overseen by a Board 
appointed as the Accounting Authority.

Information and funding flow: FASSET reports to the DHET. 
We engage with a variety of stakeholders (see below). 

The rest of the report details our engagements with these 
audiences and our funding model.
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The new SETA landscape which started on 31 March 2020, draws its aspirations from the National Development Plan Twenty 
Thirty (NDP 2030) from which the National Skills Development Plan Twenty Thirty (NSDP 2030) originated. Chapter 9 of 
the NDP lays out government’s plans on improving education, training and innovation. Noting the poor coordination and 
inefficiencies in the SETA landscape, the NDP proposed the following: improve relationships between education institutions and 
employers. SETAs have a crucial role in building relationships between education institutions and employers.

The notion of linking education and training providers with the world of work is outlined in outcome number 2 of the NSDP 
2030, namely: Linking education and the workplace. FASSET facilitate linkages between the labour market, world of work and 
education and training institutions. The SETA does this by funding various education and training programmes as well as on the 
job training internships, TVET WBE and learnership programmes.

Each outcome of the NSDP represents an input into the FASSET Sector Skills Plan and its Strategic Plan. The following table 
provides more detail on the alignment. 

NSDP Outcomes Linked FASSET outcomes Relevant programme(s)

1. Identify and increase the production of 
occupations in high demand

• Outcome 2: Appropriate skills 
intervention determined as informed by 
research

• Outcome 3: Reduced critical skills and 
skills shortages in the sector

• Programme 2, Skills Planning
• Programme 3, Learning Programmes 

and Projects2. Linking education and the workplace

3. Improve the level of skills in the South 
African workforce

• Outcome 1: Efficient and effective 
organisational support system with an 
enabling culture

• Outcome 2: Appropriate skills 
intervention determined as informed by 
research

• Outcome 3: Reduced critical skills and 
skills shortages in the sector

• Outcome 4: Improved quality 
assurance system for the sector learning 
programmes

• Programme 1, Administration
• Programme 2, Skills Planning
• Programme 3, Learning Programmes 

and Projects
• Programme 4, Quality Assurance

4. Increase access to occupationally 
directed programmes

• Outcome 3: Reduced critical skills and 
skills shortages in the sector

• Programme 3, Learning Programmes 
and Projects

5. Support the growth of the public 
college system

6. Skills development support for 
entrepreneurship and cooperative 
development

7. Encourage and support worker-initiated 
training

• Outcome 2: Appropriate skills 
intervention determined as informed by 
research

• Outcome 3: Reduced critical skills and 
skills shortages in the sector

• Programme 2, Skills Planning
• Programme 3, Learning Programmes 

and Projects

8. Support career development services • Outcome 3: Reduced critical skills and 
skills shortages in the sector

• Programme 3, Learning Programmes 
and Projects

Linked FASSET impact across all outcomes: Facilitating the timeous and relevant upskilling of the FASSET sector

8.7 FASSET’s material issues
We have provided material disclosure on governance and strategic risks and opportunities in relation to our financial and 
social performance. For the purpose of our reporting we have defined material issues as those issues which can influence our 
stakeholders’ decisions in relation to our mandate as a SETA or which can impact on our ability to deliver against NSDP targets. 
Refer to Part C: Governance, section 5, for more information on our risk management. 
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As a public entity listed in Part A of Schedule 3 of the PFMA, 
FASSET is established in accordance with Section 9 of the 
SDA, having all the powers granted to it in terms of this Act. 
FASSET’s scope of coverage is the Finance and Accounting 
Services sector as determined by Section 9(2) of the SDA, 
read in conjunction with Government Gazette No. 33756, 
RG 9417, No. R1055 of 11 November 2010.

The SDA and SDLA provide the framework for FASSET to 
develop and implement national, sectoral and workplace 
strategies to enhance the skills of the workforce, which 
improves employability and productivity, and boosts the 
competitiveness of the country.

The PFMA promotes sound financial management based 
on efficient and effective use of financial resources. The 
National Qualifications Framework (NQF), Act 67 of 
2008, provides for the regulation of qualifications and 
professional bodies, and establishes the quality councils with 
which the SETA interacts. FASSET also takes its que from 
the SETA-standard Constitution as well as important sector-
specific transformative documents such as the Financial 
Sector Charter.

FASSET supports the goals and objectives of the Human 
Resources Development Strategy for South Africa, and 
also the Medium-Term Strategic Framework that indicates 
economic growth drivers, and the NSDP 2030. 

Additional legislation key to enhancing and shaping 
FASSET’s activities include the following Acts incorporating 
the amendments thereafter:
• Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997  

(Act No. 75 of 1997);

• Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, 2003 
(Act No. 53 of 2003);

• Division of Revenue Acts;
• Employment Equity Act, 1998 (Act No. 55 of1998);
• Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962);
• Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No. 66 of 1995);
• National Qualifications Framework Act, 2008  

(Act No. 67 of 2008);
• Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 2000  

(Act No. 5 of 2000);
• Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004); 
• Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 

1999); and 
• Protection of Personal Information Act, (Act 4 of 2013).

Policy mandates include the:
• White Paper for Post-School Education and Training 

(2014);
• The National Development Plan Vision 2030; and
• National Skills Development Plan Twenty Thirty 

(NSDP 2030).

Other documents include:
• Framework for Managing Performance Information; and
• Framework for Strategic Plans and Annual Performance 

Plans.

9.	LEGISLATIVE	AND	OTHER	MANDATES
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10.	 ORGANISATIONAL	STRUCTURE

CEO
Ayanda Mafuleka

Chief Audit Executive
(Outsourced through Internal Auditing)

Chief Financial 
Officer
Z Alli

Chief Operating 
Officer

E Thobejane

Chief Information
Officer

T Maphanga

Company
Secretary

M Thebethe

Finance Manager
(1)

SCM Manager  
(1 vacant)

Programme 
Manager

(2 filled, 1 vacant)

Managers
(2 filled, 1 vacant)

Manager
(1 vacant)

Assistant Manager (1)
Accountant (1)
Specialists (4)

Administrators (2)

Programme Assistant Managers (4)
PQA Specialists (8 filled, 1 vacant)

Administrators (16)

Specialists (3 filled, 1 vacant)
Administrator (1)

Business Analyst (1 vacant)
Data Analytics (1 vacant)

Assistant Company Secretary (1)
Administrator (1 vacant)

Executive Assistants (3)
Performance Management Officer  

(1 vacant)

Executive 
Manager

Vacant

Compliance and 
Risk Specialist

(1)

Audit, Risk and
Compliance 

Manager
N Gwala

Legal Services
Manager

Vacant

Director of 
Corporate 
Services

N Mthombeni

Research Director
E Boomgaard

Legal 
Advisor

(1 vacant)

Managers
(1 filled, 1 vacant)

Manager
(1 vacant)

Specialists (2)
Administrators (3 filled, 1 vacant)

Office Attendants (3)
Records Management Officer (1 vacant)

Assistant Manager (1 vacant)
Specialists (1 filled, 1 vacant)

Administrators (2 vacant)
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PART B
	PERFORMANCE	INFORMATION



The AGSA currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance information to provide reasonable assurance 
in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance against predetermined objectives is included in the 
report to management, with material misstatement identified and corrected being reported under the Other Matters heading in 
the Auditor’s Report.

Refer to page 86 of the AIR for the Auditor’s Report, published in Part E: Financial Information.

2.1 Service delivery environment
FASSET plays a crucial role in identifying sector skills needs 
and addressing these through FASSET programmes. 
On the demand side, FASSET does the following:
• Conducts labour market research and develop sector skills 

plans (SSPs);
• Develops strategic plans, annual performance plans and 

service level agreements with the Department of Higher 
Education and Training (DHET); and 

• Submits quarterly reports against set targets.

On the supply side, FASSET does the following:
• Addresses sector skills needs and national priorities;
• Addresses scarce and critical skills (Professional, 

Vocational, Technical and Academic Learning (PIVOTAL)) 
through the implementation of various learning 
programmes (e.g. Learnerships);

• Facilitates easy access and different entry points through 
articulation and recognition of prior learning;

• Collaborates with the relevant quality council, especially 
the Quality Council for Trades and Occupations; and

• Assesses occupations to ensure the quality and provision  
of learning programmes.

Skills Planning and 
Research 
Research in the post-school 
education and training system is 
not only necessary but also the 
backbone of the whole system. 
The White Paper for Post-School 
Education and Training and the 
NSDP 2030 says that SETAs 
must conduct research in order 
to inform their sector skills plans. 

This process enables SETAs to identify the skills needs of their 
sectors and allocate funds according to the order of priority 
that is based on validated research. 

FASSET conducts research relevant to skills development in 
the sector, allowing for the implementation of appropriate 
interventions to meet scarce skills, education and training 
needs. In the financial year 2021/22, the research team 
successfully updated the Sectoral Skills Plan for the 2022/23 
period and completed a number of additional research 
assignments, such as enterprise development research that 
explored ideas on how small, medium and micro enterprises 
(SMMEs) in the Finance and Accounting Services sector 
can be assisted. This research was conducted in order for 
FASSET to respond effectively to the government’s Economic 
Reconstruction and Recovery Plan (ERRP). In addition, an 
ethics and integrity study was conducted. This study explored 
the extent to which new innovative technology can be used to 
curb accounting irregularities.

The SSP for 2022/23 provides essential knowledge for the 
SETA’s Board to make decisions concerning the allocation of 
funding and interventions needed to meet both sectoral and 
national priorities in an unprecedented situation. In addition, 
the Sectoral Priority Occupations and Interventions skills list 
was generated through the Workplace Skills Plan (WSP) and 
annual training reports (ATRs) and endorsed by the FASSET 
Board after having considered the stakeholder engagement 
through the SSP Workshop. 

Emerging global and local matters and 
implications for skills planning
The outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020 has been 
like a thorn in the side of the economy because of its severity. 
It has only been recently that the economy seems to be 
bouncing back, however, there seems to be a new enemy for 
the progress of the economy: regional wars. 

It is said that when two elephants fight, it is usually the 
ground that suffers the most. This is illustrated by the ongoing 
war between Russia and Ukraine where the neighbouring 
countries and those not directly involved, find themselves 

1.	AUDITOR’S	REPORT:	PREDETERMINED	OBJECTIVES

2.	OVERVIEW	OF	PERFORMANCE

Ebrahim Boomgard
Skills Planning and 
Research Director
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affected. War tensions have a serious impact on the very real 
human cost, however, it also has dire consequences for the 
economy, for example through the damage to infrastructure, 
a decline in the working population, inflation, shortages, 
uncertainty, a rise in debt and disruption to economic activity. 

South Africa might not form part of these two warring 
countries, but by virtue of association their conflict has had 
a direct and indirect impact on our nation. South Africa has 
attempted to remain neutral as a means to not burn bridges. 
The relationship between South Africa and Russia is a historic 
one with political and economic ties pre-democracy till the 
present. South Africa might have opted for a neutral position 
because it forms part of BRICS, and wants to maintain trade 
relations with Russia and China.

The Russia/Ukraine war has had a dire impact on the South 
African economy due to the relations that the country has 
with both countries. Russia and Ukraine are both leaders 
in terms of supplying oil (sunflower oil and natural gas) as 
well as wheat and maize which are huge proponents in 
the South African market. With Russia and Ukraine being 
major exporters of oil, oil prices have soared which directly 
impacts the price of transportation, and as a result, the costs 
of groceries and other products have spiralled upwards, 
further digging into the pockets of people facing the reality of 
poverty in the country.

In addition to South Africans already feeling the heat, Eskom 
is finding it difficult to secure diesel to run its turbines. The 
unemployment rate has also hit its highest-ever rate with the 
2021/22 gross domestic product being lower than projected. 
The increasing unemployment rate has serious implications 
for skills planning, in particular in the SETA landscape as 
these institutions are now expected to play a role beyond 
matching demand and supply. Further to this role, SETAs are 
now expected to contribute to enterprise development as a 
way of creating employment opportunities. 

South Africa, which usually needs credit to manage its debts, 
will in the long run have to spend more than anticipated 
in the acquiring of credit. This will have a knock-on effect 
on the rest of the country’s needs as it has the potential to 
limit essential national budgets allocated to elements such 
as education and training, employment, and other public 
investments. The very same national budgets and African 
economies, in general, are already compromised because 
of the dire effects of the pandemic. Funding for skills 
development might find itself being at risk as well.

It is worth noting that even entities that do not have direct 
exposure to Russia and Ukraine are likely to be affected by 
the overall economic uncertainty and negative impacts on 
the global economy and major financial markets arising 
from the war. Major South African accounting firms: Deloitte, 
EY, KPMG and PWC have all confirmed that they will sever 

their ties with their respective Russian operations – illustrating 
that the Finance and Accounting Services sector has not 
been unscathed. What then might become a hindrance in 
the future is when the situation is resolved and these major 
accounting firms seek to resume their operations in Russia.

The South African companies who selected not to end their 
relationships with Russian operations must consider the 
related accounting and reporting issues. They must ensure 
that the adoption of advanced technologies in South Africa 
is inclusive by making provision for tools, infrastructure and 
on-boarding of new systems in schools and HEIs. SMMEs will 
also require government assistance to remain relevant and 
competitive. Similarly, companies will be tasked to invest in 
remote-working capabilities including infrastructure, tools 
of trade, digital skills, soft skills, workload distribution, etc. 
to enable the continuation of remote work and training for 
personnel, trainees and new entrants in the workplace. 

FASSET is invested in conducting research that uncovers 
these issues further and provides recommendations for 
management and the Board for decision-making. 

FASSET support of the government initiatives to 
grow the economy
FASSET participated in the initial surveys for the ERRP that 
were tabled by the government in response to Covid-19. In 
2021/22 we adjusted our scarce skills identification process 
to better cluster industry requirements to the top 10 hard-to-
fill vacancies. This entailed a different process from previous 
years and involved formal engagement with the sector, rather 
than pure reliance on desktop WSP information alone. 

2.2 Organisational environment 
The FASSET strategy and skills development initiatives are 
aligned with national imperatives, including the Human 
Resources Development Strategy for South Africa, the 
Medium-Term Strategic Framework, the NSDP and the 
White Paper for Post-School Education and Training. Taking 
into account the profile of the Financial and Accounting 
Services sector, which does not reflect the demographics 
of the country, FASSET has aligned its strategy and skills 
development priorities to transformation charters such 
as the Financial Sector Charter, which seeks to increase 
the participation of African Black people and people with 
disabilities in our sector.

The sector in which FASSET operates
According to data reported in the 2021 WSP and ATR 
submissions, the sector comprises 172 387 employees, of 
whom 50% are Black African, 11% Coloured, 9% Indian and 
29% White. The sector has a female majority of 55% and 
about 50% of workers are in the youth category (aged 35 
and younger).
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Small organisations dominate the sector, with the accounting, 
auditing, bookkeeping and tax services sub-sectors being 
the most prominent. The organisations belonging to the 
sector are largely concentrated in the metropolitan provinces, 
including Gauteng, the Western Cape and KwaZulu-Natal.  
This affords FASSET an opportunity to reach out to smaller 
provinces and areas to broaden skills development 
interventions towards increasing the supply of South  
Africans into the sector. 

The roles of the several professional associations in the 
sector have become ingrained in the sector’s qualification 
structure, in the organisation of education and training, and 

in the professional designations used. These professional 
bodies play an important role in skills development and are 
closely involved in FASSET’s initiatives and activities.

The following figure gives a snapshot of the sector in which 
FASSET operates.

Source: Trends in Employment & Training in the FASSET Sector report, revised version February 2022

Total Employment:
The sector employs around

172 387 people. FASSET falls 
within the broader finance, real 

estate and business services 
sector as defined by Statistics 

South Africa.
Provincial Distribution: 

Gauteng held a 59% share 
of employment, while the 

Western Cape had the second 
largest share of employment at 21%. 
KwaZulu-Natal comprised 9% of total 
employment. The North West, Limpopo 

and the Northern Cape housed 1% 
of the employees, respectively, while 

the Free State held 2%. The 
Eastern Cape housed 4% of 

employees.

Gender: 
Majority of employees in the 

sector are women accounting for 
55% of total work force.

Occupation Groups: 
Managers and professionals 

made up more than half of the 
workforce (55%), with technicians 

and associate professionals 
making up 11%.

Subsectors:
There are seven 

subsectors: Investment 
Entities and Trusts and 

Company Secretarial Services; 
Stockbroking and Financial Markets; 

Development Organisations; 
Accounting, Bookkeeping, Auditing 
and Tax Services; Activities Auxiliary 

to Financial Intermediation; 
Business and Management 
Consulting Services; and 
SARS and Government 

Departments.

FASSET SECTOR AT 
A GLANCE
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Cognisant of stakeholder needs
A vital component of FASSET’s organisational environment is its stakeholders. The following figure gives an overview of the 
SETA’s operating environment.

External stakeholders FASSET Outside interests

External stakeholders refer to those who 
receive support from the SETA:
• Employers
• Employer/employee associations 
• Training providers
• NPOs/NGOs
• Learners
• Government
• Other

FASSET refers to the FASSET operating 
environment and internal departments

Other stakeholders refer to those 
stakeholders that influence the  
decision-making of the organisation:
• DHET
• Chamber committees with industry 

participants
• Independent committees
• Other 
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External stakeholders FASSET

4. Funded learning 3. Implementation of strategy to 
meet industry and national needs

1. Industry need identified and 
communicated

2. National goals 
communicated/SLA

5. Skills development  
within the sector

MG/DA Application     Programme Delivery

Award  |  Contract  |  Monitor  |  Disburse

External stakeholders identify and communicate industry needs 
to FASSET. These needs are aligned with national imperatives 
and a strategy is developed to address both industry 
and national needs. Funding is provided, ensuring skills 
development, which in turn feeds into FASSET’s industry needs’ 
identification process. A risk of the process is that the industry 
changes faster than FASSET can adapt. To mitigate this risk, 
FASSET’s research functionality pre-empts the trends to create 
proactive adaptation to industry needs. 

Another complexity for FASSET concerns first world factors 
such as financial technology, widening skills requirements of 
individuals and third world issues relating to South Africa. 
FASSET’s new strategy thus seeks to blend the requirements 
of the first and third world factors to ensure it is improving 
the status quo on skills within the sector and in so doing, 
achieving its mandate.

Equity and transformation in the sector
The transformation agenda in the Financial and Accounting 
Services sector is advanced by legislation such as the 
Employment Equity Act and Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment (BBBEE). The efforts of professional institutes 
such as the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants 
and the South African Institute of Professional Accountants 
and of business and employers also play a critical role in 
enabling transformation.

Through all the years, transformation has been an important 
objective for the sector and for FASSET. Transformation had 
to take place while the sector was growing at a substantial 
pace. On the one hand the growth of the sector facilitated 
transformation as it created space for the appointment 
of Black people in new positions. On the other hand, the 
sector was left with the challenge of ensuring that the skills 
development pipeline produced enough Black professionals 
to meet the transformation targets and to meet the growing 
demand of the sector.

According to the 2020/21 (revised February 2022) Trends 
in Employment & Training in the FASSET Sector report, 
transformation is slowly but surely seen in the sector.  
Some highlights are:
• Overall, Black employees (African, Coloured and Indian/

Asian) made up only 39% of employees in 2001/02.  
By 2020/21 this number had increased to 67%.

• Approximately 35% of managerial positions were held by 
Black employees in 2011/12, but by 2020/21 this number 
increased to 53%.

• About 50% of professional positions were held by Black 
employees in 2011/12, and in 2020/21 it had increased 
to 59%.

• African females are the group with the largest increase in 
the sector and African female employment in the sector 
grew annually by 9% from 2000/01 (8 651) to 2020/21 
(44 559).
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FASSET funding model
The following figure gives an overview of FASSET’s funding structure.

Professional Body 
Programme

Learnership 
Programme

TVET Work-
based Experience 

Programme

Bursary Support

Career Awareness

Lifelong Learning 
and Training 

Incentive Grant

Internship 
Programme

Professional Body 
Programmes

Executive 
Development 
Programme

Financial Literacy 
Programme

Academic Support 
Programme

Government Department SDL
(30% of 1% SDL)

Employer SDL
100%

SETA
80%

National Skills Fund (NSF)
20%

Mandatory Grants
20%

PIVOTAL 
Programmes
80% of 49.5%

Discretionary 
Funding
49.5%

SETA Administration 
and QCTO

10.5%

Non-PIVOTAL 
Programmes
20% of 49.5%

26  |  FASSET Annual Integrated Report 2021/22

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION



2.3 Key policy developments and 
legislative changes

Except for the government’s ERRP, there were no external 
policy or legislative changes that affected FASSET in the 
period under review and all the cycles remained the same. 
FASSET considered the ERRP, which is the guiding policy 
framework in response to the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic in the South African economy, in its sector skills 
planning process. 

2.4 Progress towards achievement of 
institutional impacts and outcomes

FASSET is structured into four programmes: 1) 
Administration, 2) Skills Planning, 3) Learning Programmes 
and Projects, and 4) Quality Assurance. (Refer to section 3 
for more information on each programme and performance 
targets.) 

Outcome 1 of Programme 1 is an ‘Efficient and effective 
organisational support system with an enabling culture’. 
FASSET met three of the 10 targets, did not achieve one 
target, and overachieved on the remaining six targets. It 
overachieved on the percentage of the stakeholder strategy 
implemented; the number of programmes facilitated 
annually; and the percentages of internal skills strategy 
implemented, business processes identified and reviewed, 
organisational climate improved, and policies reviewed. It 
met its targets in terms of achieving an unqualified audit 
outcome, and the number of reports to its line department 
and to National Treasury. The target not met concerns the 
operationalisation strategy implementation and measures 

have been put in place to ensure that the planned and 
existing satellite offices are optimally operationalised. 

Programme 2, Skills Planning, with outcome ‘Appropriate 
skills intervention determined as informed by research’, met 
12 of its 15 key performance targets and exceeded three 
targets, namely the number of WSPs and ATRs approved for 
medium firms, small firms and government departments. 

Programme 3, Learning Programmes and Projects, with 
outcome ‘Injection of relevant critical skills and reducing 
skills shortages’, met 10 of its 43 performance targets 
and overachieved on 23 targets. 10 targets were not met 
due to the following: insufficient number of applications 
for certain elements and inadequate input to achieve the 
completion targets. For example, while 22 422 employed 
learners attended Lifelong Learning and Learner Professional 
Development events during the reporting year, the target fell 
short by more than 2 000 due to insufficient interest from 
employers in the Training Incentive Grant. Of the targets 
exceeded, the most impressive is the number of unemployed 
learners entered into a financial literacy programme. Special 
funding assisted to include more than 5 000 additional 
learners in a financial literacy programme.

Programme 4, Quality Assurance, with outcome 
‘Improved quality assurance system for the sector learning 
programmes’, met both its key performance targets 
relating to the number of discretionary funded learning 
programmes monitoring reports produced and the number of 
qualifications and learnership certification reports produced.
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2.5 Programme highlights

2.5.1 Capacity-building Projects for the  
TVET and CET sector

In short, the FASSET Projects 
Department is responsible 
for the implementation of the 
organisational strategy. Its 
work gives expression to one of 
FASSET’s priorities, namely to 
strengthen the capacity of the 
TVET colleges and improving the 
absorption of TVET learners into 
the labour market. 

Programmes designed to assist 
the TVET colleges focus on 
learner placement into internships 
or permanent employment. 
The intention is to provide work 
experience for those particular 
learners so that they can become 
employable. The second 
element relates to an 18-month 
programme that provides 
work-based experiences (WBE) 
where learners obtain practical 

experience that enables them to obtain a National Diploma 
(NQF 6) upon completion. 

Covid-19 lag
FASSET is happy to report that no contracts were cancelled 
because of Covid-19 – a feather in the cap for employers 
who were proactive in implementing their work-from-home 
policies that also allowed learners to go to the office on a 
rotational basis.

FASSET exceeded its target for the number of learners to 
commence and complete training. It attributes this feat to 
not only the high calibre of learners, but also to the financial 
incentive offered to learners to help them with, among 
others, transport to get to training venues. 

Challenges emanating from this programme prompted 
FASSET to facilitate additional elements such as providing  
the necessary tools for remote working, to be rolled out in 
the 2022/23 financial year. 

Capacitating TVET colleges
Now in its ninth year, the WBE programme has exceeded 
both its respective targets for learners entered and learners 
completed. More than 770 learners have benefited in the 

FASSET-funded TVET WBE programme since its inception. 
During the reporting year, despite what was still a difficult 
year for many employers, FASSET attracted seven new 
companies to come on board as a host for learners. Some 
learners were absorbed as permanent employees, such as 
Naomi Montshiwa who was employed by SA Taxi. 

FASSET is also pleased to see an increase in the willingness 
of employers to partner with the SETA for learner placements. 
This follows FASSET-conducted research into the reasons 
for poor absorption of the TVET college graduates. The 
study found that the employer’s greatest concern was the 
calibre and quality of the candidates coming out of the TVET 
colleges. It also found that learners were unable to pass the 
job assessment test.

The study also looked into the curriculum of TVET colleges 
as it relates to qualifications needed by the sector. The results 
showed that the curriculum was spot-on but that some work 
was needed to help capacitate lecturers in transferring the 
knowledge. This prompted FASSET to start a programme 
where lecturers can get a bursary for further study in their 
areas of expertise. 

To bolster its impact assessment, FASSET will conduct a 
formal tracer study to follow learners as they progress from 
their initial studies to being placed with an employer to 
obtaining permanent employment and any accolades  
along the way. 

At the moment, FASSET has anecdotal feedback from 
learners via the telephonic monitoring and evaluation 
process. Learners are grateful for the opportunity to be 
placed at a company as well as for gaining ‘proper’  
and relevant work experience. 

Working with TVET colleges
Regarding TVET colleges, a new FASSET programme offers 
bursaries to TVET college learners. The SETA also draws 
from the TVET colleges for its internship programme and 
it supplies the TVET learners with information on career 
opportunities within the sector. Monitoring and evaluating 
the working of the FASSET offices at TVET colleges have 
led the FASSET team to consider ways of broadening its 
scope of work. In the new financial year, the strategy around 
these offices will be refreshed to be more than just support 
offices for career awareness. Ideally, these offices must cater 
for employer enquiries and be aligned with the relevant 
provincial strategy. 

Mamarothi Mathibe 
CA(SA) 

Programmes Manager

Amos Nokoane
Programmes Manager
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SA Taxi, a venerable FASSET partner

SA Taxi, established in 1996, is part of the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange-listed Transaction Capital group. This 
independently owned commercial business has more than 
1 250 employees – one of whom is former TVET WBE 
intern Naomi Montshiwa (read about her elsewhere in 
this section). In fact, to date, the Development Finance 
division of SA Taxi has accommodated 23 of FASSET’s 
interns. Of the six interns placed in SA Taxi Development 
Finance during the reporting year, four were absorbed 
into its permanent staff complement. 

Simangele Khumalo, Skills Development Professional 
at SA Taxi, explains why the organisation partnered with 
FASSET in its WBE Programme. “In line with our slogan 
of driving the nation forward, we make every effort to 
minimise unemployment. On the one hand, we appoint 
interns to reduce unemployment of TVET graduates and 
on the other hand, we give them the opportunity to get 
their qualification. In this way we plough back into our 
communities.”

She adds that the organisation gives the interns a 
real-life workplace experience – no showing up late! 
– that includes getting to know the policies that must 
be complied with and the code of conduct. Mentors 
are allocated to interns and the former are also taken 
through an inhouse mentorship programme so that 
they understand what is required of them but also of 
the interns. The latter populate a logbook to track their 

learning and progress, aligned with their quarterly 
development plan and their personal development plan. 
Gaps, for example conflict resolution or emotional 
intelligence, are identified during the course of the 
internship and assistance provided to master these skills. 
Also, the mentors are regularly asked for their feedback 
and their own progress as a mentor.

“We take interns for the human resources, finance and 
management assistant functions. The interns are paired 
with a permanent employee for the first three months 
where they learn the ropes in terms of the systems and 
they job shadow some of the areas of work to have a 
more comprehensive learning experience. After that 
they are placed elsewhere and capacitated to do more 
independent work while still under the supervision of  
their mentor.”

She adds, “We are mindful to develop the interns for a 
future in the industry for in case SA Taxi does not absorb 
them. Obviously, we always hope to be able to absorb 
them, but it depends on the budget.”
Khumalo says one of the key lessons she has learnt to 
ensure that the interns make the most of their 18-month 
stint at SA Taxi revolves around communication. 
Transparency is key to manage their expectations and 
ensure that they feel part of the organisation. Trust grows 
with open communication and it also instils a sense of 
belonging and loyalty. Another lesson is to represent the 

Partner	spotlight
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interns at meetings or fora in the organisation where they 
might not necessarily be in attendance. Keeping the rest 
of the organisation abreast of what and how the interns 
are doing and how they contribute to the success of the 
organisation is important. 

“Roundabout mid-2021 the organisation went through 
a reorganisation where some people left. One of the 
benefits I saw during that time of having the interns was 
how quickly they could fill a gap and we could show  
how we empower South Africa’s youth as an employer  
of choice.”

And would you encourage other employers to partner 
with FASSET? “Oh, yes, I would! Both from a skills 
development point perspective and from a budgetary 
perspective, partnering with FASSET makes sense. And 
then, of course, there is the benefit to the interns and, 
in turn, the benefit to the organisation of having interns. 
It gives an organisation a chance to brand itself as an 
employer of choice and to contribute to the South African 
economy in terms of reducing unemployment. I would 

definitely encourage all the levy-paying entities as well as 
non-levy-paying entities to benefit from this initiative.”

“I have observed my mother’s 
struggles and the struggles of 

all the women around me. This 
propelled me to fight for my life 
and to achieve what will enable 

me to change the lives of the 
people that I come across, as well 
as bring meaning to my own life. 
I…registered to complete an HR 
qualification. I then applied for 

the internship at SA Taxi and was 
successful. This is the first success 
story in my life journey and there 

will be many to come.” 
– Naomi Montshiwa

Partner	spotlight	(continued)

Naomi Montshiwa – a TVET WBE programme success story

I started my FASSET-funded internship at SA Taxi in March 
2020 and completed in June 2021 whereafter I was 
absorbed as a People Acquisition Administrator. I believe 
that the power is in my hands to create the life and future 
for myself that I have always dreamt about. I grew up in 
Hillbrow, where my Mum is a street vendor and my Dad 
sadly passed away when I was much younger. I have 
observed my mother’s struggles and the struggles of all the 
women around me. This propelled me to fight for my life 
and to achieve what will enable me to change the lives of 
the people that I come across, as well as bring meaning to 
my own life. 

I assisted my Mum as a street vendor, and during this time 

was approached by loveLife to become a groundBREAKER. 
I took the opportunity and registered to complete an HR 
qualification. I then applied for the internship at SA Taxi 
and was successful. This is the first success story in my life 
journey and there will be many to come. I am the first in 
my family to go to college and have a stable job. I want to 
be the first to start laying the foundations of success for the 
future generations in my family. This is what drives me, every 
day. “The past cannot be changed. 

“The past cannot be changed. The 
future is yet in your power.” 

(Mary Pickford, Canadian actress 
and American film pioneer)

Beneficiary	spotlight
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The FASSET partnership with the TVET Colleges Governors’ 
Council (CGC) capacitates the TVET governance structures, 
specifically the audit committees, the chief financial officers, 
and supply chain management practitioners. This partnership 
comes hot on the heels of the negative audit outcomes of 
TVET colleges. In the first phase, the governance structures 
were looked at and improved, and in the second phase, 
which commenced in 2022, the audit processes will receive 
attention. FASSET believes that positive outcomes are 
possible by the next financial year-end of TVET colleges.

Working with CET colleges
Collaborations remain key in the execution of FASSET’s 
projects. The NSDP stipulates the necessity of partnering 
with the TVETs and the community education and training 
(CET) institutions. The majority of new programmes with CET 
colleges commenced in the reporting year, with meaningful 
results only following in the new financial year. 

The CET colleges feature across all nine provinces and are 
typically situated in the heart of communities, making these 
the ideal vehicles for rural learning and skills development. 
FASSET is partnering with these institutions in, firstly, gauging 
what the needs in the community are in terms of education 
– for example, in the current financial year, the lack of 
entrepreneurial programmes came under the spotlight. The 
SETA has found that leveraging the footprint of CET colleges 
mitigates the challenge of finding service providers who are 
willing to implement projects in rural areas, enabling FASSET 
to reach those areas that are still at a severe economic 
disadvantage because of their location. 

“In a nutshell, FASSET helps TVET 
and CET colleges in terms of 
capacitation – both financial 

resources in the form of financial 
incentives for learners and by 
empowering human resources 

through, among others, educator-
targeted bursaries.”

FASSET’s increased focus on these two major skills 
development stakeholders received a further boost following 
a request from the Minister of Higher Education, Science and 
Innovation to expand its focus on capacity building for TVET 
and CET colleges. Learners and educators are receiving 
assistance and in the longer term, the sector will benefit from 
sufficiently skilled new workplace entrants. 

Executive Development Programme 
FASSET continues to prioritise the underrepresented groups 
to ensure transformation is realised within the sector. Through 
its Executive Development Programme, the importance of 
increasing the number of women in leadership roles takes the 
lead. The programme aims to capacitate female leaders with 
the necessary skills, allowing them to unleash their potential 
towards becoming great leaders.

As part of the implementation of this programme, FASSET 
partnered with International Women’s Forum South Africa 
and Duke University to shape young women earmarked for 
leadership roles in their respective industries. The programme, 
which was launched in the 2021/22 financial year, has 
funded 10 beneficiaries. Additionally, on 15 March 2022, 
a partnership with Wits Business School was announced to 
assist with enhancing the leadership skills of female managers 
and executives and more than 21 female executives have 
enrolled for this programme. This programme is set to enroll 
a second cohort in the second quarter of the 2022/23 
financial year.

FASSET has invested R9 923 750.00 million in the initiative 
to ensure that the programmes are fully capacitated with the 
required syllabus and a capable and qualified team. 

According to research done by Statistics South Africa in the 
second quarter of 2021, women make up approximately 
51% of the population in South Africa. Women also 
accounted for 43.4% of total employment, with men 
accounting for 66.9%. Women in managerial positions 
amounted to only 33.1%.

Having noted the reported numbers, FASSET aims to 
contribute towards the transformation of the sector through 
the Executive Development Programme. FASSET also intends 
to ensure that gender equality is exercised across the board 
by investing in women at all levels; providing support at high 
school level through to university and postgraduate levels. 
The Executive Development Programme curriculum develops 
new and front-line leadership competencies that empower 
and enable organisational leadership that is informed, 
successful and agile. It challenges established thinking and 
ways of operating, enhancing the ability of executives to lead 
African businesses in the global market. The programme 
also aims to create a future-focused skills programme, 
focusing on the future world of work and the 4IR, designed 
to advance emerging women leaders while advocating for 
ethical leadership.
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“Time 
management 

training  
skills.”

“Learnt 
ways on how 

to manage and 
plan an audit 
effectively.”

“The 
interactions 

and responses to 
our questions and 

possible issues 
we may face as 

AICs.”

“Learning 
how to 

use Pentana 
disclosure 
checklist.”

“The difference 
between analytical 

procedures and 
analytical reviews. 
Full meaning of 
extrapolation.” 

“I enjoyed 
the interaction 

regarding the audit 
report, and also gained 
a better insight into the 

sampling methods 
and techniques.”

“I gained knowledge 
about how as an AIC on the 

job I should conduct the audit. 
Communication is a key factor to 

efficiently completing an audit. And 
that the quality of the work produced 

is also determined by the collaboration 
of the team and communicating in 

time when shortfalls arise in the audit. 
We also need to be ready to adjust 

to unforeseen circumstances, 
not forgetting that we are all 

human.”

“Leadership 
skills.”

What did you find most valuable about the 
Lifelong Learning programme training?

Lifelong Learning Programme
FASSET’s Lifelong Learning programme workshops that 
ran during February and March 2022 served to upskill 
employees within the Finance and Accounting Services sector 
so that they can keep in step with new developments. While 
the intention of the Lifelong Learning programme is not to 
provide continuous professional development (CPD) points, 
the training might be sufficient to allow participants to claim 
for CPD hours.

The Lifelong Learning programme, which will continue during 
the new financial year, targets sector employees, learners 
funded through FASSET programmes and members of 
professional bodies within the sector. More than 3 259 sector 
representatives have participated in the workshops which 
were conducted in partnership with professional bodies and 
service providers appointed through discretionary grants.

The workshop curriculum focused on ethics, fraud and 
governance; leadership skills; risk management; International 
Financial Reporting Standards for SMMEs; business 
communication and report writing; and budgets and tax 

updates. The curriculum was informed by FASSET’s research 
in drafting its sector skills plan and topical issues affecting 
the sector. Participants stated that they had gained new 
knowledge and skills from the workshops. 

Mathematics, Accounting and English Support 
Programme
During the year under review, FASSET appointed The Multi 
Institute NPO as its service provider for the advancement of 
its Mathematics, Accounting and English Support Programme 
aimed at Grade 8 to 12 learners. The programme targeted 
330 learners by assisting them to enhance their results in 
these three subjects at National Senior Certificate level. One 
beneficiary, Mahele Mashego from the Rivoni School for 
the Blind in Limpopo province, said, “…we are committed 
and pleased to accept their intervention support programme 
which is intended to support our learners, teachers and 
overall success of our school…”. During 2021, extra classes 
and workshops benefited 18 Grade 10 learners and 19 
Grade 11 learners at the school which achieved an overall 
pass rate of 72%. 
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Mamatholo Mkwanazi – a rising star on a UWC bursary

My name is Mamatholo Mkwanazi, and I am 21 years 
old, soon to turn 22. I am originally from a small town in 
the Free State called Lindley. I am the last born of seven 
children. I started school in the Free State and moved 
to Cape Town in 2014 when I was in Grade 9 after my 
mother passed on. My brother, who is the first born, 
decided with his family that I must come and live with 
them in Cape Town since I was still very young after my 
mother passed. I then moved to Cape Town to finish my 
high school career. The move was not easy, as I was used 
to my small, confined home town with people speaking 
the same language and doing things the same way. So, 
my move to Cape Town introduced me to a whole lot of 
cultures and different ways of living. I had to adjust from 
doing Sesotho as my home language to doing Afrikaans 
which was not easy but I persevered and gave it my all. I 
managed to matriculate in 2017. 

My Deputy Principal from high school is a University of 
the Western Cape alumni and he used to tell us more 
about UWC and its diversity. He recommended that we 
apply [for a bursary] as we won’t regret it. So that is why I 
decided to complete my undergraduate degree at UWC. 
I completed my degree in Bachelor of Commerce summa 
cum laude majoring in economics and investments. I did 
not choose a Bachelor of Commerce as any of my study 
options, I originally chose accounting but I did not qualify 
because of my mathematics and accounting marks from 
matric. However, in my first year of study, I realised that I 
actually did not enjoy accounting and I should stay in the 
course and major in economics and investments. I think 
the toughest challenge I faced so far in my academic 
life is lack of funding. In my first year of study, for the 
whole first semester, I did not have funding which led 
to me not having textbooks and having to constantly 
borrow textbooks from the library. Moreover, in my final 
year of study at UWC (2021), I only processed fully the 
passing of my parents which led to me losing some focus 
in my studies. I would like to acknowledge my brother 
(Nyembezi Mkhwanazi) who is my role model for making 
sacrifices for me to finish my studies and not to feel left 
out. He played the role, and still is, of both mother and 
father to me. I am grateful for him constantly going out of 
his way to ensure that I am okay. Even when I was going 
through a rough patch last year, he made a plan for me 
to see a therapist. I am more than grateful for that.

It feels great to be a graduate, yet challenging because 
of the question ‘and then what?’. By that I mean that 
the four years of my studies went by so quickly and the 

reality of me having to make life-changing decisions 
started to kick in. I think one thing I will always remember 
about UWC is the friendships I formed and still cherish 
to this day, as well as the support I received overall 
from the FASSET programme and lecturers. I will also 
always remember and cherish receiving the Dean’s 
honours award for being part of the top 75% in the year 
2020, and I will always cherish completing my degree 
summa cum laude. In terms of my plans now that I am 
a graduate, currently I am enrolled at the University 
of Pretoria to do my honours in economics. And I am 
already looking for a job for next year. In terms of my 
dreams and where I see myself in the next 10 years, I 
firstly dream of completing my honours with good grades. 
And I see myself as a qualified psychologist in the next 
10 or 15 years with well-established businesses and an 
NGO to help those in need, especially people from my 
home town in the Free State. 

Thank you FASSET for the support, opportunities and 
just making me realise that I am amazing, and I need to 
cherish that. I am grateful for the financial, emotional and 
academic support you provided in my final year of study. 

Beneficiary	spotlight
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2.5.2 Communications and Stakeholder 
Engagement Management 

The Communications and 
Stakeholder Engagement 
Management Department has 
a dual role – looking inward to 
offer support to FASSET’s other 
functions as well as looking 
outward to ensure FASSET’s target 
audiences are kept abreast of the 
SETA’s offerings and expertise. 

Internally, the department’s 
stakeholders include the 

employees, the DHET, and working committees of the 
different strategies and plans. Informed internal stakeholders 
are essential to achieve FASSET’s mandate in a manner 
that is cohesive and relevant to the needs of the external 
stakeholders. Whether policy-related changes, general 
information, unique updates of where the organisation is at, 
or advanced notification of media appearances, these all 
contribute to internal stakeholders’ sense of ownership of the 
SETA’s goals. 

This united front internally then helps to present a 
transformational and conversant organisation to the external 
community. The latter is vast and includes the general 
public, supporting government departments, employed and 

unemployed learners, parents and educators, employers, 
SMMEs as well as professional associations. The occasions 
for communicating with these audiences are equally 
numerous – from how to benefit from FASSET programmes, 
to open windows for applications, to pipeline development 
for priority occupations, and the results of research done 
in aid of the Financial and Accounting Services sector, or 
relevant publicity. FASSET’s career guide is updated annually 
and promotes the sectoral priority occupations. 

Of course, with Covid-19, the incidence of virtual events 
increased, for example lifelong learning events, or FASSET’s 
Circle of Influence events that serve to share best practice 
or dialogue with opinion leaders about things that affect 
the sector, such as the rapid adoption of Fourth Industrial 
Revolution (4IR) technologies. 

The Communications and Stakeholder Engagement 
Management team works closely with the Projects and 
the Human Resources teams to ensure that messages 
and content for any intervention are concise and easy to 
understand. In the case of learners applying for bursaries, 
for example, this groundwork done by the Communications 
and Stakeholder Engagement Management team helps 
applicants understand and respond correctly to the criteria. 

When partnering with stakeholders – a key component of 
FASSET’s overall strategy – this team also ensures that the 
FASSET brand is stewarded efficiently and professionally. 

Confidence Rinae Matambele  
– My journey with FASSET

My name is Confidence Rinae Matambele. I started 
using FASSET Professional Body Funding in 2020 while 
completing an operational level towards a CIMA Diploma 
in Management Accounting. CIMA is the Chartered 
Institute of Management Accountants. FASSET became my 
hope of studying towards becoming a Chartered Global 
Management Accountant. It seemed impossible as I didn’t 
have the funds to study. One day a friend sent me a link to 
apply for a CIMA bursary on the Institute of Management 
Accounting and Strategy’s website, I was in a taxi on my 
way home and I didn’t even want to wait to do it at home. I 
immediately applied for it. 

FASSET has helped me a lot, I was able to pass my studies 
in 2020 and proceeded to the management level which I 
completed in 2021. I am currently studying the last level 
of CIMA which is the strategic level. All this is because of 
FASSET and I am really grateful for this, it has given me 
hope to study even harder so that I complete my studies. 

“I don’t take this opportunity for 
granted as I have seen that as 

you push harder and pass, then 
FASSET also gives the opportunity 

to continue further.”

Beneficiary	spotlight

Zandile Skosana
Communications and 

Stakeholder Engagement 
Manager
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Every avenue explored
The year under review saw an increased amount of 
communication because of changes taking place with 
the lowering of Covid-19 lockdown levels. It also saw an 
increase in social media posts to, for example, reach learners 
via Facebook and other platforms when physical career 
guidance presentations were not possible. The FASSET team 
even made use of libraries and churches as information 
drop points. Virtual meetings or hybrid virtual meetings in 
the case of the Annual General Meeting and some lifelong 
learning events ensured that information continued to flow 
despite lockdown regulations. One benefit of using an online 
platform is of course the increased reach. A new addition 
during the year was the FASSET LinkedIn page, which, 
at the time of drafting this report, had more than 1 400 
followers. Facebook live sessions were added to FASSET’s 
communication offering and its website hosts videos that 
learners can access to learn about different career journeys.

Social Media 2021/22

Twitter Instagram Facebook LinkedIn
• 33 043 

profile visits
• 219 

mentions
• 699 new 

followers
• Total 

followers:  
2 703

• 911profile 
visits

• 15 909 
accounts 
reached

• 342 new 
followers

• Total 
followers: 
942

• 550 455 
profile visits

• 115 021 
accounts 
reached

• 3 340 new 
followers

• Total 
followers:  
20 403

• 1 214 
profile visits

• 114 808 
post 
impressions

• 1 177 new 
followers

• Total 
followers:  
1 407

Career awareness wins
The FASSET Career Awareness initiative is a flagship project 
and makes sure, among others, that schools understand 
what career guidance is available and how these tie into the 
different SETAs. Special attention is given to the rural areas 
to ensure inclusivity and the continuous transformation of the 
sector in the long term. 

The target for events supported and hosted during the 
financial year under review totalled 260. These events 
focused on career guidance in rural, peri-urban and urban 
areas and the initial planning was to do 160 events (or 
reach 160 schools) in the rural areas and 100 in the urban 
areas. The target was imposing to start off with, considering 
the small team, making the overachievement by more 
than double to support or host 353 events during the year, 
exceptional. More than 37 400 learners were reached. 

Also included in this number was a pilot Executive Knock & 
Drop Campaign which brought together FASSET executives 
and school principals to share about the challenges 
they experience and how these could be met. At least six 
executives took the time to visit 163 schools across South 
Africa for relationship building and information sharing. 
Some of the insights gleaned from the principals have 
led to proposed research studies that aim to gain a better 
understanding of the school environment. One such study 

focuses on the commerce stream that seems to be at risk 
because learners are not keen on taking commerce subjects 
– not positive news for the sector in the long term (see also 
Annexure 1). 

The campaign feedback has been overwhelmingly positive 
with many invitations for follow-up visits in the next financial 
year. Overall, FASSET is invited back by schools every year 
because there is a new Grade 9 cohort that needs to hear its 
message and the opportunities available.

FASSET also partnered with Rural2Rural (read more about 
this elsewhere in this section) and NZALO, a career and 
leadership development company, at events where other 
SETAs were invited to share the platform and present their 
offerings to learners. Some 119 schools across all nine 
provinces were targeted in this way. In addition, FASSET 
participated in DHET and employer interventions. For 
example, in the Northern Cape an employer invited FASSET 
to visit 10 schools that it partners with. Some 71 interventions 
were supported like this. Roadshows targeting specifically 
Grade 9 learners, aimed to help them understand the 
importance of subject choices, were also a high priority. 

The SETA’s approach is to understand what each province 
wants to achieve and how the districts play a role. Hence, 
FASSET partnered with the KwaZulu-Natal district education 
department and could visit smaller districts within the 
province to target really far-out schools where even 
something like a mobile signal is lacking. These schools 
now also know what the different SETA offerings are, which 
included Raeleng Secondary School in Limpopo, Boke 
Secondary School in North West, Dr R Singo Comprehensive 
School in Free State, Skhila Secondary School in 
Mpumalanga and Tyelinzima High School.

Developing brand ambassadors
Media engagements in the form of local radio interviews 
with FASSET management contributed to getting the FASSET 
message to schools, but also to SMMEs, another important 
stakeholder. This allowed smaller business owners, like spaza 
shops, to hear about learning programmes that could benefit 
them in capacitating their companies. 

This is aligned with the Communications and Stakeholder 
Engagement Management strategy that further aims to 
embed an organisational culture where each FASSET 
employee sees themselves as a brand ambassador. 
The career awareness events offer an ideal platform for 
employees to meet the external audiences and to talk 
with confidence and authority about issues that matter 
to the sector. Involving employees in delivering the 
interventions or presentations – even in the Executive Knock 
& Drop Campaign – helps them to better understand the 
environment in which they work and empowers them to 
advocate for their environment. 
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In the year under review, FASSET launched a community 
and campus radio campaign extending its brand awareness 
where it matters the most. Radio interviews included 
Ekurhuleni FM, Voice of Wits, Radio Turf FM, Univenda 
FM and Alex FM and the campaign continues in the new 
financial year. FASSET also extends this messaging on its 
social media platforms where a combined following of  
25 455 was reported across Facebook, Instagram,  
Twitter and LinkedIn.

The past year’s increased virtual 
events as well as physical events that 

included more FASSET employees 
effected a sense of ‘togetherness’ that 

will stand the SETA in good stead.

Stakeholder events supported include the National Skills 
Conference, UNISA Accounting Sciences Professional Event, 
MICT Capacity Building session and the DHET Indlela career 
awareness initiative, to name a few. 

A key element in every communication from FASSET to the 
Financial and Accounting Services sector is ‘transformation’ 
– whether it be transformation of the operations of the sector 
itself or transformation in representation in the sector. This 
element is emphasised in a practical way by, for example, 
ensuring a high representation of female executives at events, 
or targeting African learners and people with disabilities 
who might not consider careers in the sector. Funding 
opportunities are also geared to increase transformation  
of the sector.

Dispelling some myths
FASSET’s career guidance target audiences are extensive 
and also include people who are employed but might 
want to change careers, learners who have matriculated 
or even learners who dropped out of school and need 
information about what could be next. Learners do not 
know that attending a TVET college could be a stepping 
stone to university or a university of technology. FASSET’s 
conversations with learners have gauged that a stigma 
still exists around attending a TVET college. Many learners 
equate TVET with being for learners who are not ‘smart’ 
enough and then they push for university at great personal 
cost. Part of FASSET’s communication obligations is to 
explain the role and purpose of a TVET college and the 
possible benefit it could have as a springboard to another 
higher education institution or as a place to hone specialist 
artisan skills.

Another perception from learners is that to enter the sector 
one needs to be an accountant. FASSET challenges this by 
explaining to learners how dynamic the sector is and how 
many different career journeys are available – one could 
become an auditor, an economist, a forensic auditor; 
one could work in any sector or in a finance company or 
even be an entrepreneur; one could work anywhere in the 

world because some professional designations are globally 
recognised and companies in all sectors have financial 
departments. 

That the sector is elitist is yet another misperception FASSET 
wants to correct. In engaging with learners, it became clear 
that many believed that only learners from private schools 
can get into the Finance and Accounting Services sector. 
This has a knock-on effect on learners from rural schools 
not taking commerce subjects and commerce streams being 
phased out, exacerbating the impression that a career in the 
sector is only for a select, fortunate few. 

Learners make the mistake of dropping the accounting 
subject because it is not necessary to get into finance and 
accounting courses at university level. However, when these 
learners get to this level, they struggle more than students 
who have taken accounting until matric. 
 
FASSET’s career awareness guidance addresses these 
misperceptions and also makes sure that learners understand 
the role and criteria of professional bodies – important 
FASSET stakeholders – as many do not appreciate the 
importance of being registered with such a body. During the 
reporting year, FASSET added Accounting Technician South 
Africa (ATSA), an associate body of the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants, to its list of collaborations. 
ATSA had the opportunity to share about qualification 
opportunities for learners who do not have matric. 

FASSET’s communication to learners 
in rural areas emphasises that its 
programmes have space for them 
and cater for them; they also have  
an opportunity to enter the sector  

and do well.

The most common question asked by learners is whether 
they need mathematics to pursue a career in finance and 
accounting. FASSET then has the opportunity to give up-to-
date information, for example that there is some flexibility 
in some institutions where they do accept applications if a 
learner has maths literacy and not pure maths. However, the 
learner must have achieved a specific score and in some 
cases be willing to do a bridging programme as their first 
step to studying towards the qualification.

The dream
One of FASSET’s dreams is to be able to follow a learner 
from when it delivers career guidance at Grade 9 to when 
they are included in the FASSET-funded Maths, Accounting 
and English programme at high school level, to when they 
enter university, do their articles, obtain their professional 
designation and any further journey that may come after 
that because there is still lifelong learning to consider. Also 
important is to see these learners ‘pay it forward’ by sharing 
their journeys with their communities.
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Partnering for impact with Rural2Rural

FASSET’s work cannot happen in isolation. It actively 
pursues partnerships with a variety of likeminded entities. 
One such entity is a non-governmental organisation, 
Rural2Rural. The four-year-old FASSET–R2R collaboration 
has reached and impacted an estimated 50 000 learners 
across all nine provinces.

CEO and R2R founder, Sanele Zulu, says, “We 
approached FASSET to present ourselves and the work  
we do. We were given an opportunity, we proved 
ourselves, and the rest is history.”

What does R2R do? The entity’s skills, jobs, and careers 
initiative promotes real opportunities, tertiary and TVET 
course options, and finds learnerships, bursaries, and 
business opportunities, and plans new career pathways to 
people in rural communities, particularly youth, women, 
and people with disabilities. It also establishes long-term 
partnerships among all rural development catalysts. 

It is not difficult to understand the effortless cohesion of 
a partnership between FASSET and R2R, especially as 
these organisations also partner with other SETAs and 
education departments at national, provincial and district 
levels.

Elaborating on the target audience – another touchpoint 
with FASSET, Zulu says, “Our target audience is the Black 
child, the marginalised, perhaps even forgotten rural 
Black boy or girl who may not have access to clean water, 
who may walk kilometres to school, who may have little 
hope for a better future, yet that child is the only hope for 
a better future in their family; we target the learner first, 
then the rural life orientation teacher, who plays a critical 
role in the personal development of the learners, and 
finally the parents and the school governing body.”

R2R partners with FASSET in many ways, including 
offering career guidance, participating in career expos, 
teaching capacitation and training, and, at every 
opportunity, distributing career booklets. And does this 
really matter?

“It is critical because there is still so much to be done 
in our rural areas, for both learners and teachers. The 
FASSET CEO has made it her mission to reach the 
unreachable; when she talks, you can hear her passion 
for rural teachers, who play such an important role in 
developing our future generation,” Zulu explains.

One highlight, Zulu adds, is the look on young girls’ 
faces when they hear FASSET’s Ayanda Mafuleka speak. 
“When the CEO of FASSET travels to the rural areas with 
our team and you see the hope in young girls from these 
rural areas as she shares her story of how she has gotten 
to where she is, and also when you hear the feedback 
from teachers of how these workshops enlighten them to 
be able to empower more learners with new and relevant 
information, that is priceless.”

Zulu concludes, “We would really like to get into a 
long-term agreement with FASSET, which will give our 
rural learners, teachers and districts affirmation of the 
sustainability of our interventions, as they sometimes want 
the assurance that we will return to offer further support. 
Our plans with FASSET aim to ensure the sustainability 
of our partnership and to broaden our scope of work 
to include rural teacher development and tapping into 
churches, rural TVET colleges, among others.”

Partner	spotlight
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2.5.3 Information and Communications 
Technology

Achievements of 2021/22
The ICT department went through 
a year of great changes and 
reinventions. Two core systems 
were replaced: Enterprise 
Resource Planning (ERP) and 
Learner Management System 
(LMS), and a significant amount 
of ICT services were in-sourced 
for the first time.

Networks and corporate phones have been upgraded and 
cell phone spending has fallen by 40% thanks to National 
Treasury’s new cross-cell phone contract. The intranet and 
website were moved internally, and the cloud user base 
nearly doubled to 90 users.

FASSET appointed its first Chief Information Officer in May 
2021, a new permanent IT manager in December 2021 and 
a new systems application specialist in March 2021. The ICT 
project management office was set up to ensure projects are 
delivered on time and on budget and to ensure quality.

FASSET ICT has implemented strict ICT security controls. This 
includes technology-driven solutions and user awareness 
campaigns. No security breaches were reported for the 
2021/22 financial year.

ICT has successfully reviewed its policies and introduced new 
policies such as the Protection of Personal Information Act 
(POPIA), ICT Risk Management and an ICT Allocation Policy.

Outlook for 2022/23 and beyond
The reporting year was a year of reinvention, 2022/23 is the 
year of consolidation and strengthening of the foundations 
laid in the reporting fiscal year. There are also some exciting 
developments planned for FASSET’s new LMS platform 
as well as the completion of the insourcing of call centre 
capabilities to better serve our stakeholders.

2.5.4 Audit, Risk and Compliance Department

The Audit, Risk and Compliance 
department is responsible for, 
among others, the following: 
• Monitoring the implementation 

of the Enterprise-Wide Risk 
Management and Compliance 
Frameworks throughout the 
organisation. 

• Facilitating and coordinating 
the audit process. 

• Providing support to 
management and business 
units in implementing the 
approved risk management 
and compliance policies 
and processes, and ensuring 
these are integrated into the 
operations of FASSET. 

Highlights
During the 2021/22 financial year, the Audit, Risk and 
Compliance department successfully achieved the following:
• Monitored and reported quarterly on the implementation 

status of the agreed management action plans. As a result, 
23 out of 33 (70%) audit findings were successfully closed.

• Reviewed 7 out of 10 risk management policies and 
developed a compliance policy for FASSET.

• The department implemented 12 out of 18 (67%) risk 
management and 9 out of 12 (75%) compliance activities.

• Ensured that 10 business units have risk registers, three 
registers were developed for the first time. The fraud risk 
register and top operational risk registers were developed 
during the period.

• Monitored and reported quarterly on the implementation 
of risk action plans, 73% of the strategic risk action plans 
were completed.

• The department conducted four risk management 
awareness sessions, two on fraud, one focusing on risk 
management and another focusing on business continuity. 

• Coordinated the Business Continuity Management (BCM) 
project, which resulted in the development of the draft 
BCM policy, strategy and plan.

• Reviewed and updated the approved Compliance 
Regulatory Universe for FASSET.

• Developed Compliance Risk Management Plans for two 
pieces of legislation (Skills Development Act and Grants 
Regulations) and monitored compliance.

• Facilitated the BBBEE verification exercise which resulted in 
FASSET receiving a Level 8 rating. This is an improvement 
compared to the Non-Compliant rating received the 
previous year.

The year ahead
To ensure efficient and integrated reporting to stakeholders, 
the procurement of a risk management system is underway.

Thembelani Maphanga
Chief Information Officer 

Nobuntu Gwala
Audit, Risk and  

Compliance Manager
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2.5.5 Facilities Department

The department is committed 
to providing a clean, safe and 
conducive working environment 
for all employees. The rapid 
growth of FASSET meant 
there was limited office space 
available to accommodate all 
the staff members. Faced with 
this challenge, coupled with 
the Covid-19 social distancing 
requirements, the department 

had to implement a roster system. The rosters were closely 
managed to minimise the risk of infection while ensuring 
departments still delivered on their mandates. With the 
current lease agreement expiring in the middle of 2023, 
the procurement process of sourcing suitable premises is 
in progress. 

FASSET is centralising the records management function to 
promote efficient business processes, reduce expenditure 
and improve the security of information. In March 2022, in 
preparation for this transition, staff members were trained on 
records management to sensitise them on the importance 
of preserving records, the applicable legislation and the 
classification and disposal of records. 

In the year under review, a Health and Safety Committee 
was established to initiate, promote, maintain, and review 
measures of ensuring the health and safety of employees. 
The department also conducted a Hazard Identification 
and Risk Assessment (HIRA) exercise to identify risk factors 
pertaining to the use of the building. The concerns raised 
by the appointed service provider in the report are being 
dealt with. 

2.5.6 Quality and Monitoring

The Quality and Monitoring 
team is responsible for quality 
assurance and reporting on 
the Annual Performance Plan 
(APP) and the Service level 
Agreement (SLA) to National 
Treasury/Department of Planning, 
Monitoring and Evaluation 
(DPME) and the DHET. 

Reporting to National Treasury and the DPME, the Electronic 
Quarterly Performance Reporting System is used. FASSET 
started using the system in the reporting year and was 
successful in reporting the performance data with a historic 
performance achievement of 84% reported against the APP.
The Skills Education and Training Management Information 
System and Surveyhub system submissions were done in the 
2021/22 financial year and FASSET recorded a performance 
of 75% against the SLA signed with DHET.

The unit has recorded an unqualified audit for three years 
and strives to maintain this exceptional standard. This has 
been possible due to consistent reviews of the performance 
data reported. During the year under review, two providers 
were accredited, and their site visits were completed.

The unit faced challenges of manual reporting as all inhouse 
reporting is still performed through Microsoft, however plans 
are in place to move to an online system.

Patience Motaung
Quality and Monitoring 

Assistant Manager

Bomkazi Mnombeli
Facilities Manager
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2.6 Performance information
We sign the Annual Performance Plan with the DHET every year, committing us to deliver against the NSDP. During 2022/23, we 
had 69 targets, 58 of which were achieved. This resulted in 84% performance by the SETA.

Programme 1: Administration

Programme 1 Administration

Purpose The purpose of this programme is to enable effective and efficient capabilities for core and supporting 
functions. These capabilities include governance, leadership, organisational, process and system 
components. Supporting functions include Finance, Operations, Human Resources, Information Technology, 
Communications, and Supply Chain Management. This programme also aims to establish and maintain 
enabling, integrated core and supporting systems, as well as ensure a capacitated, capable workforce, 
empowered by an enabling culture.

Sub-Programmes 1. Corporate Services
2. Finance, SCM and Assets
3. Governance (Audit and Risk)
4. Human Resources
5. Information Communications Technology
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Efficient and 
effective 
organisational 
support 
system with 
an enabling 
culture

Developed 
stakeholder 
strategy

1.1 Percentage 
of stakeholder 
strategy 
implemented

N/A N/A 30% 61% +31% TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, due 
to more stakeholder 
engagements held in 
the reporting year.

Joint processes 
with other SETAs 
facilitated

1.2 Number of 
programmes 
facilitated 
annually

N/A 4 1 2 +1 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more interventions 
in collaboration with 
other SETAs.

Internal skills 
development 
strategy 
developed and 
implemented

1.3 Percentage 
of internal 
skills strategy 
implemented on 
an annual basis

N/A 84% 80% 87% +7% TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more trainings were 
conducted in the 
year.

Improved 
business 
processes 

1.4 Percentage 
of business 
processes 
identified that 
have been 
reviewed 
annually

N/A 64% 65% 100% +35% TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, the 
project was initially 
planned for three 
years, however due 
to availability of 
resources and funds 
it was completed 
sooner.

Improved 
organisational 
culture

1.5 Percentage 
improvement of 
organisational 
climate on an 
annual basis

N/A 61% 65% 74% +9% TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, the 
climate survey report 
shows improvement 
at FASSET.

Policies reviewed 1.6 Percentage 
of policies 
reviewed 
annually

N/A 100% 100% 122% +22% TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more policies from 
ICT were reviewed 
and approved in the 
financial year.

40  |  FASSET Annual Integrated Report 2021/22

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION



O
ut

co
m

e

O
ut

pu
t

O
ut

pu
t 

In
di

ca
to

r

A
ud

ite
d 

A
ct

ua
l 

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 2
0
1
9
/2

0

A
ud

ite
d 

A
ct

ua
l 

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 2
0
2
0
/2

1

Pl
an

ne
d 

A
nn

ua
l T

ar
ge

t
2
0
2
1
/2

2

A
ct

ua
l A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
t

2
0
2
1
/2

2

D
ev

ia
tio

n 
fr

om
 P

la
nn

ed
 

Ta
rg

et
 t

o 
A

ct
ua

l 
A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
t 

2
0
2
1
/2

2

Re
as

on
s 

fo
r 

D
ev

ia
tio

ns

Efficient and 
effective 
organisational 
support 
system with 
an enabling 
culture
(continued)

Unqualified 
audit outcome 
obtained

1.7 An 
unqualified 
audit outcome 
obtained 
annually

N/A 1 An 
unqualified 
audit 
outcome

An 
unqualified 
audit 
outcome

0

Management 
reports 
submitted to 
DHET

1.8 Number 
of quarterly 
management 
reports 
submitted to 
DHET annually

4 4 4 4 0

Reports to 
National 
Treasury 
submitted

1.9 Number of 
quarterly reports 
submitted 
to National 
Treasury 
(Exempted Micro 
Enterprises 
reports) annually

4 4 4 4 0

Implemented 
operationalisation 
strategy

1.10 
Percentage of 
operationalisation 
strategy 
implemented on 
an annual basis

N/A 0% 30% 0 -30% NOT ACHIEVED, 
a strategy is being 
developed to ensure 
high impact of the 
operationalisation 
strategy for the 
different planned 
satellite offices and 
those already in 
existence.
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Programme 2: Skills Planning

Programme 2 Skills Planning

Purpose The purpose of this programme is to establish an effective mechanism for skills planning and research. 
It is responsible for researching skills needs within the sector and developing the SSP that guides skills 
development priorities for the Finance and Accounting Services sector; as well as informing the SETA’s SP  
and APP.

Sub-Programmes 1. Research (Chairs and SOEs) 
2. Sector Skills Plan
3. WSPs and ATRs
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Appropriate 
skills 
intervention 
determined as 
informed by 
research

Detailed 
SSP, which 
identifies skills 
requirements 
and adapts 
accordingly, 
produced

2.1 Number of 
SSPs developed 
and submitted

N/A 1 1 1 0

Report on TVET 
curriculum 
development 
research 
produced

2.2 Number of 
research reports 
produced on 
TVET curriculum 
development 
annually

1 1 1 1 0

FASSET Sector 
Trends report 
produced

2.3 Number of 
FASSET Sector 
Trends reports 
produced 
annually

1 1 1 1 0

Training 
Benchmarks 
report produced

2.4 Number 
of SETA 
benchmarking 
reports 
produced 
annually

1 1 1 1 0

FASSET Project 
Beneficiary 
Tracer Study 
report produced

2.5 Number of 
research reports 
on FASSET-
funded project 
beneficiaries 
produced 
annually

N/A 1 1 1 0

Transformation 
Research report 
produced 

2.6 Number 
of research 
reports on 
transformation 
in the FASSET 
sector produced 
annually

1 1 1 1 0

Research report 
on Ethics and 
Integrity in the 
Finance and 
Accounting 
sector produced

2.7 Number of 
research reports 
on ethics and 
integrity in the 
Finance and 
Accounting 
sector

N/A N/A 1 1 0
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Appropriate 
skills 
intervention 
determined as 
informed by 
research
(continued)

Monitoring 
and Evaluation 
Impact Report 
produced 

2.8 Number 
of updates 
per annum to 
the FASSET 
Monitoring 
and Evaluation 
Report based 
on research 
conducted

1 1 1 1 0

Investments in 
critical areas 
for thought 
leadership made

2.9 Number 
of circles of 
influence forums 
hosted by 
FASSET annually

N/A 3 3 3 0

Approved WSP 
and ATR for 
large firms 

2.10 Number 
of large firms’ 
WSP/ATR 
approved and 
mandatory grant 
paid annually

73 78 65 65 0

Approved WSP 
and ATR for 
medium firms

2.11 Number 
of medium 
firms’ WSP/ATR 
approved and 
mandatory grant 
paid annually

117 108 100 114 +14 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of employers were 
approved.

Approved WSP 
and ATR for 
small firms

2.12 Number 
of small firms’ 
WSP/ATR 
approved and 
mandatory grant 
paid annually

722 759 600 605 +5 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of employers were 
approved. 

Approved WSP 
and ATR for 
government 
departments

2.13 Number 
of government 
departments’ 
WSP/ATR 
approved 
annually

5 5 5 7 +2 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of employers were 
approved. 

Enterprise 
Development 
Strategy

2.14 Research 
enterprise 
development 
requirements

N/A N/A 1 1 0
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Programme 3: Learning Programmes and Projects

Programme 3 Learning Programmes and Projects

Purpose This programme is one in which the SETA invests the bulk of its resources and energy, and is most aligned 
to the goals, objectives and performance indicators of the NSDP as well as the SETA’s vision and mission, as 
articulated in the SETA’s SP.

The learning programmes and projects programme focuses on enabling and enhancing skills development 
in and for the Finance and Accounting Services sector in partnership with relevant stakeholders. It also aims 
to promote the Finance and Accounting Services sector as a preferred career choice for new entrants into the 
labour market. Through targeted funding of skills interventions, the SETA expects to transform the finance and 
accounting profession and sector. This programme needs to ensure that delivery of skills interventions meets 
with compliance requirements. Ultimately this programme is expected to deliver the requisite value and impact 
through the SETA’s funded interventions.

Sub-Programmes 1. Implementation of Programmes as per NSDP Outcomes
2. Special Projects
3. Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting
4. Career and Vocational Guidance
5. Project Admin
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Injection 
of relevant 
critical skills 
and reducing 
skills 
shortages

High number 
of learners 
attending 
relevant Lifelong 
Learning 
(LL)/Learner 
Professional 
Development 
(LPD) 
programmes 
provided

3.1 Number 
of employed 
learners who 
attend LL events 
and LPD events 
annually

12 010 11 308 24 500 22 422 -2078 NOT ACHIEVED, 
due to low interest 
received from 
employers on the 
Training Incentive 
Grant. 

3.2 Number 
of LL events 
attended by 
trade unions 

N/A 0 4 9 +5 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more trainings were 
attended by trade 
union representatives.

High number 
of learners 
attended FASSET 
programmes 
(FASSET bursary 
scheme, 
TVET WBE, 
Professional 
Body 
Designation etc.)

3.3 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
processed for 
registration on 
learnerships 
annually

4 474 4 677 3 620 3 685 +65 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of learners approved.

3.4 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
processed for 
registration 
on learnership 
and approved 
for funding 
via learner 
employment 
grant annually

1 593 181 1 216 1 105 -111 NOT ACHIEVED,  
due to small number 
of applications 
received in the year.
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Injection 
of relevant 
critical skills 
and reducing 
skills 
shortages
(continued)

High number 
of learners 
attended FASSET 
programmes 
(FASSET bursary 
scheme, 
TVET WBE, 
Professional 
Body 
Designation etc.)
(continued)

3.5 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
processed for 
registration on 
learnership and 
approved for 
Public Sector 
Grant annually

66 0 60 60 0

3.6 Number 
of unemployed 
learners entering 
an employer 
bursary 
programme and 
approved for 
funding annually

411 469 300 323 +23 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more learners 
were recruited for 
programme.

3.7 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
awarded a 
bursary via the 
FASSET bursary 
scheme annually

782 361 639 1 034 +395 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, due 
to special funding 
that was used to 
award bursaries to 
additional learners. 

3.8 Number 
of unemployed 
learners entering 
an internship 
and approved 
for funding via 
Non-PIVOTAL 
Learner 
Employment 
Grant annually 

176 169 450 459 +9 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more applications 
that met the 
requirements 
were received and 
approved. 

3.9 Number 
of unemployed 
matriculants 
entering a 
placement 
programme 
annually 

151 0 200 277 +77 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of learners were 
approved.

3.10 Number 
of unemployed 
learners who 
enter an 
academic skills 
programme 
for progression 
at university 
annually

1 236 925 2 500 2 868 +368 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more learners 
were recruited for 
programme.

3.11 Number 
of unemployed 
learners who 
enter a PIVOTAL 
professional 
body 
programme 
annually

214 279 365 365 0
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Injection 
of relevant 
critical skills 
and reducing 
skills 
shortages
(continued)

High number 
of learners 
attended FASSET 
programmes 
(FASSET bursary 
scheme, 
TVET WBE, 
Professional 
Body 
Designation etc.)
(continued)

3.12 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
who enter a 
non-PIVOTAL 
professional 
body annually

253 656 330 584 +254 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of learners were 
approved.

3.13 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
entering a skills 
programme 
offered at a 
community 
education and 
training college 
annually

30 0 100 100 0

3.14 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
processed for 
completion on 
learnerships 
annually 

3 184 3 268 2 450 2 949 +499 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of learnership 
agreements 
submitted were 
approved.

3.15 Number 
of unemployed 
learners who 
completed an 
academic year 
or qualification 
via the FASSET 
bursary scheme 
annually

591 92 438 533 +95 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more learners 
than anticipated 
completed the 
academic year or 
qualification via the 
bursary scheme.

3.16 Number 
of unemployed 
learners who 
complete an 
academic 
support skills 
programme 
for progression 
at university 
annually 

487 724 1 281 1 435 +154 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more learners 
have successfully 
completed the 
programme.

3.17 Number 
of unemployed 
learners who 
complete 
a PIVOTAL 
professional 
body 
programme 
annually

0 32 231 71 -160 NOT ACHIEVED; 
not enough learners 
entered into the 
programme. 
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Injection 
of relevant 
critical skills 
and reducing 
skills 
shortages
(continued)

High number 
of learners 
attended FASSET 
programmes 
(FASSET bursary 
scheme, 
TVET WBE, 
Professional 
Body 
Designation etc.)
(continued)

3.18 Number 
of unemployed 
learners who 
complete a 
non-PIVOTAL 
professional 
body 
programme 
annually

35 23 175 440 +265 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
due to more 
than anticipated 
number of learners 
completing a 
programme in the 
previous quarters.

3.19 Number 
of employed 
learners 
processed for 
registration on 
learnerships 
annually

289 319 310 350 +40 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of learnership 
agreements 
submitted and 
approved.

3.20 Number 
of employed 
learners entering 
a bursary via the 
NLRG annually

377 164 400 121 -279 NOT ACHIEVED,  
due to small number 
of applications 
received.

3.21 Number 
of employed 
learners 
processed for 
completion of 
learnerships 
annually

199 119 190 249 +59 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of learnership 
agreements 
submitted were 
approved.

3.22 Number 
of TVET students 
who enter 
a National 
Diploma 
internship 
annually

338 18 480 536 +56 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more learners 
were recruited for 
programme.

3.23 Number 
of TVET students 
who complete 
a National 
Diploma 
internship 
annually

130 195 300 346 +46 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED,  
more learners 
who entered in the 
previous year and 
completed in the year 
under review.

3.24 Number 
of unemployed 
learners entering 
an internship 
and approved 
for funding via 
Public Sector 
Non-PIVOTAL 
Grant annually

10 0 10 10 0
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Injection 
of relevant 
critical skills 
and reducing 
skills 
shortages
(continued)

High number 
of learners 
attended FASSET 
programmes 
(FASSET bursary 
scheme, 
TVET WBE, 
Professional 
Body 
Designation etc.)
(continued)

3.25 Number 
of unemployed 
university 
graduates 
entering for 
placement 
at a FASSET 
employer 
annually 

144 21 300 441 +141 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
due to more than 
anticipated number 
of learners being 
approved.

3.26 Number of 
non-levy paying 
(NLPs) employers 
supported 
through 
discretionary 
funding annually

126 28 150 72 -78 NOT ACHIEVED, 
small number of NLPs 
were supported in the 
year.

3.27 Number of 
small businesses 
supported 
through 
discretionary 
funding annually

337 92 550 87 -463 NOT ACHIEVED, 
small number of 
small businesses were 
supported in the year.

3.28 Number 
of partnership 
agreements 
signed between 
FASSET and 
a public HEI 
annually 

8 0 8 9 +1 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more partnership 
agreements were 
signed in the year.

3.29 Number 
of partnership 
agreements 
signed between 
FASSET and 
a public TVET 
college annually

2 0 5 5 0

3.30 Number 
of partnership 
agreements 
signed between 
FASSET and an 
employer for 
placement of 
TVET learners 
annually 

25 15 20 27 +7 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more than 
anticipated number 
of contracts 
were signed with 
employers in 
2021/22.

3.31 Number of 
career guidance 
events supported 
annually

71 162 260 353 +93 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more schools 
were visited, and 
positive feedback 
was received from 
provinces.
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Injection 
of relevant 
critical skills 
and reducing 
skills 
shortages
(continued)

Unemployed 
learners 
enrolled for 
work integrated 
learning (WIL) 
programmes

3.32 Number 
of unemployed 
learners from 
higher education 
training (HET) 
enrolled for WIL 
programme

N/A 0 20 20 0

Unemployed 
learners 
completed WIL 
programmes

3.33 Number 
of unemployed 
learners from 
HET completed 
WIL programme 

N/A 0 5 0 -5 NOT ACHIEVED, 
there were no 
learners entered to 
allow for completion.

Learners 
enrolled 
for adult 
education and 
training (AET) 
programmes

3.34 Number 
of learners 
enrolled on AET 
programme 
annually

N/A 0 50 50 0

Learners 
completed AET 
programmes

3.35 Number 
of learners 
completed AET 
programme 
annually

N/A 0 35 0 -35 NOT ACHIEVED, 
there were no 
learners entered to 
allow for completion.

Partnerships 
established 
with community 
education and 
training (CET) 
institutions

3.36 Number of 
CET partnerships 
established 

N/A 0 1 3 +2 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
two more contracts 
were signed with CET 
colleges.

Bursaries 
awarded to TVET 
lecturers

3.37 Number 
of TVET college 
lecturers 
awarded a 
bursary

N/A 0 30 30 0

English, math, 
and accounting 
offered to 
learners

3.38 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
upskilled (Grade 
8–12) maths, 
accounting and 
English

N/A 0 600 600 0

Targets of 
injecting supply 
of designated 
groups as per 
DHET and sector 
needs met

3.39 Number of 
Black females 
entering a senior 
management 
development 
programmes 
(EDP)

N/A 0 10 31 +21 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED, 
more Black females 
were approved 
and entered the 
programme.
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Injection 
of relevant 
critical skills 
and reducing 
skills 
shortages
(continued)

High number 
of learners 
attended FASSET 
programmes 
(FASSET bursary 
scheme, 
TVET WBE, 
Professional 
Body 
Designation etc.)

3.40 Number 
of unemployed 
learners entering 
a bursaries 
programme 
(continuing)

N/A 0 433 84 -349 NOT ACHIEVED, 
small number of 
applications were 
received to process 
and approve.

3.41 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
entering a 
financial literacy 
programme

N/A 0 1 200 6 518 +5 318 TARGET 
OVERACHIEVED,  
due to special 
funding that was used 
to award bursaries to 
additional learners. 

3.42 Number 
of TVET college 
learners 
awarded 
bursaries

N/A N/A 100 100 0

3.43 Number 
of unemployed 
learners 
upskilled (Grade 
8–12) maths, 
accounting 
and English 
(continuation)

N/A N/A 420 0 -420 NOT ACHIEVED, 
the target will not be 
achieved as there 
were no learners 
entered to allow for 
continuation.
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Programme 4: Quality Assurance

Programme 4 Quality Assurance

Purpose This programme focuses on supporting the professional organisations to align their qualifications to the 
new dispensation (as introduced through the Quality Council for Trades and Occupations) while ensuring 
quality. The support role assumed by the SETA in this regard acknowledges the key role played by professional 
organisations in the development and implementation of qualifications for the Finance and Accounting 
Services sector.

Sub-Programmes 1. Learning Programmes
2. Certification
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Improved 
quality 
assurance 
system for 
the sector 
learning 
programmes 

Quality assured 
sector-aligned 
learning 
programmes

4.1 Number of 
discretionary 
funded learning 
programmes 
monitoring 
reports 
produced 
annually

4 4 4 4 0

4.2 Number of 
qualifications 
and learnership 
certification 
reports 
produced 
annually

4 4 4 4 0

2.7 Reporting on the institutional response to the Covid-19 pandemic
FASSET continued to ensure its employees are able to adhere to the Covid-19 safety regulations by providing the necessary 
protective equipment.

Table 1: Progress on Institutional Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic
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Table 2: Revenue collection

Sources of 
Revenue

2021/22 2020/21

Estimate 
R’000

Actual Amount 
Collected

R’000

Over/(Under) 
Collection

R’000
Estimate 
R’000

Actual Amount 
Collected

R’000

Over/(Under) 
Collection

R’000

Revenue from 
exchange 
transactions

Other income  -   25 

Investment income 27 000 30 600 3 600 27 000 29 798 2 798 

Total revenue 
from exchange 
transactions 27 000 30 625 3 600 27 000 29 798 2 798 

Revenue from 
non-exchange 
transactions

Levies 580 919 621 169 40 250 355 261       401 421      46 160 

Other income  -   75      75          155      155 

Total revenue 
from non-
exchange 
transactions          580 919 

                              
621 244 

                               
40 325     355 261 

                              
401 576 

                               
46 315 

Total 607 919   651 869     43 925 382 261      431 374   49 113 

FASSET keeps its assets, the majority of which are in the form of excess cash, in the Corporation for Public Deposits (CPD) 
account with the Reserve Bank. The SETA also has measures in place to maintain its asset register which mostly comprises 
furniture and some installations. This is kept up to date on an ongoing basis.

3.	REVENUE	COLLECTION

4.	CAPITAL	INVESTMENT	
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PART C
GOVERNANCE



The Financial and Accounting Services Sector Education and 
Training Authority (FASSET) is a public entity established in 
terms of the Skills Development Act No. 97 of 1998; and 
listed as a Schedule 3A entity as per the Public Finance 
Management Act No. 29 of 1999 (PFMA).

The Accounting Authority relies on the support of its 
established Board Committees which include the Executive 
Committee (EXCO), Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), 
Finance Committee (FINCO), Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee (HREMCO), and the Governance 
and Strategy Committee (GSC).

The Accounting Authority ensures that FASSET maintains 
effective and transparent systems of risk management and 
internal controls by having a functional Audit and Risk 
Committee that is supported by an effective internal audit 
and skilled executive management. 

The Accounting Authority is responsible for providing 
strategic direction to FASSET and ensuring that the 
organisation achieves its objectives and implements its 
mandate, SSP and strategy as approved by the Executive 
Authority. The Accounting Authority is accountable to the 
Executive Authority and Parliament.

Parliament, the Executive Authority (the Minister of Higher 
Education, Science and Innovation) and the Board of FASSET 
are responsible for corporate governance.

FASSET’s commitment to governance controls include a code 
of conduct, service level agreements and declarations of 
conflict of interest.

Corporate governance embodies the processes and systems 
by which public entities are directed, controlled and held to 
account.

Good corporate governance is key to achieving FASSET’s 
vision of facilitating the achievement of world-class finance 
and accounting skills and it also supports FASSET’s values of 
good ethics, accountability and innovation.

FASSET’s Accounting Authority recognises that ethical 
and effective leadership is the starting point of corporate 
governance. The tone at the top creates the foundation for 
good governance. Simply put, FASSET, from its leadership 
to its staff on the ground, both individually and collectively, 
expects compliance with standards of good ethics and 
effectiveness which enable delivery of appropriate outputs to 
those whom its operations impact.

During the financial year, management prepared and 
submitted relevant policies from various departments 
for the Board’s approval. The Board is supported in its 
functions and duties by the EXCO, the ARC, FINCO and the 
HREMCO, all of which have been functional in the reporting 
period. It is guided by an approved charter in terms of the 
FASSET constitution.

King IV
Meaningful and SETA-wide application of the King IV 
corporate governance practices is a key starting point in 
ensuring desired governance outcomes. By aligning its 
practices with King IV, the principles of which apply to the 
reporting period, FASSET’s approach and commitment to 
corporate governance has not changed. The Board and 
management continue to fully acknowledge the role of 
good governance across all aspects of FASSET as a vital 
component of sustainable value creation.

The shift to King IV was managed as a project, with 
responsibility for each principle assigned to appropriate 
functional business areas. The working committees that were 
put in place comprised senior representatives of the strategy 
and planning committee (including risk), human resources 
(including remuneration), finance, governance, Information 
Communications Technology (ICT), internal audit, and the 
executive management team with the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) as project champion, and the Company Secretary as 
the head of governance. This inclusive approach ensures a 
SETA-wide understanding of the principles and multi-function 
application of the practices. It also facilitates governance 
leadership and accountability. The working groups 
benchmarked existing governance practices against King IV 
practices to identify areas for improvement.

1.	 INTRODUCTION
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The Portfolio Committee on Higher Education, Science and Innovation exercises its oversight role over the department and other 
entities. There were no engagements between FASSET and the portfolio committee in the current financial year. 

The Executive Authority of FASSET is the Minister of Higher Education, Science and Innovation.

FASSET reported on its financial and non-financial performance to the Honourable Minister, Dr Blade Nzimande. The SSP, SP, 
and APP are submitted on an annual basis to the DHET.

FASSET also concluded the SLA with the Executive Authority which encompasses deliverables on the performance and required 
reports on its activities.

FASSET had an engagement with the Minister to present the Annual Performance Plan and align it to the departmental priorities. 
The engagement was attended by the Board Chairperson and the CEO. 

The Accounting Authority also had an engagement with the National Skills Authority to present the organisational performance 
as well as to give a progress update on the following areas:
• Skills Policy Matters;
• NSDS outcomes and impact;
• Governance matters;
• Covid-19 pandemic impact and future plans; and
• Progress against the NSDP.

2.	PORTFOLIO	COMMITTEES	

3.	EXECUTIVE	AUTHORITY

4.	THE	NATIONAL	SKILLS	AUTHORITY
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5.1 Introduction
The FASSET Board is the Accounting Authority as established 
in terms of the FASSET constitution, and it fulfils its duties 
and responsibilities as provided for in the PFMA and Skills 
Development Act, 97 of 1998, as amended.

The Minister of Higher Education, Science and Innovation 
appointed a new Board for a five-year period commencing 
01 April 2020 to 31 March 2025. 

The Board performs oversight of the affairs of FASSET as well 
as retaining full and effective control and management of 
FASSET in accordance with applicable legislation. The Board 
is also responsible for the formulation and review of the 
strategic direction of FASSET. The Board ensures that FASSET 
delivers on the requirements of the Skills Development Act, 
97 of 1998, as amended; and adherence to the PFMA.

5.2 The role of the Board
The role of the Board includes as follows:
• Holds absolute responsibility for the performance of 

FASSET;
• Retains full and effective control and management of 

FASSET;
• Ensures that FASSET carries out its fiduciary duties;
• Formulates, monitors and reviews the strategic direction of 

FASSET;
• Formulates and/or monitors and reviews annual budgets 

and plans, risk policy and major plans of action;
• Develops clear definition of levels of materiality;
• Ensures financial statements are prepared;
• Manages conflicts of interest;
• Monitors the performance of the CEO;
• Ensures strategic and operational objectives of sustainable 

performance and meeting the needs of FASSET’s 
stakeholders;

• Assesses organisational performance and risks;
• Ensures that decisions and material issues are addressed; 

and
• Maintains integrity, responsibility and accountability.

Induction and Board Development
The Board Chairperson has prioritised professional 
development of members. An ongoing training and education 
programme enables the Board members to familiarise 
themselves with FASSET’s operations, the business environment, 
their fiduciary duties and responsibilities, FASSET’s expectations 
of Board members in terms of commitment and behaviour, and 
regulatory changes and trends.

The Board held all its required meetings as well as those 
of its sub-committees and fulfilled all its responsibilities.
FASSET’s Board members have full and unrestricted access 
to management, FASSET information and property, and are 
entitled to seek independent professional advice in support of 
their duties.

In the year under review, FASSET’s Board members attended 
key PFMA training facilitated by the National Treasury. A 
detailed Board Development and Training Programme as 
developed will be rolled out in the 2022/23 financial year.

5.3 Board Charter and Code of Conduct
The King IV Code of Corporate Governance states that good 
governance starts with effective leadership. 

The Board Charter regulates the parameters within which the 
Accounting Authority will operate and ensures the application 
of sound corporate governance principles. It sets out the 
mandate, goals, roles and responsibilities of the Accounting 
Authority and addresses the following:
• Accounting Authority powers and composition;
• Authority of the Accounting Authority;
• Fiduciary responsibilities;
• Mandate, goals, role and functions;
• Role of the Chairperson;
• Role and responsibilities of the CEO;
• Relationship with staff and other stakeholders;
• Accounting Authority committees, committee meetings and 

frequency of meetings;
• Accounting Authority evaluation of effectiveness;
• Code of Conduct;
• Conflict of interest and handling of disputes; and
• Remuneration of Accounting Authority members. 

Accounting Authority members completed Annual 
declarations of interest in line with the requirements of 
the PFMA. 

The Accounting Authority also reviewed and approved 
its Code of Conduct annually. All Accounting Authority 
members signed the Code of Conduct and fully complied 
with the Board Charter and Code of Conduct during the year 
under review.

5.4 Composition of the Accounting 
Authority (Board) 

The Board of FASSET is appointed in line with Section 
11(1) and (2) of the Skills Development Act. As the highest 
governing structure, the Board retains full and effective 
control over FASSET and monitors the organisation’s 
performance and ensures that decisions on material issues 
are addressed. The Board comprises 15 members including 
the independent Chairperson. All Board members and the 
Chairperson are non-executive directors. The FASSET Board 
is composed from the following constituencies:
• An independent Chairperson;
• Six members representing organised labour;
• Six members representing organised business;
• One member from a government department; and
• One member from a community organisation.

5.	THE	ACCOUNTING	AUTHORITY
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Board members

Ms Lynette Ntuli
Chairperson

Ms Mamatshiliso Nhlapo
Government Department

Ms Rofhiwa Singo
Community Organisation

Mr James Maboa
Organised Labour

Mr Xola Lingani
Organised Labour

Mr Mbasa Metuse
Organised Labour

Ms Tlakale Phatlane
Organised Labour

Mr Nthato Mapiloko
Organised Labour

Ms Thandi Masemola
Organised Labour

Ms Mopo Mushwana
Organised Employer

Ms Angela Nyathela- 
Mahanjana

Organised Employer

Mr Bongani Mathibela
Organised Employer

Ms Malebo Magasa
Organised Employer

Ms Pumla Ngwenya
Organised Employer

Mr Peterson Khumalo
Organised Employer
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Table 3: Board and Committees Meeting Attendance

Name Gender Constituency Board 
meetings Qualifications

Number of meetings 12

Ms Lynette Ntuli Female Independent 
Chairperson 12

• CSCM 
• ACSCL
• PDP

Ms Mamatshiliso 
Nhlapo Female Government 

Department 11

• MBL
• MSocSci: Psychology and Research Consultation
• BA(Hons), 
• BSocSci
• Project Management certificate
• Monitoring and Evaluation certificate
• Certificate in PFMA for Non-Financial Managers

Ms Rofhiwa Singo Female Community 
Organisation 12

• Charted Global Management Accountant 
(ACMA, CGMA) 

• Associate General Accountant (AGA (SA))
• BCompt. Honors (CTA)
• BCompt
• IAC higher certificate in accounting

Mr James Maboa Male Organised Labour 12
• CA(SA)
• BCom
• PGD Accounting (CTA)

Mr Xola Lingani Male Organised Labour 12

• MBA 
• Certified ISA
• Certifies IIA
• BTech

Mr Mbasa Metuse Male Organised Labour 12

• MSocSci (Social Policy and Development 
Research)

• PGDip (Business Administration)
• BSocSci
• Project Management Certificate

Ms Thandi Masemola1 Female Organised Labour 12
• PGDip: Business Administration
• BTech
• Nat. Dip: Cost & Management Accounting

Mr Nthato Mapiloko2 Male Organised Labour 12

• MBL
• BCompt (CTA) 
• PGDip Tax Law
• PGDip Labour Law
• Board Governance Certificate

Ms Tlakale Phatlane Female Organised Labour 12
• Nat. Dip: Secretarial Administration
• Nat. Dip: IT
• HDip Labour Law

Mr Bongani Mathibela Male Organised 
Employer 12

• PA (SAIPA)
• TP (SAIPA)
• PIA (IIASA)
• BRP (SARIPA)
• Nat. Dip Accounting
• Nat. Dip: Taxation
• BCompt
• CFE (ACFE)

Ms Malebo Magasa Female Organised 
Employer 11

• MBL
• PGD: Education
• BCom

Ms Mopo Mushwana Female Organised 
Employer 12

• MBA
• PGD: Business Administration
• BCom

Ms Angel Nyathela- 
Mahanjana Female Organised 

Employer 11 • LLB
• BCom

Ms Pumla Ngwenya Female Organised 
Employer 08

• MBL
• BBA
• International Baccalaureate

Mr Peterson Khumalo Male Organised 
Employer 11

• BCom
• PGDip Accounting
• Registered Auditor 
• CA(SA)

1  Appointed HREMCO Chair from 01 July 2021
2  Term as HREMCO Chair ended 30 June 2021
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5.5 Board and Board committees
The FASSET constitution provides for the establishment of the following Board Committees:
• The Executive Committee;
• The Audit and Risk Committee;
• The Finance Committee;
• The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee; and
• The Governance and Strategy Committee.

The Executive Committee (EXCO) is made up of five Board members and comprises an independent Chairperson, two 
organised employer representatives and two representatives from organised labour. Members of the EXCO are appointed by  
the Minister in terms of the Constitution. 

Exco oversees the management of all financial matters; monitors national policy issues and developments; makes 
recommendations regarding the adoption of policies by the Accounting Authority; oversees staff employment issues; determines 
budgets and business plans; monitors the relations and interactions of the SETA with other SETAs and other agencies on matters 
related to skills development; and performs any other function, delegated to it by the Board. 

Table 4: Executive Committee

Name Number of meetings attended (6) Constituency

Ms Lynette Ntuli 5 Independent Chairperson

Mr James Maboa 6 Organised Labour

Mr Xola Lingani 5 Organised Labour

Mr Bongani Mathibela 6 Organised Employer

Ms Malebo Magasa 6 Organised Employer

The primary responsibilities of the Finance Committee (FINCO) include monitoring and reporting on financial operations, 
internal financial policies and budget performance; consolidating and recommending the annual budget for presentation to 
the Board; providing guidelines for reporting on levy collections and grant disbursements; and considering and recommending 
financial reports.

Table 5: Finance Committee

Name Number of meetings attended (5) Constituency

Ms Mopo Mushwana, Chairperson 5 Organised Employer

Mr James Maboa 5 Organised Labour

Ms Tlakale Phatlane2 2 Organised Employer

Ms Angel Nyathela-Mahanjana 5 Organised Employer

Mr Peterson Khumalo 5 Organised Employer

Mr Nthato Mapiloko2 2 Organised Labour

Ms Malebo Magasa1 4 Organised Employer

1 Left the Committee November 2021
2 Appointed to the Committee November 2021
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The core role of the Governance and Strategy Committee (GSC) includes developing policies, principles, criteria and 
guidelines for governance and strategy; providing strategic direction to the skills development strategy of the sector; monitoring 
adherence to the codes of conduct/ethics; governing compliance with applicable laws; and setting the direction for FASSET’s 
approach to corporate citizenship. 

The Committee considered, reviewed and noted the following recommendations to the Board:
• CEO’s Quarterly Report;
• Project Performance Management Report;
• ICT Project Reports with regards to Special Projects; 
• Board development work plan and Board assessments; and
• Recommendations to the Board on Board and Governance policies including organisational Delegations of Authority and 

Committee Charter and Workplan. 

Special recommendations as mandated by the Board included the following: 
• Final Strategic Plan;
• Annual Performance Plan; 
• Service Level Agreement for 2022/23; and 
• Lifelong Learning incentive grant.

Table 6: Governance and Strategy Committee

Name Number of meetings attended (7) Constituency

Mr Bongani Mathibela, Chairperson 7 Organised Employer

Ms Mamatshiliso Nhlapo 6 Government Department

Mr Mbasa Metuse 7 Organised Labour

Ms Thandi Masemola 7 Organised Labour

Ms Malebo Magasa1 7 Organised Employer

Ms Mopo Mushwana1 3 Organised Employer

1 Appointed to the Committee November 2021

The Human Resources Remuneration and Committee (HREMCO) advised and made recommendations to the Board on 
establishing human resources and remuneration strategies and processes to ensure alignment with FASSET’s functions and 
mandate. HREMCO ensures that the human resources organisational structure supports FASSET’s vision, mission and activities; 
establishes, maintains and implements human resources and remuneration strategies that ensure competitive, fair, equitable and 
market-related compensation policies (and which are also geared to attract, motivate and retain talented human capital). It also 
periodically reviews its practice of diversity in the workplace and adherence to employment equity plans.

The Committee considered and recommended the following reports to the Board as mandated to them:
• Draft Strategic Plan, Annual Performance Plan as well as Service Level Agreement and reports on the performance and 

implementation thereof;
• Research Criteria, research quarterly reports as well as sector trends reports;
• Discretionary Grant Criteria and expenditure reports related to discretionary grants;
• Sector Skills Plan;
• Recommendations on the Board Strategy Session;
• Reports on organisational memoranda of understanding entered into; and
• Working Committee Charter and reports from the Committee.
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The HREMCO convened throughout the year to make recommendations to the Board on the following matters:

Organisational HR Policies review which included the following policies:
• Acting Allowance Policy;
• Remuneration Policy;
• Dress Code Policy;
• Employment Equity Policy;
• Employees Code of Conduct Policy;
• Industrial Relations and Terminations Policy;
• Recruitment , Rewards and Benefits Policy;
• Retention Policy;
• Working Hours Policy;
• Education, Training and Development Policy;
• Performance Management Policy;
• Leave Policy; and
• Accounting Authority and Committees Remuneration Policy.
 
The following policies were developed by the Committee and recommended to the Board for approval:
• Working From Home Policy; and
• Health and Safety Policy.

The Committee also considered for recommendation to the Board to following matters:
• The Quarterly HR Status Reports;
• Review and approval of the Recognition Agreement;
• NEHAWU demands;
• Noting of performance review of the CEO;
• Noting of the Performance Agreements of the CEO and Company Secretary as recommended by the 360 Review Panel;
• The Committee also received the recommendations of the employee satisfaction and culture survey and recommendations on 

the organogram following the recommendations from the Skills Audit; and
• The Committee provides oversight on the Labour Relations department through interrogation of the quarterly Labour 

Relations reports. 

Table 7: Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

Name Number of meetings attended (7) Constituency

Mr Mbasa Metuse 7 Organised Labour

Ms Thandi Masemola 7 Organised Labour

Mr Nthato Mapiloko 7 Organised Labour

Mr Tlakale Phatlane 7 Organised Labour

Ms Pumla Ngwenya 5 Organised Employer
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The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) is made up of four independent members and two Board representatives. The ARC has 
oversight responsibilities for financial management; internal controls; management of risks and monitoring of risk management 
policy and planning; compliance with laws, regulations, and ethics; accounting and financial reporting; and internal and 
external audit functions. The collective skills and expertise of the members of this Committee include extensive knowledge of and 
expertise in public sector accounting, GRAP standards, the PFMA, National Treasury Regulations, ICT governance, and King IV.

The organisation has established an Information and Communication Technology (ICT) 
Steering Committee reporting to the ARC. The Committee is chaired by an independent 
Chairperson, Dr Charles Motau, and meets once a quarter. The Chairperson is remunerated 
in terms of the Accounting Authority and Committees Remuneration Policy. The Committee 
consists of members of the Executive management team. 

The Committee’s responsibilities are defined in terms of King IV under Principle 12 on 
Technology and Information and the ICT Governance Framework that is informed by the 
other governance and regulatory documents already mentioned. King IV recognises that 
information and technology overlap. They are also “distinct sources of value creation which 
pose individual risks and opportunities”. King IV thus refers not to ‘information technology’ 
but to ‘technology and information’ to make this distinction clear. 

King IV emphasises that the governing body (a function delegated to the ARC) should govern 
technology and information in a way that supports the organisation in defining core purpose 

and to set and achieve strategic objectives, organisational structure, relationships, frameworks and processes. Principle 12 of the 
King IV Code recommends that the governing body should:
i. Assume responsibility by setting the direction for how the organisation should approach and address ICT;
ii. Oversee the management of ICT, including overseeing that ICT risks are integrated into organisation-wide risk management;
iii. Ensure that management responds to security and social media incidents with a breach coach;
iv. Ensure that ICT is used ethically and responsibly through an ICT policy and that ICT laws are complied with;
v. See to it that information management sustains and enhances the intellectual property protection of the organisation;
vi. Verify that data protection and information security law aspects are in place;
vii. Ensure that the risks pertaining to the sourcing of ICT and ICT contracts are managed;
viii. Ensure that the organisation responds to disruptive technologies; and
ix. Disclose the governance and management of ICT by the organisation, including disclosing an overview, focus areas, actions 

taken and plans.

Table 8: Audit and Risk Committee

Name
Number of meetings 
attended (7)

Constituency Qualifications

Ms Malande Tonjeni 7 Independent 
Chairperson CA(SA)

Ms Rofhiwa Singo 7 Community 
Organisation

Charted Global Management Accountant (ACMA, CGMA) 
Associate General Accountant (AGA (SA))
BCompt. Honors (CTA)
BCompt
IAC higher certificate in accounting

Mr Peterson Khumalo 7 Organised 
Employer

BCom
PGDip Accounting
Registered Auditor 
CA(SA)

Mr Vernon Makaleni 7 Independent 
Member

BCom (Accounting)
Master’s in Public Administration (MPA)
Postgraduate Diploma: Management (Specialising in 
Corporate Governance)
Management Advancement Programme (MAP)
Certified Director 

Adv. Matime 
Manasoe 6 Independent 

Member

LLM
Postgraduate diploma in drafting and interpretation of 
contracts
Advance certificate in construction contracts
LLB 

Mr John Raphela 5 Independent 
Member

MBA
Prince2 Certification
BSC Computer Science

 Dr Charles Motaung
Chairperson of the ICT 

Steering Committee
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5.6 Remuneration of Board members
Board members and independent members of the ARC were remunerated in line with the Accounting Authority and Committees 
Remuneration Policy as informed by the National Treasury and DHET guidelines. Board meetings were remunerated at a daily 
rate aligned to Category S. Board members were also reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses.

Table 9: Board remuneration and disbursements for the financial year ended 31 March 2022

NAME OF MEMBER

BOARD AND COMMITTEES 
REMUNERATION 

R '000

OTHER 
DISBURSEMENTS 

R '000

Ms Lynette Ntuli 236 40

Ms Mamatshililo Nhlapo 155 36

Ms Rofhiwa Singo 147 26

Mr James Maboa 190 37

Mr Xola Lingani 138 26

Mr Metuse Mbasa 233 70

Ms Thandi Masemola 248 90

Mr Nthato Mapiloko 175 95

Ms Tlakale Phatlane 173 62

Mr Bongani Mathibela 249 59

Ms Malebo Magasa 250 18

Ms Mopo Mushwana 176 74

Ms Angel Nyathela-Mahanjana 199 16

Ms Pumla Ngwenya 95 27

Mr Peterson Khumalo 190 17

Audit and Risk Committee

Mr Vernon Makaleni
Independent Member

Adv. Matime Manasoe
Independent Member

Mr John Raphela
Independent Member

Ms Malande Tonjeni
Independent Chairperson

Ms Rofhiwa Singo
Accounting Authority Member

Mr Peterson Khumalo
Accounting Authority Member
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FASSET has and maintains an approved risk management policy, enterprise-wide risk management framework, risk appetite 
and tolerance statements which are regularly reviewed. These documents provide a standard guide on how enterprise-wide risk 
management is rolled out throughout FASSET.

The policy statement clarifies that the Board, along with its executives and management, recognises that risk management is a 
critical management tool for ensuring the achievement of objectives or outcomes and ultimately delivering on its mandate.
Risk assessments are conducted annually and reviewed quarterly, and as part of the review process emerging risks are identified. 
A Risk Management Committee (RMC), which focuses on risk management and compliance matters, is in place and meets 
quarterly. The RMC is chaired by an independent non-executive member reporting to the ARC. 

The ARC with independent non-executive members is in place. The committee provides an oversight function on behalf of the 
Board to assess the effectiveness of the risk management process.

Risk management implementation and compliance plans were developed and approved for the period under review. These plans 
guided risk and compliance activities for the period under review. Quarterly risk and compliance progress reports are tabled at 
the RMC for consideration and recommendation to ARC for review and approval.

Internal audit conducted a risk management review. The review revealed gaps and recommended control improvement 
action plans. Management is in the process of implementing the recommendations. Progress made on implementation of 
recommendations will be assessed during the follow-up review scheduled for the 2022/23 financial year.

6.	RISK	MANAGEMENT
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The RMC assists the Board in fulfilling its risk management and control responsibilities in accordance with prescribed legislation 
and corporate governance principles. 

The RMC is chaired by an independent and non-executive member of ARC, Mr Vernon Makaleni. The chairperson is 
remunerated in terms of the National Treasury Board remuneration guidelines. RMC meetings were held quarterly during  
the reporting period.

The committee is composed of the following members:
• Independent Chairperson;
• Chief Executive Officer;
• Chief Operations Officer;
• Chief Financial Officer;
• Chief Information Officer;
• Director: Research;
• Director: Corporate Services;
• Company Secretary;
• Legal Manager; and
• Audit, Risk and Compliance Manager.

Any other person who may be co-opted to provide specialist skills and advice is invited.

During the period under review, the following activities were undertaken and demonstrate the commitment of the RMC to 
achieving its mandate:
• Reviewed the RMC Charter and recommended to ARC for consideration and approval;
• Developed and implemented RMC work plan;
• Evaluated the effectiveness of the RMC and developed an action plan to address identified gaps; 
• Reviewed the Risk Management and compliance policies and plans and submitted to ARC for review and recommendation to 

Board for approval;
• Reviewed FASSET’s risk identification and assessment methodologies and obtained reasonable assurance of the completeness 

and accuracy of the risk registers; 
• Received and considered regular reports in relation to risk-management and compliance-related activities from the Audit, Risk 

and Compliance department. These reports reflected on strategic, operational, and fraud-related risks;
• Reviewed the strategic, operational and fraud risk registers and submitted to ARC for review and recommendation to Board for 

approval; and
• Reviewed Compliance Regulatory Universe, Compliance Risk Management Plans, Policy Universe Register, Compliance 

Monitoring reports, checklists and recommended to ARC for approval.

The main responsibilities of the committee include, among others, the following:
• Developing policies and procedures related to risk management;
• Evaluating the effectiveness of mitigating strategies to address the material risks of FASSET;
• Reviewing processes in place or recommend processes to enable complete, timely, relevant, accurate and acceptable risk 

disclosure;
• Reporting to the ARC any material changes to the risk profile of FASSET;
• Reviewing the Fraud Prevention Policy for recommendation to the ARC and approval by the Board;
• Evaluating the effectiveness of the implementation of the fraud prevention policy;
• Reviewing policy documents which should incorporate compliance with laws, regulations, ethics, policies and procedures, rules 

regarding conflict of interest; and
• Reviewing any material findings and recommendations by assurance providers on the system of risk management, and monitor 

that appropriate action is instituted to address the identified weaknesses.

7.	RISK	MANAGEMENT	COMMITTEE
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Internal audit is an independent function governed by an internal audit charter, approved by the ARC. The internal audit charter 
defines the role, organisational status, authority, responsibilities and scope of the internal audit activity. Internal audit assists 
FASSET to accomplish its objectives by bringing a disciplined, systematic approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness 
of risk management, internal controls and governance processes. 

FASSET’s internal audit function is outsourced to Ntumba and Associates Consulting for the duration of the period under review.  
The internal audit function reports administratively to CEO and functionally to the ARC. The following audits were undertaken in 
the 2021/22 financial year: 
• Audit of Predetermined Objectives (AoPo Q2 & 3);
• Projects Quality Assurance Department (Discretionary Grants Process);
• Discretionary Grants Projects Site Visits;
• Risk Management Reviews;
• Human Resources Management Review;
• ICT Data Migration Process;
• Corporate Governance Reviews; and
• Follow up on prior year audit findings.

The following planned audits were deferred to the next financial year 2022/23: 
• Marketing and Communications;
• Supply Chain Management; and
• IT general and application controls.

Planned vs completed audits

8.	INTERNAL	AUDIT	FUNCTION

Deferred Audits

Completed Audits

Planned Audits

0 2 4 6 8 10 12
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9.	COMPLIANCE	WITH	LAWS	AND	REGULATIONS
FASSET reviews its regulatory environment on a regular basis and has developed and approved a Compliance Regulatory 
Universe for all applicable laws and regulations. 

PFMA compliance checklists are completed and presented to ARC quarterly before submission to the relevant stakeholders. 
During the period under review, FASSET complied with all laws and regulations impacting its operations. 

Significant focus and effort were put into the development of controls to ensure compliance with the POPIA Act, 4 of 2013,  
and a service provider was appointed to conduct an assessment. The results of the assessment and review indicated gaps  
which are currently being addressed by management.

In terms of BBBEE, to improve the scorecard, FASSET is taking an active role in performing activities that will improve the  
BBBEE level.

10.	FRAUD	AND	CORRUPTION
The Fraud Prevention Plan was developed within the context of the Risk Management Framework with the aim of reducing fraud.
Various measures have been implemented to prevent fraud. These include:
• Authorisation;
• Custody of assets;
• Detection controls;
• Physical supervision;
• Management information;
• Segregation of duties; and
• Physical security and information security.

The Fraud Prevention Policy includes response mechanisms to report, investigate and resolve incidents of fraud impacting 
FASSET. An outsourced service provider maintains a fraud reporting hotline, where employees and stakeholders report incidents 
of corruption, fraud and unethical practices within the workplace. Monthly reports from the hotline service provider are dealt with 
confidentially in line with the approved internal policy for handling fraud allegations. FASSET also has a Whistleblowing Policy in 
place to encourage anonymous reporting of any possible fraudulent or corrupt activities without the fear of victimisation. During 
the 2021/22 financial year, FASSET did not receive any reports of internal or external corruption or fraud.

11.	MINIMISING	CONFLICT	OF	INTEREST
FASSET abides by the following principle: A constituent, representative or employee of FASSET who is directly or indirectly 
interested in any business of FASSET or the committee of which he/she is a member, or who holds any office, or possesses any 
property that might cause a conflict of interest or duties or such possible perception, must:
• Declare such interest or potential conflict of interest;
• Disclose, in writing, to the Board and CEO (in the case of an employee) any conflict of interest or duties, or possible 

perception of such, as soon as practicable after he/she becomes aware of the relevant facts and shall not participate in the 
discussion or of the decision taken; and

• Not take part in any transaction between FASSET and any company, firm or enterprise in which he/she, or any member of his/
her family, has an interest, without declaring such interest and having been specifically authorised by the Board to take part in 
the transaction.

All disclosures made to a meeting of the Board, and related decisions and motivations, are recorded in the minutes of the 
meeting.
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12.	CODE	OF	CONDUCT
FASSET is committed to a policy of fair dealing and integrity in the conduct of its business. This commitment, which is actively 
endorsed by the Board, is based on a fundamental belief that FASSET’s affairs should be conducted honestly, fairly, ethically 
and legally. FASSET expects all constituencies, representatives and employees to share in its commitment to high moral, ethical, 
governance and legal standards and be aware of and adhere to FASSET’s Code of Conduct. Procedures are in place to deal 
with any breach of the Code of Conduct.

13.	HEALTH	SAFETY	AND	ENVIRONMENTAL	ISSUES
The health and safety of employees is one of FASSET’s priorities. Having navigated a challenging period, grappling with the 
Covid-19 pandemic, the organisation is grateful that no lives were lost during this financial year. FASSET planted a tree on its 
premises in honour of loved ones lost to the Covid-19 pandemic. Staff had an opportunity to share their stories of loss and pain.

While the tree is a beautiful memory for the families, it also provides oxygen, cleans the air and helps combat climate change. The 
organisation continues its efforts to protect the environment through consciously using minimal paper for printing, saving water 
and generally being kind to the environment. Plans are afoot to centralise and digitise records management in the organisation.

14.	COMPANY	SECRETARY

The Board is cognisant of the duties of the Company Secretary and an environment exists in which 
the Company Secretary can ensure full adherence to Board procedures and relevant regulations. 
The main role of the Company Secretary is to provide guidance on Board members’ fiduciary 
responsibilities and duties, as well as corporate governance procedures.

15.	SOCIAL	RESPONSIBILITY
The PFMA precludes public entities from using public funds to support corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives. FASSET’s 
CSR initiatives are, therefore, staff driven and voluntary in line with its commitment to making a difference, however slight, in the 
communities in which it operates.

Mapula Thebethe
Company Secretary
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) in terms of Regulations 27 (1)(10)(b) and (b) of the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA). We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

During the period under review, the following activities were undertaken and demonstrate the commitment of the ARC to 
achieving its mandate:
• Reviewed the ARC Charter; 
• Considered and approved the Risk Management Committee Charter;
• Considered and approved the strategic and operational risk registers as part of the risk management processes;
• Considered and approved the internal audit plan and monitored implementation thereof through the quarterly progress 

reports and made recommendations as appropriate;
• As part of the management of compliance with laws and applicable legislation, the committee introduced a compliance 

checklist to assist the organisation to monitor compliance with the organisation’s regulatory universe, statutory reporting, and 
organisational policies;

• Conducted separate informal meetings with management, internal and external audit;
• Considered reports from internal and external audit including audit plans, reports, and management’s follow-up of matters 

requiring attention; and
• Provided guidance on the development of the ICT governance framework and policies.

16.1 Audit and Risk Committee responsibility
The Audi and Risk Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1)(a)(iii) and 76 (4)(d) 
of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 27.1.7 and 27.1.10(b) and (c).

The ARC also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its ARC Charter, has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter, and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

The ARC has oversight responsibilities for financial management, internal controls, management and monitoring of the risk 
management policy and planning, compliance with laws, regulations, and ethics, accounting and financial reporting, internal 
and external audit functions, and ICT governance. 

The ARC developed an annual work plan that assisted in carrying out its responsibilities and monitoring progress thereto.
The ARC is accountable to the Accounting Authority (Board) and has reported to the Board every quarter on how it discharged 
responsibilities contained in its charter, which, among others, act as an oversight function for:
• Financial management;
• ICT governance;
• Risk management and internal audit;
• Compliance with laws, regulations, and good ethics;
• Reporting practices;
• External audit; and
• Considered hotline services reports and established whether appropriate action was taken by management
 

Composition
The ARC is made up of four independent members and two Board representatives. The collective skills and expertise of the 
members of this committee include extensive knowledge and expertise in public sector accounting, GRAP standards, the PFMA, 
National Treasury Regulations, ICT governance, King IV, etc.

16.	AUDIT	AND	RISK	COMMITTEE	REPORT
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Table 10: Audit and Risk Committee attendance 2021/22

Name
Number of meetings 
attended (7)

Date appointed Constituency

Ms Malande Tonjeni 7 01 September 2020 Independent Chairperson

Ms Rofhiwa Singo 7 01 September 2020 Community Organisation

Mr Peterson Khumalo 7 01 September 2020 Organised Employer

Mr Vernon Makaleni 6 01 September 2020 Independent Member

Adv. Matime Manasoe 7 01 September 2020 Independent Member

Mr John Raphela1 5 01 November 2021 Independent Member

1 Appointed onto the Committee November 2021

Please refer to page 114 for Accounting Authority remuneration.

Table 11: Audit and Risk Committee remuneration rate in 2021/22

Designation Preparation fee/Meeting attendance

Chairperson R11 098

Member R8 634

16.2 The effectiveness of internal control
In line with the PFMA, Internal Audit is expected to provide the ARC and management with the assurance that the internal 
controls are appropriate and effective. This is to be achieved through the risk audit based process, the identification of corrective 
actions, and suggested enhancements to controls and processes.

The internal audit function provided status progress reports every quarter to the committee. The progress reports provided 
status updates on the implementation of the audit plan, some audit findings, and status updates on the implementation of 
recommendations.

Our review of the findings raised by Internal Audit, revealed certain weaknesses, which were then raised with the SETA.

The internal audit function provided reasonable assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of governance, risk management, 
and control processes. It highlighted that the overall control environment needs improvement having identified some practices 
that do not comply to set policies, in some instances the entity policies were not adequate to address key risks. These mainly 
related to the IT data migration process. Prompt corrective action would be implemented to address the weaknesses to 
strengthen the control environment.

Activities in the organisation are governed by written policies and procedures that are reviewed and approved by the relevant 
governance committees. Management and employees monitor these controls throughout the organisation with the necessary 
delegation of authority and segregation of duties. The areas of concern relate to some practices that do not comply with set 
policies and, in some instances, policies were not adequate to address key risks.

The internal audit work conducted during the year focused on the following:
• Performance information reporting;
• Discretionary Grants Projects Site Visits;
• Quality Assurance (grants process);
• Human resources management;
• IT Data Migration;
• Risk management;
• Corporate governance; and
• Follow-up audits.
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16.3 In-year management and monthly/quarterly report
FASSET has submitted monthly and quarterly reports to the Executive Authority.

16.4 Evaluation of Annual Financial Statements
The ARC has:
• Reviewed the report of the AGSA (Auditor-General of South Africa) on the Audited Annual Financial Statements to be included 

in the Annual Integrated Report;
• Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and management’s response thereto;
• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the external audit; and
• Reviewed and adopted the Auditor-General’s report.

16.5 Auditor’s report
The Auditor-General considered internal control relevant to the audit of the financial statements, reported performance 
information and compliance with applicable legislation and did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.  

In the Auditor-General’s opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Finance and Accounting Services Sector Education and Training Authority as at 31 March 2022, and its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Standards Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and 
the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA) and the Skills Development Act 97 of 1998 (SDA). 

The Committee welcomes improvement of the audit outcome and the Auditor-General’s clean audit opinion on the audited 
financial statements and performance information.  

Ms Malande Tonjeni CA(SA)
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee 
31 July 2022
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The following table has been completed in accordance with the compliance to the BBBEE requirements of the BBBEE Act of 
2013 and as determined by the Department of Trade, Industry and Competition. 

Table 12: Application of relevant Code of Good Practice (BBBEE Certificate Levels 1–8)

Has the Department/Public Entity applied any relevant Code of Good Practice (BBBEE Certificate Levels 1–8) with 
regards to the following:

Criteria
Response
Yes/No

Discussion

Determining qualification criteria for the issuing of 
licences, concessions or other authorisations in respect of 
economic activity in terms of any law?

No FASSET does not issue licenses, concessions or 
authorisations.

Developing and implementing a preferential procurement 
policy? Yes The Supply Chain Management policy is in place and 

covers the preferential procurement requirements.

Determining qualification criteria for the sale of state-
owned enterprises? No Not applicable.

Developing criteria for entering partnerships with the 
private sector? No

FASSET has opened a window inviting employers, 
government-related entities including local municipalities, 
NGOs, higher learning institutions, e.g. universities, TVET 
colleges to apply to and partner with interventions that 
are linked to national priorities or the needs from the 
finance and accounting sector.

Determining criteria for the awarding of incentives, grants 
and investment schemes in support of Broad- Based Black 
Economic Empowerment?

Yes
FASSET has prioritised SMMEs in terms of allocations and 
employers where the BBBEE level was sitting at a rating 
of 1 to 4.

17.	BBBEE	COMPLIANCE	PERFORMANCE	INFORMATION
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The Corporate Services 
Department oversees the 
human resources functions as 
well as facilities management. 
In terms of human resources, 
this department looks after 
the heart of the organisation 
– its people. Focus areas 
include learning development, 
performance management, 
and wellness services. Labour 

relations, recruitment administration, remuneration, leave, 
and organisational development are also managed from 
this department. Facilities management includes everything 
that ensures the FASSET family can excel in an environment 
conducive to productivity, safety and efficiency: from office 
management to cleanliness to adherence to Covid-19 
regulations, records management, occupational health and 
safety, and so on.

During the reporting year, as part of continued 
acclimatisation to a changed work environment because 
of the pandemic, the Corporate Services team developed 
a work-from-home policy that has been approved by the 
Board. 

Much work has gone into ensuring that there is no 
interruption in terms of service delivery, that employees have 
the necessary tools of trade to do their work, but also that 
their emotional wellbeing is looked after during an extended 
time of uncertainty and loss. The nature of each job was 
scrutinised to ensure employees have what they need in 
terms of laptops and data within the boundaries of financial 
prudence. For example, the cleaners and receptionist who 
could not work during the stricter lockdown levels did 
not need laptops on a permanent basis but worked on a 
rotational system. The ICT team rose to the challenge of 
helping employees getting familiar with online platforms  
and digital technologies.

Employee value proposition
The FASSET value proposition continues to encompass 
recruitment, remuneration, training and wellness; this in 
turn ensures that individuals are presented with all the 
support they need to enhance their skills and become part 
of a high-performance culture. The wellness programme 
introduced during the previous financial year was made 
use of extensively during the reporting year. The employee 
assistance programme is made available via a third party 

and has been a welcome addition to helping employees 
navigate difficult situations and trauma, especially relating to 
Covid-19. 

Workshops offered during the year focused on, among 
others, grieving, and managing stress. Empowering 
employees to look after their physical and mental health does 
not only help the employee and their families – the service 
extends to family members too – but it also benefits the 
SETA’s ability to deliver on its mandate. In terms of physical 
health, looking forward, the organisation is exploring offering 
a physical fitness centre or components thereof to employees.

Recruitment and training
Recruitment took a front seat during the reporting year  
to fill vacant positions from the previous year. A total of  
17 positions were filled to ensure business continuity. 

The training and development programme includes internal 
training as well as formal training required by the particular 
employee to achieve a formal qualification. In this way, the 
ICT manager obtained his degree in information technology, 
and a number of others aim to complete their studies in the 
new financial year. Employees are also given an opportunity 
to act in higher level positions as a means of growth and to 
retain staff, for example the Research Director acted in the 
position of Chief Operating Officer for a time, the Labour 
Relations Specialist is currently acting as the Legal Manager, 
and a Project Specialist is acting as an Assistant Project 
Manager, to name but a few.

“The Corporate Services Department 
had a good year, but among 

the many achievements it is the 
assistance to ensure employee 

wellbeing that stands out. Helping 
employees cope with the added stress 
of working from home, getting used 
to digital technologies and online 

meetings, falling prey to Covid-19 or 
dealing with sick family members or 
the death of loved ones, all required 
an intensified focus on looking out  
for one another and helping others 

help themselves.”

1.	CORPORATE	SERVICES	DEPARTMENT:	LOOKING	AFTER	
THE	HEART	OF	FASSET	

Nokulunga Mthombeni
Director Corporate Services 
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LABOUR MATTERS

1 
Verbal 

warning

2 
Written 

warnings

0 
Final written 

warnings 

4 
Suspensions

 

0 
Dismissals

 

7 
Total

 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING DEVELOPMENT

32 
Training 

initiatives 
completed

7 
Employees 

received study 
assistance 

39 
Total training 
interventions

 

80% 
Annual 

training target 
 

87% 
Total training 
achievement 

Target 
overachieved

RECRUITMENT

Chief 
Information 

Officer

ICT Manager 
(internal 

candidate)

Projects 
Specialist

Projects 
Administrators 

X2

Director 
Corporate 
Services

Programme 
Manager

Grants 
Specialist 
(internal 

candidate)

Occupational 
Health 

and Safety 
Administrator

Company 
Secretary

Assistant 
Programme 
Manager x2  

(internal 
candidates)

Labour 
Relations 
Specialist

Office 
Attendants 

X2

Assistant 
Programme 
Manager 

Grants 
Administrator

Assistant 
Supply Chain 

Manager

Top and Senior 
Management

Management

Specialists and 
Administrators
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A highlight of the year has been the establishment of the 
Labour Relations Component, a function new to FASSET. 

The filling of intern positions remains important and during 
the year under review, FASSET appointed 23 interns. Gaps 
ideally suited to interns are identified in FASSET, the positions 
are advertised and interviews held. While qualifications 
are important, the interview panel also looks at whether 
these individuals, who are more often than not new to the 
workplace, are enthusiastic to gain experience and continue 
learning. Grateful feedback from line managers attests to 
the value added by the interns as well as an eagerness to 
contribute to the success of the organisation. Interns are 
mentored and validated during meetings.

The internships, apart from honing technical skills, also offer 
the opportunity to learn how to work professionally and 
manage workplace dynamics. It makes a difference on a 
curriculum vitae and is often a deciding factor when applying 
for a permanent position as someone starting out in their 
career. 

Noteworthy
• Staff satisfaction is measured annually to ensure that the 

environment is inclusive and conducive to growth and 
productivity. In the previous financial year, staff satisfaction 
was at 61%. FASSET is pleased to note that this figure has 
improved to 74% in the year under review. 

• All Human Resource policies were reviewed internally – 
without incurring costs from a service provider – and the 
22nd policy regarding working from home was developed 
and approved. 

• The FASSET management and the union NEHAWU as 
labour partners had an engagement to review all FASSET 
Human Resources policies as well as the Recognition 
Agreement between FASSET and NEHAWU. Those policies 
were presented to the HREMCO for recommendations and 

the FASSET Board for approval. These policies are planned 
to be workshopped with all FASSET employees to ensure 
compliance across the organisation.

• Alignment of job profiles and performance agreements for 
executives and management was successfully concluded.

• Disciplinary cases were effectively finalised by the newly 
established labour relations function.

• Of concern is the number of managers who have vacated 
their positions during the year. FASSET is fortunate that 
those who have been given the opportunity to act in 
vacant positions contributed to service delivery being 
uncompromised.

• Plans for the new financial year include leveraging national 
commemorative days, such as Youth Day, etc. This has 
not been done before, but the Corporate Services team 
believes that apart from awareness raising, these days – 
and even men’s and women’s fora to give a voice to issues 
like gender-based violence, among others – could also 
service to forge cohesiveness among staff. 

“The Corporate Services Department 
enables and empowers the rest of 

FASSET to do their work and achieve 
FASSET’s vision by sourcing and 
placing of best talent. The SETA 

is labour intensive and hence it is 
critical that human resources are 
at their best – technically as well 
as physically and mentally. The 

SETA strives for excellence and this 
necessitates the same value to be 
demonstrated in human resources 

best practice.”

Botshelo Kgopa – intern networking his way upwards

Botshelo Kgopa graduated with a BSc Hons in Computer 
Science in 2021. He joined FASSET in September 2021 as 
an intern and then moved to join Huawei in January 2022 
as a permanent employee. At the time of writing this, he 
was employed as a network engineer. 

About the difference that the FASSET internship made to this 
career trajectory, he says, 

“It made a lot of difference. It gave 
me an experience of a good working 
environment. I had the ICT manager 
as a mentor to guide me through my 

career start-up and gained a lot of skills 
from the ICT team. I was also able to 
assist in building a website for FASSET 

which was good for my CV.”

Beneficiary	spotlight
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2.1 Personnel related expenditure

Table 13: Personnel cost by programme/activity/objective

Programme/activity/objective

Total 
expenditure 
for the entity 

(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure

No. of 
employees

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

(R’000)

Administration 95 448 26 072 27 48 543

Skills Planning 87 902 8 363 10 19 440

Learning Programmes 559 906 12 332 2 29 425

Quality Assurance 3 845 1 704 44 3 568

Total 747 101 48 471 83 99 1 976

Table 14: Personnel cost by salary band

Level

Personnel 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure

No. of 
employees

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

(R’000)

Top Management 7 648 16 4 1 912

Senior Management 3 774 8 3 1 258

Managers 15 801 32 17 929

Professional qualified 637 1 1 637

Skilled 11 711 24 22 532

Semi-skilled 7 610 16 22 346

Unskilled 1 290 3 30 43

Total 48 471 100 99 5 657

2.2 Performance rewards
The 2021/22 financial year bonuses will be finalised in the first quarter of the 2022/23 financial year and will also be paid to 
staff in the 2022/23 financial year.

Table 15: Training costs 

Programme/activity/objective

Personnel 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Training 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Training 
expenditure 

as a % of 
personnel cost

No. of 
employees 

trained

Average 
training cost 

per employee

Administration 26 072 162 1 9 18

Skills Planning 8 363 16 0 3 5

Learning Programmes 12 332 261 2 23 11

Quality Assurance 1 704 10 1 2 5

FASSET stepped-up ongoing learning and development, providing training to all employees despite the pandemic, resulting in 
83% of targets met in this area.

2.	HUMAN	RESOURCE	OVERSIGHT	STATISTICS	

FASSET Annual Integrated Report 2021/22  |  77

PART D: HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT



2.3 Employment and vacancies

Table 16: Employment and vacancies by programme/activity/objective

Programme/activity/objective

2020/21
No. of

employees

2021/22
Approved 

posts

2021/22
No. of 

employees
2021/22
Vacancies

% of 
vacancies

Administration 31 41 27 14 14

Skills Planning 10 20 12 8 8

Learning Programmes 19 33 29 4 4

Quality Assurance 3 7 5 2 2

Total 63 101* 73** 28 28

* Total is inclusive of 10 approved intern positions for the financial year.
**Total is inclusive of 8 interns recruited in the financial year.

Table 17: Employment and vacancies by salary band

Level

2020/21
No. of

employees

2021/22
Approved 

posts

2021/22
No. of 

employees
2021/22
Vacancies

% of 
vacancies

Top Management 3 4 4 0 0

Senior Management 1 4 3 1 1

Managers 11 21 11 10 10

Professional qualified 3 2 1 1 1

Skilled 19 31 21 10 10

Semi-skilled 19 26 22 4 4

Unskilled 3 3 3 0 0

Total 59 91 65 26 26

Table 17  totals exclude the 10 HET and WBE interns.

2.4 Employment changes

Table 18: Employment changes by salary band

Level

Employment at 
beginning of 

period Appointments Terminations

Employment 
at end of the 

period

Top Management 3 1 0 4

Senior Management 1 2 0 3

Managers 11 6 6 11

Professional qualified 3 0 0 2

Skilled 19 3 0 22

Semi-skilled 19 4 1 23

Unskilled 3 2 2 3

Total 59 18 9 68

FASSET had 15 new appointments, four promotions, and eight new HET interns.
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Table 19: Reasons for staff leaving 

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 0 0

Resignation 8 8

Dismissal 0 0

Retirement 1 1

Ill health 0 0

Expiry of contract 0 0

Other (Interns’ term ended) 0 0

Total 9 9

Table 20: Labour relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

Nature of disciplinary action Number

Verbal warning 1

Written warning 2

Final written warning 0

Suspensions 4

Dismissal 0

Total 7

2.5 Equity target and employment equity status

Table 21: Male staff by salary band

Level

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Managers 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 4

Professional qualified 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled 8 10 0 0 0 0 0 1

Semi-skilled 8 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 24 14 1 0 1 0 1 6
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Table 22: Female staff by salary band

Level

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Manager 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Professional qualified 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled 12 0 1 0 0 1 0 0

Semi-skilled 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 36 0 2 0 0 1 0 5

Table 23: Disabled staff by salary band

Level

Male Female

Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 0 0 0 1

Skilled 0 1 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 0 1 0

Unskilled 0 0 1 0

Total 0 1 2 1
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Revenue 7% 
 than budget

HIGH	LEVEL	OVERVIEW	OF	THE	ANNUAL	
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

total 
assets

total 
liabilities

R79 million 
net surplus

R468 million 
commitment balance

Revenue for the period under review is 
R652 million which is 7% above budget.

A total of 
R362 million 
liabilities 
have been 
recognised at 
year end due 
to expenditure 
being 
recognised at 
year end. 

Overall expenditure is lower than the 
budget, the total grant expenditure is 
R493 million. As a result, the net surplus for 
the period is R79 million.

The current commitment balance at year 
end is R468 million which is 66% of the 
current accumulated surplus, an 
additional 16% was confirmed after 
year end leaving 18% (R127 million) still 
available for new projects. 

Overall asset 
balances 
increased, 
the total asset 
balance was 
R1.070 billion 
of which 
R1.060 billion in 
bank and cash 
balances at 
year end. 

R

Zakariya Alli
Chief Financial Officer
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The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of FASSET's Annual Financial Statements and for judgements made
in compiling this information.

It is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control to provide reasonable assurance as to the
integrity and reliability of the Annual Financial Statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements fairly reflect the operations of FASSET for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.
The external auditors have a statutory duty to express an independent opinion on FASSET's Annual Financial Statements for
the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

The Audited Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 88 to 119, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the Accounting Authority on 31 July 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

  

Ms Lynette Ntuli      Ms Ayanda Mafuleka CA(SA)
Chairperson of Board     Chief Executive Officer

Statement of Responsibility 
for the Annual Financial Statements
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Report	of	the	Auditor-General	to	Parliament	
on the Finance and Accounting Services Sector Education and Training Authority

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
1. I have audited the financial statements of the Finance 

and Accounting Services Sector Education and Training 
Authority set out on pages 88 to 119, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, the 
statement of financial performance, statement of changes 
in net assets, cash flow statement and statement of 
comparison of budget information with actual information 
for the year then ended, as well as notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the  financial position of the 
Finance and Accounting Services Sector Education and 
Training Authority as at 31 March 2022, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Standards Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the 
Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA) and 
the Skills Development Act 97 of 1998(SDA). 

Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the auditor-
general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of my report. 

4. I am independent of the public entity in accordance with 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International code of ethics for professional accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA 
code) as well as other ethical requirements that are 
relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA code. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Responsibilities of the accountity authority for the 
financial statements
6. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation 

and fair presentation of the  financial statements in 
accordance with the Standards Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the 
the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA) 
and the Skills Development Act 97 of 1998(SDA), and 
for such internal control as the accounting authority 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

7. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting 
authority is responsible for assessing the public entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the appropriate governance structure either intends to 
liquidate the public entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the  financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is included in the annexure to this 
auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual performance 
report
Introduction and scope
10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act 25 of 2004 

(PAA) and the general notice issued in terms thereof, 
I have a responsibility to report on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information against 
predetermined objectives for selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report. I performed 
procedures to identify material findings but not to gather 
evidence to express assurance.

11. My procedures address the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information, which must be based 
on the public entity’s approved performance planning 
documents. I have not evaluated the completeness and 
appropriateness of the performance indicators included 
in the planning documents. My procedures do not 
examine whether the actions taken by the public entity 
enabled service delivery. My procedures do not extend 
to any disclosures or assertions relating to the extent of 
achievements in the current year or planned performance 
strategies and information in respect of future periods 
that may be included as part of the reported performance 
information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to 
these matters. 

12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information in accordance with the criteria 
developed from the performance management and 
reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for 
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the following selected programmes presented in the public 
entity’s annual performance report for the year ended 
31 March 2022:

Programmes
Pages in the annual 
performance report

Programme 3 – Learning 
Programmes and Projects 44–50

13. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported 
performance information was properly presented and 
whether performance was consistent with the approved 
performance planning documents. I performed further 
procedures to determine whether the indicators and 
related targets were measurable and relevant, and 
assessed the reliability of the reported performance 
information to determine whether it was valid, accurate 
and complete.

14. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance information for 
this programme:
• Programme 3: Learning Programmes and Projects

Other matters
15. I draw attention to the matters below. 

Achievement of planned targets
16. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 40 to 51 

for information on the achievement of planned targets for 
the year and management’s explanations provided for the 
under/over achievement of targets. 

Adjustment of material misstatements
17. I identified material misstatements in the annual 

performance report submitted for auditing. These 
material misstatements were in the reported performance 
information of Programme 3: Learning Programmes and 
Projects. As management subsequently corrected the 
misstatements, I did not raise any material findings on 
the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information.

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation
Introduction and scope
18. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued 

in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material 
findings on the public entity’s compliance with specific 
matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to 
identify findings but not to gather evidence to express 
assurance. 

19. I did not identify any material findings on compliance with 
the specific matters in key legislation set out in the general 
notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Other information
20. The accounting authority is responsible for the other 

information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report. The other 
information does not include the financial statements, the 
auditor’s report and those selected programmes presented 
in the annual performance report that have been 
specifically reported in this auditor’s report. 

21. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on 
the reported performance information and compliance 
with legislation do not cover the other information and I 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion on it.

22. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements and the selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report, or my 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. 

23. I did not receive the other information prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and read 
this information, if I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, I am required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance and request that 
the other information be corrected. If the other information 
is not corrected, I may have to retract this auditor’s report 
and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, 
if it is corrected this will not be necessary.

Internal control deficiencies
24. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the 

financial statements, reported performance information 
and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my 
objective was not to express any form of assurance on 
it. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal 
control.

Pretoria
31 July 2022
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1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements 
and the procedures performed on reported performance 
information for selected programmes and on the public 
entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject 
matters.

Financial statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial 

statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also:
•  identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks; and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal control

•  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
public entity’s internal control

•  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the accounting authority

•  conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting 
authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements. I also 
conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists relating to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
ability of the Finance and Accounting Services Sector 
Education and Training Authority to continue as a going 
concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify my opinion on the financial 
statements. My conclusions are based on the information 
available to me at the date of this auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause a public 
entity to cease operating as a going concern

•  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and determine whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation

Communication with those charged with 
governance
3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, 

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify 
during my audit. 

4. I also provide the accounting authority with a statement 
that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on my independence and, 
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.

Annexure	–	Auditor-general’s	responsibility	for	the	audit
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Statement	of	Financial	Position	
as at 31 March 2022

Note(s)
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Assets

Current assets

Inventories 220 130

Receivables from exchange transactions 3 - 276

Receivables from non-exchange transactions 4 2 765 20 762

Cash and cash equivalents 5 1 059 668 851 432

Total current assets 1 062 653 872 600

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 6 3 356 3 879

Intangible assets 7 4 202 1 256

Total non-current assets 7 558 5 135

Total assets 1 070 211 877 735

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Operating lease liability 8 536 667

Payables from exchange transactions 9 5 693 6 652

Payables from non-exchange transactions 10 106 373 65 570

Provisions 11 249 535 175 354

Total current liabilities 362 137 248 243

Total liabilities 362 137 248 243

Net assets 708 074 629 492

Reserves

Administration reserve 7 558 5 135

Mandatory reserve 548 561

Discretionary reserve 699 968 623 796

Net assets 708 074 629 492
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Statement	of	Financial	Performance
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Note(s)
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions

Investment income 13 30 600 29 798

Profit on disposal of assets 25 -

Total revenue from exchange transactions 30 625 29 798

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Transfer revenue

Levies 14 621 169 401 421

Other income 15 75 155

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions 621 244 401 576

Total revenue 651 869 431 374

Expenditure
Employee related costs 16 (40 143) (31 588)

Internal audit fees (873) (675)

External audit fees (4 433) (2 432)

Depreciation and amortisation (1 886) (1 646)

Lease rentals on operating lease (3 221) (3 195)

Consulting and professional fees 17 (11 744) (12 274)

Employer grant and project expenses 18 (492 925) (408 571)

Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities - (5)

Other administration expenses 19 (18 066) (21 265)

Total expenditure (573 291) (481 651)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 78 578 (50 277)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Administration
reserve

R’000

Mandatory
reserve

R’000

Discretionary
reserve

R’000

Total 
reserves

R’000

Total net
assets
R’000

Balance at 01 April 2020 4 960 1 288 673 523 679 771 679 771

Changes in net assets

Deficit for the year - - - - (50 277)

Allocation of accumulated deficit
Note 12 (20 577) 40 093 (69 793) (50 277) -

Excess reserves transferred to discretionary reserve 20 752 (40 820) 20 066 (2) (2)

Total changes 175 (727) (49 727) (50 279) (50 279)

Balance at 01 April 2021 5 135 561 623 796 629 492 629 492

Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year - - - - 78 578

Allocation of accumulated surplus 
Note 12 1 220 59 335 18 023 78 578 -

Excess reserve transferred to discretionary reserve 1 203 (59 348) 58 149 4 4

Total changes 2 423 (13) 76 172 78 582 78 582

Balance at 31 March 2022 7 558 548 699 968 708 074 708 074
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Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Note(s)
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts
Levies, interest and penalties received 642 296 408 054

Interest income 30 600 29 798

672 896 437 852

Payments (383 652) (303 333)

Grants and project payments (37 097) (32 750)

Compensation of employees (39 603) (36 095)

Payments to suppliers (460 352) (372 178)

Net cash inflows from operating activities 20 212 544 65 674

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6 (962) (627)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6 50 -

Purchase of other intangible assets 7 (3 396) (1 197)

Net cash outflows from investing activities (4 308) (1 824)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 208 236 63 850

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 851 432 787 582

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 1 059 668 851 432
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Budget on Accrual Basis

Approved
budget

R’000
Adjustments

R’000

Final 
Budget

R’000

Actual 
amounts

on 
comparable

basis
R’000

Difference
between 

final
budget and

actual
R’000 Reference

Statement of Financial 
Performance

Revenue
Revenue from exchange 
transactions

Interest received – investment 27 000 - 27 000 30 600 3 600 Note No. 26.1

Revenue from non-exchange 
transactions

Transfer revenue

Levies 580 919 - 580 919 621 169 40 250

Provision for bad debts adjustment - - - 75 75 Note No. 26.4

Total revenue from  
non-exchange transactions 580 919 - 580 919 621 244 40 325

Expenditure
Employee related costs (37 933) - (37 933) (40 143) (2 210)

External audit fees (3 173) (282) (3 455) (4 433) (978) Note No. 26.5

Internal audit fees (800) (100) (900) (873) 27

Depreciation and amortisation - - - (1 886) (1 886) Note No. 26.2

Consulting and professional fees (8 986) (3 754) (12 740) (11 744) 996

Lease rentals on operating lease (3 621) - (3 621) (3 221) 400 Note No. 26.7

Employer grant and project expenses (530 762) (117 042) (647 804) (492 925) 154 879 Note No. 26.3

Administration expenses (22 644) (18 004) (40 648) (18 066) 22 582 Note No. 26.6

Total expenditure (607 919) (139 182) (747 101) (573 291) 173 810

- (139 182) (139 182) 78 553 217 735

Gain on disposal of assets - - - 25 25 Note No. 26.2

Surplus for the year - (139 182) (139 182) 78 578 217 760

Actual amount on comparable
basis as presented in the
Budget and Actual
Comparative Statement - (139 182) (139 182) 78 578 217 760
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Accounting	Policies

1.  Presentation of Audited Annual 
Financial Statements

The Audited Annual Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 
91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 
1999). Accounting policies are in accordance with the 
Skills Development Act, Act No. 97 of 1998, as amended 
and the Skills Development Levies Act, Act No. 9 of 1999, 
as amended.

These Audited Annual Financial Statements have been 
prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in 
accordance with historical cost convention as the basis of 
measurement, unless specified otherwise.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have 
been consistently applied in the preparation of these Audited
Annual Financial Statements, are disclosed below.

1.1  Presentation currency
These Audited Annual Financial Statements are presented 
in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of 
the entity.

1.2  Going concern assumption
These Audited Annual Financial Statements have been 
prepared based on the expectation that the entity will 
continue to operate as a going concern for at least the next 
12 months.

1.3  Significant judgements and sources of 
estimation uncertainty

In preparing the Audited Annual Financial Statements, 
management is required to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts represented in the Audited Annual 
Financial Statements and related disclosures. Use of 
available information and the application of judgement 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results 
in the future could differ from these estimates which may 
be material to the Audited Annual Financial Statements. 
Significant judgements include:

Receivables from exchange transactions
The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the 
entity makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

Receivables from non-exchange transactions
FASSET refunds amounts to employers in the form of grants, 
based on information from SARS. Where SARS retrospectively 
amends the information on levies collected this may result in 
grants that have been paid to affected employers being in 
excess of the amount FASSET would have granted to those 
employers had all information been available at the time of 
paying those grants. A receivable relating to overpayments 
made in earlier periods is recognised at the amount of the 
grant overpayment, net of bad debts and allowance for 
irrecoverable amounts.

Payables from exchange transactions
Payables from exchange transactions are stated at their 
nominal value. The carrying amount of these payables 
approximates fair value due to the short period to maturity of 
these instruments.

Payables from non-exchange transactions
Payables from non-exchange transactions are stated at 
their nominal value. The carrying amount of these payables 
approximates fair value due to the short period to maturity of 
these instruments.

Provisions
Provisions were raised based on management’s estimates 
from the information available. Additional disclosure of these 
estimates of provisions are included in Note 11 – Provisions.

1.4  Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the item will flow to the  
entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item Useful life

Office furniture and fittings 10

Office equipment 5

Computer equipment 3

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss.
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FASSET assess whether there is any indication that the 
expected useful life of the asset has changed based on the 
condition of the asset if it has improved or declined during 
the reporting period.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus 
or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of 
the item.

Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, 
it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 
(i.e. impairment losses are recognised).

1.5  Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or 

service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow 
to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Amortisation is provided to write-down the intangible assets, 
on a straight-line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life

Computer software, other 2 years

Intangible assets under 
development

Over term of contract

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets 
under construction or development, in the notes to the 
financial statements (see Note 7).

Intangible asset under development will be amortised once 
completed and in-use.

Intangible assets are derecognised:
• on disposal; or
• when no future economic benefits or service potential are 

expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible 
assets is included in surplus or deficit when the asset is 
derecognised.

Intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis over 
their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value.

Where the carrying amount of an intangible asset is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount (i.e. impairment losses 
are recognised).

1.6 Financial instruments
Financial assets
All financial assets of FASSET are categorised at amortised 
cost. The classification depends on the nature and purpose 
of the financial asset and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances held at banks 
and deposits made with the Corporation for Public Deposits 
and are stated at amortised cost, which, due to their short-
term nature, closely approximates their fair value.

Financial assets at amortised cost
FASSET classifies receivables from exchange and non-
exchange transactions as financial assets at amortised cost 
and measures these using the effective interest method. 
These financial assets are not quoted in an active market 
and have fixed or determinable payments as defined in the 
standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective  
interest rate.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for impairment at the end of 
each reporting period.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective 
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, 
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 
impacted. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by 
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of receivables from non-exchange transactions 
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
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against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised in surplus 
or deficit for the year.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities of FASSET are measured at amortised 
cost. The classification depends on the nature and purpose 
of the financial liabilities and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition.

FASSET has the following types of financial liabilities (classes 
and category) as reflected on the face of the Statement of
Financial Position or to the notes thereto:

Class Category

Trade and payables Financial liability measured 
at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, 
net of transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments through the expected life of the financial 
liability, or, where appropriate a shorter period.

1.7  Statutory receivables
Identification
Statutory receivables are receivables that arise from 
legislation, supporting regulations, or similar means, and 
require settlement by another entity in cash or another 
financial asset.

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

The cost method is the method used to account for statutory 
receivables that requires such receivables to be measured 
at their transaction amount, plus any accrued interest or 
other charges (where applicable) and, less any accumulated 
impairment losses and any amounts derecognised.

Nominal interest rate is the interest rate and/or basis 
specified in legislation, supporting regulations or similar 
means.

The transaction amount (for purposes of this Standard) for 
a statutory receivable means the amount specified in, or 
calculated, levied or charged in accordance with, legislation, 
supporting regulations, or similar means.

Recognition
The entity recognises statutory receivables as follows:
• if the transaction is an exchange transaction, using the 

accounting policy on Revenue from Exchange Transactions;
• if the transaction is a non-exchange transaction, using the 

policy on Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes 
and transfers); or

• if the transaction is not within the scope of the accounting 
policies listed in the above or another Standard of GRAP, 
the receivable is recognised when the definition of an asset 
is met and, when it is probable that the future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the asset 
will flow to the entity and the transaction amount can be 
measured reliably.

Initial measurement
The entity initially measures statutory receivables at their 
transaction amount.

Subsequent measurement
The entity measures statutory receivables after initial 
recognition using the cost method. Under the cost method, 
the initial measurement of the receivable is changed 
subsequent to initial recognition to reflect any:
• interest or other charges that may have accrued on the 

receivable (where applicable);
• impairment losses; and
• amounts derecognised.

Derecognition
The entity derecognises a statutory receivable, or a part 
thereof, when:
• the rights to the cash flows from the receivable are settled, 

expire or are waived;
• the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the receivable; or
• the entity, despite having retained some significant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the receivable, has 
transferred control of the receivable to another party 
and the other party has the practical ability to sell the 
receivable in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and 
is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without 
needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In 
this case, the entity:
-  derecognise the receivable; and
-  recognise separately any rights and obligations created 

or retained in the transfer.

The carrying amounts of any statutory receivables transferred 
are allocated between the rights or obligations retained and 
those transferred on the basis of their relative fair values at 
the transfer date. The entity considers whether any newly 
created rights and obligations are within the scope of the 
Standard of GRAP on Financial Instruments or another 
Standard of GRAP. Any difference between the consideration 
received and the amounts derecognised and, those amounts 
recognised, are recognised in surplus or deficit in the period 
of the transfer.
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1.8 Tax
No provision has been made for taxation, as the entity is 
exempt from income tax in terms of Section 10 of the Income 
Tax Act, 1962 (Act 58 of 1962).

1.9 Leases
Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability.

1.10 Inventories
Inventories are initially measured at cost except where 
inventories are acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, then their costs are their fair value as at the date 
of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current 
replacement cost where they are held for;
• consumption in the production process of goods to be 

distributed at no charge or for a nominal charge.

Inventories consist of consumables on hand at the reporting 
date and are measured at cost. An individual inventory item 
whose cost does not exceed R1 000 is recognised as an 
expense in their year of acquisition.

1.11 Employee benefits
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an 
entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.
The cost of employee benefits is recognised during the period 
in which the employee renders the related service. Employee 
entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees. 
A provision is made for the estimated liability as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Termination benefits are recognised and expensed only when 
the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the benefits.

Liabilities for annual leave are recognised as they accrue to 
employees. The entity recognises the leave obligation during 
the vesting period based on the best available estimate of 
the accumulated leave expected to vest. The liability is based 
on the total amount of leave days due to employees at year 
end and also on the total remuneration package of the 
employee. The leave liability is recognised as an accrual.

FASSET provides for retirement benefits for all its permanent 
employees through a defined contribution scheme to the 
NMG Umbrella Smart fund that is subject to the Pension 
Funds Act, 1956 (Act No. 24 of 1956) as amended. 

1.12 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past 

event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits or service potential will be required to
• settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

FASSET recognises a provision for the repayment of levies 
contributed by companies exempted from contributing skills 
development levies but continue to do so.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed 
if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits or service potential will be 
required, to settle the obligation.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past 
events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the entity.

A contingent liability is (a) a possible obligation that arises 
from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the entity or (b) a present obligation that arises from past 
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or 
service potential will be required to settle the obligation 
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability.

No provision is made for projects approved at year-end, 
unless the service in terms of the contract has been delivered 
or the contract is of an onerous nature. Items are classified 
as commitments when an entity has committed itself to 
future transactions that will normally result in the outflow of 
cash. Commitments are disclosed in a note to the financial 
statements if both the following criteria are met:
• Contracts should be non-cancellable or cancellable at a 

significant cost; and
• Contracts should relate to something other than the 

routine, steady, state business of the entity – therefore 
salary commitments relating to employment contracts 
are excluded.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in Note 27.
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1.13 Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows 
result in an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form 
of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in 
exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest, royalties and dividends or similar 
distributions is recognised when:
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity, and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Royalties are recognised as they are earned in accordance 
with the substance of the relevant agreements.

Dividends or similar distributions are recognised, in surplus 
or deficit, when the entity’s right to receive payment has been 
established.

Service fees included in the price of the product are 
recognised as revenue over the period during which the 
service is performed.

1.14 Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Non-exchange revenue transactions result in resources being 
received by the entity, usually in accordance with a binding 
arrangement.

When the entity receives resources as a result of a non-
exchange transaction, it recognises an asset and revenue in 
the period that the arrangement becomes binding and when 
it is probable that the entity will receive economic benefits or 
service potential and it can make a reliable measure of the 
resources transferred.

Where the resources transferred to the entity are subject to 
the fulfilment of specific conditions, it recognises an asset 
and a corresponding liability. As and when the conditions are 
fulfilled, the liability is reduced and revenue is recognised.

The asset and the corresponding revenue are measured on 
the basis of the fair value of the asset on initial recognition. 
Non-exchange revenue transactions include the receipt 
of levy income from the Department of Higher Education 
and Training (DHET) and contributions received from 
government departments for which FASSET qualifies as the 
line function SETA.

Adjustments to revenue already recognised, arise from the 
completion of a South African Revenue Services (SARS) 
internal review process, and/or the outcome of an external 
appeal or objection process undertaken by employer 
companies. Adjustments to revenue include any refunds that 
become payable as a result of the completion of a review, 
appeal or objection process. Refunds are recovered directly 
from monthly revenues by SARS, and the SETA recognises 
revenue on net basis as and when it becomes receivable. 
The SETA has no access to or control to the appeal or review 
process carried on by SARS, and hence could not reasonable 
be expected to have access to reliable information at the 
initial stage of recognition. The adjustments to revenue 
already recognised following the outcome of a review, 
appeal or objection process are therefore accounted for as 
a change in an accounting estimate, and not as a correction 
of an error.

Levy income
The accounting policy for the recognition and measurement 
of skills development levy income is based on the Skills 
Development Act (SDA), Act No. 97 of 1998, as amended 
and in the Skills Development Levies Act (SDLA) Act No. 9 of 
1999, as amended.

In terms of Section 3(1) and 3(4) of the SDLA, 1999 as 
amended, registered member companies of the entity pay 
a skills development levy of 1% of the total payroll cost to 
the SARS, who collect the levies on behalf of the DHET. 
Companies with an annual payroll cost less than R500 000 
are exempted in accordance with section 4(b) of the SDLA 
(1999) as amended, effective 1 August 2005.

80% of Skills Development Levies (SDL) are paid over to 
FASSET (net of the 20% contribution to the National Skills 
Fund).

Revenue is adjusted for transfers between the SETAs due to 
employers changing SETAs. Such adjustments are separately 
disclosed as inter-SETA transfers. The amount of the inter-
SETA adjustment is calculated according to the most recent 
Standard Operating Procedure issued by DHET. SDL transfers 
are recognised on an accrual basis when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential will flow to 
the SETA and these benefits can be measured reliably. This 
occurs when the DHET makes an allocation to the entity, as 
required by Section 8 of the SDLA, 1999 as amended.
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In terms of the Department of Public Service and 
Administration circular, circular HRD 1 of 2013, all 
departments are required to set aside a minimum of 1% of 
the total department’s annual personnel budget for training 
and development of its personnel and potential employees. 
30% of this amount is appropriated to the SETA with which 
the department is affiliated. For departments belonging 
to more than one SETA the 30% levy is apportioned 
proportionally. FASSET receives contributions in this regard 
from SARS (as an employer) and National and Provincial 
Treasuries.

Interest and penalties
Interest and penalties received on the SDL are recognised on 
an accrual basis.

1.15 Investment income
Interest income from investments including Corporation for 
Public Deposits and cash held in current accounts, is accrued 
on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal 
outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to 
maturity.

1.16 Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified 
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.17 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made 
in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is 
recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial
Performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. 
The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature 
of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently 
accounted for as revenue in the Statement of Financial 
Performance.

1.18 Irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure as defined in Section 1 of the PFMA  
is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred 
in contravention of or that is not in accordance with 
a requirement of any applicable legislation, including:
(a)  this Act; or
(b)  the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), 

or any regulations made in terms of the Act.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 
during the current financial year and which was condoned 
before year end and/or before finalisation of the financial 
statements must also be recorded appropriately in the 
irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no further 
action is also required with the exception of updating the 
note to the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during 
the current financial year and for which condonement is 
being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular 
expenditure register. No further action is required with the 
exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous 
financial year and is only condoned in the following financial 
year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial 
statements must be updated with the amount condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during 
the current financial year and which was not condoned 
by the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be 
recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. 
If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to 
a person, a debt account must be created if such a person 
is liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to 
recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is 
not possible, the accounting officer or Accounting Authority 
may write-off the amount as debt impairment and disclose 
such in the relevant note to the financial statements.

The irregular expenditure register must also be updated 
accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been 
condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure 
related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/
expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the 
financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular 
expenditure register.

1.19 Events after reporting date
Events after reporting date are those events, both favourable 
and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date and 
the date when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. Two types of events can be identified:
• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at 

the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting 
date); and

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the 
reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting 
date).

The entity will adjust the amount recognised in the financial 
statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date 
once the event occurred.

The entity will disclose the nature of the event and an 
estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such 
estimate cannot be made in respect of all material non-
adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements.
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1.20 Reserves
Net assets are classified based on the restrictions placed on 
the distribution of monies received in accordance with the 
SETA Grant Regulations as follows:
• Administration reserve;
• Mandatory reserve;
• Discretionary reserve; and
• Accumulated surplus.

Employer levy payments are set aside in terms of the SDA 
(1998) and the SETA Grant Regulations for the purpose of:
• Administration costs of the SETA   10.5%
• Employer grant fund levy    20.0%
• Discretionary grants and projects   49.5%
• Contributions to the National Skills Fund  20.0%

Government department levy payments are set aside for the 
purpose of:
• Administration costs of the SETA  33.3%
• Discretionary grants and projects  66.7%

Interest and penalties received from SARS as well as interest 
received on investments is utilised for discretionary grant 
projects.

Surplus funds in the administration and unallocated funds in 
the employer grant reserves are moved to the discretionary 
fund reserve. Provision is made in the administration reserve 
equal to the book value of depreciable assets. Provision 
is made in the employer grant reserve for newly registered 
member companies, participating after the legislative  
cut-off date.

1.21 Grants and project expenditure
A registered employer may recover a maximum of 20% of its 
total levy payment as a mandatory grant (excluding interest 
and penalties) by complying with the criteria in accordance 
with the SDA, 1998, as amended, SETA Grant Regulations 
regarding monies received and related matters.

Mandatory grants
The grant expenditure is recognised when the employer has 
submitted an application for a grant in the prescribed form 
within the legislated cut off period and the application has 
been approved. The grants are equivalent to 20% of the total 
levies contributed by employers.

1.22 Grants
Mandatory grant payments
A liability is recognised for mandatory grant payments once 
the specific criteria set out in the SETA Grant Regulation 
have been complied with by member companies and it is 
probable that the entity will approve the grant application for 
payment. The liability is measured at estimated cash outflow 
as determined in accordance with the SDA (1998). This 
measurement involves an estimate, based on the amount of 
levies received.

Discretionary grant payments
A liability is recognised for discretionary grant payments 
once the specific criteria set out in the SETA Grant Regulation 
and any additional criteria as approved by the Accounting 
Authority have been complied with by member companies 
and it is probable that the entity will approve the grant 
application for payment. The liability is measured at the 
net present value of the expected future cash outflow as 
determined in accordance with the GRAP. This measurement 
involves an estimate, based on the amount of levies received.

Discretionary projects
No provision is made for projects approved at year-end, 
unless the service in terms of the contract has been delivered. 
Where a project has been approved, but has not been 
accrued for or provided for, it is disclosed as approved and 
allocated for future projects in the notes to Annual Financial 
Statements.

Commitments as per the SETA Regulations are defined as 
contractual obligations that exist at the end of the financial 
year that oblige the SETA to make payments or agreement 
(written) with specific terms between a SETA and a third party 
whereby the third party undertakes to perform something in 
relation to a discretionary project for which a SETA will be 
obliged to make a payment against the discretionary grant.

Commitments are disclosed where the entity has, in the 
normal course of its operations, issued an offer to contract or 
entered into a contractual agreement with entities related to 
project expenses which are yet due for payment.

1.23 Related parties
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the 
ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions or if the related party entity or another 
entity are subject to common control. Only disclosed if not  
at arm’s length.
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Notes to the Audited Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
In the current year the entity has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current
financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/Interpretation
Effective date: 
Years beginning on or after Expected impact

Directive 14: The application of Standards of GRAP by 
Public entities that apply IFRS standards

01 April 2021 No impact – FASSET does not apply 
IFRS standards

2.2 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations which have been published and are mandatory for
the entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2022 or later periods:

Standard/Interpretation
Effective date: 
Years beginning on or after Expected impact

GRAP 25: Employee benefits Effective date not yet gazetted Unlikely there will be a
material impact

GRAP 104 (amended): Financial Instruments Effective date not yet gazetted No impact – FASSET has no 
transactions that are affected by the 
suggested changes to this standard.

3. Receivables from exchange transactions
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Pre-payments - 256

Other receivables - 20

- 276

4. Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Statutory receivables 3 114 3 320

Provision for impairment of statutory receivables (594) (670)

Inter-SETA Receivables - 80

Project receivables* - 17 727

Discretionary grants receivables 245 305

2 765 20 762

* An amount of R17 727 000 in prior period relating to the grants refundable from ISFAP for unutilised funds.

R3 114 000 (2021: R3 320 000) was recognised as a statutory receivable relating to the overpayment to levy paying employers 
in prior periods as a result of levy income reversals done by SARS after the grants had been paid. FASSET refunds amounts to 
employers in the form of grants based on information from DHET. Where information is retrospectively amended it may result 
in grants that have been paid to certain employers that are in excess of the amount FASSET is permitted to have granted to 
employers. All of the amounts included in the receivable as a result of the overpayment are over 30 days and a provision has 
been raised per the analysis that follows.
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A statutory receivable relating to the overpayment to the employer in earlier periods is raised at the amount of such grant
overpayment net of bad debts and provision for irrecoverable amounts. The carrying amount of accounts receivable is net of 
allowance for any doubtful debt estimated by the Accounting Authority based on assessment of the risk of non-recoverability. The 
carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of statutory receivables

2022
R‘000

2021
R‘000

Opening balance (670) (825)

Amount reversed 75 155

(595) (670)

The provision is raised for employers with a debit balance who cannot be traced and the  
amount has not changed over six months.

5. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances – FNB current account 279 030 99 674

Reserve Bank (CPD account) 780 638 751 758

1 059 668 851 432

As required in Treasury Regulation 31.2 National Treasury approved the banks where the bank accounts are held. FASSET invests 
surplus funds in line with the Treasury Regulations 31.3.3. During the current year funds were invested with the Corporation for 
Public Deposits. The average interest rate on funds held at the Corporation for Public Deposits was  
3.78% (2021: 3.75%).

6. Property plant and equipment
2022 2021

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
impairment

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
impairment

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Office furniture and fittings 2 053 (596) 1 457 2 087 (432) 1 655

Office equipment 917 (761) 156 919 (670) 249

Computer equipment 4 061 (2 848) 1 213 3 182 (2 134) 1 048

Leasehold improvements 1 711 (1 181) 530 1 711 (784) 927

Total 8 742 (5 386) 3 356 7 899 (4 020) 3 879
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Reconciliation of property plant and equipment – 2022

Opening
balance
R’000

Additions
R’000

Disposals
R’000

Depreciation
R’000

Total
R’000

Office furniture and fittings 1 655 - - (198) 1 457

Office equipment 249 - - (93) 156

Computer equipment 1 048 962 (50) (747) 1 213

Leasehold improvements 927 - - (397) 530

3 879 962 (50) (1 435) 3 356

Reconciliation of property plant and equipment – 2021

Opening
balance
R’000

Additions
R’000

Disposals
R’000

Depreciation
R’000

Total
R’000

Office furniture and fittings 1 861 - (5) (201) 1 655

Office equipment 354 - - (105) 249

Computer equipment 1 177 597 - (726) 1 048

Leasehold improvements 1 293 30 - (396) 927

4 685 627 (5) (1 428) 3 879

Depreciation rates

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Office furniture and fixtures Straight-line 10

Office equipment Straight-line 5

Computer equipment Straight-line 3

Computer software Straight-line 2

Leasehold improvements Straight-line Over the lease term

Intangible assets developed Straight-line Over the term of contract

7. Intangible assets
2022 2021

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

and
accumulated
impairment

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Cost/
Valuation

R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

and
accumulated
impairment

R’000

Carrying 
value
R’000

Computer software 703 (553) 150 574 (385) 189

Intangible assets internally generated 4 334 (282) 4 052 1 067 - 1 067

Total 5 037 (835) 4 202 1 641 (385) 1 256
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Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2022

Opening
balance
R’000

Additions
R’000

Amortisation
R’000

Total
R’000

Computer software 189 129 (168) 150

Intangible assets internally generated 1 067 3 267 (282) 4 052

1 256 3 396 (450) 4 202

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2021

Opening
balance
R’000

Additions
R’000

Amortisation
R’000

Total
R’000

Computer software 275 130 (216) 189

Intangible assets internally generated - 1 067 - 1 067

275 1 197 (216) 1 256

Intangible assets in the process of being constructed or developed
FASSET was in the process of developing a cloud-based system. All expenditure relating to system research phase has been
expensed. All the cost incurred relating to development phase has been capitalised according to GRAP 31. The system was
put into use on 01 November 2021.

8. Operating lease accrual
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Current liabilities 536 667

Lease payments under an operating lease were recognised as an expense in the Statement of  
Financial Performance on a straight-line basis over the lease term in accordance with GRAP 13.

9. Payables from exchange transactions
Trade creditors 399 2 418

Accrued leave pay 2 110 1 748

Administration accruals 3 184 2 486

5 693 6 652

10. Payables from non-exchange transactions
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Skills development grants payable – mandatory * 59 795 9 491

Transfers payable - -

Inter-SETA payables 149 -

Project accruals 40 299 35 882

Project creditors 1 799 9 662

Levy creditors 4 331 10 535

106 373 65 570

*  Mandatory grants balance is higher than the prior financial year due to payments not yet done as at 31 March 2022 as a result of 
challenges in implementing the new ERP system.
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11. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions – 2022

Opening
balance
R‘000

Additions
R‘000

Utilised
during the

year
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Provision for discretionary grants – employers 155 871 100 486 (140 371) 115 986

Provision for discretionary grants – projects 5 555 109 081 (727) 113 909

Exempt employer provision 13 928 3 029 - 16 957

Bonus Provision - 2 683 - 2 683

175 354 215 279 (141 098) 249 535

Reconciliation of provisions – 2021

Opening
balance
R‘000

Additions
R‘000

Utilised
during the

year
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Provision for discretionary grants – LEG Grants 13 070 155 871 (13 070) 155 871

Provision for discretionary grants – projects 14 610 5 555 (14 610) 5 555

Exempt employer provision 13 873 55 - 13 928

Bonus Provision 1 820 - (1 820) -

43 373 161 481 (29 500) 175 354

Provision for discretionary grants – employers
An amount of R115 986 000 (2021: R155 871 000) relates to learner employer grants. Applications for 2022 were received 
and evaluated during the current financial year and the final approval was after year end.

Provision for discretionary grants – projects
An amount of R113 909 000 (2021: R5 555 000) relates to discretionary grants for the bursary scheme, which are still subject 
to verification.

Exempt employer provision
An amount of R16 957 000 (2021: R13 928 000) relates to levies incorrectly contributed by employers, and paid over by SARS 
and DHET, after being exempt from contributing SDL due to legislation changes which came into effect from 1 August 2005. As 
SARS collects the levies on behalf of DHET, the responsibility to refund the levies to the employers remains with SARS.

In terms of Skills Development Circular No. 09/2013, issued by DHET on 25 August 2013, SETAs are able to utilise exempt 
amounts contributed after the expiry date of five years as stipulated in terms of Section 190 (4) of the Tax Administration Act. 
These amounts have been transferred to the discretionary funds in line with the aforementioned circular.

Bonus provision
An amount of R2 683 000 (2021: R0) relates to performance bonuses which are payable to employees that are with FASSET for 
six months or more at year end and the entity has achieved seventy percent or more on the Annual Performance Plan targets.

No provision in the previous financial year was made as FASSET did not achieve sixty percent or more on the Annual 
Performance Plan targets.
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12. Allocation to accumulated surplus
Current year – 2022

Administration
reserve
R‘000

Mandatory
reserve
R‘000

Discretionary
reserve
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Levies 81 586 152 620 386 963 621 169

Interest received – investments - - 30 600 30 600

Other income - - 100 100

Administration expenses (80 366) - - (80 366)

Employer grants and projects expenses - (93 285) (399 640) (492 925)

1 220 59 335 18 023 78 578

Prior year – 2021

Administration
reserve
R‘000

Mandatory
reserve
R‘000

Discretionary
reserve
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Levies 52 503 97 314 251 604 401 421

Interest received – investments - - 29 798 29 798

Other income - - 155 155

Administration expenses (73 080) - - (73 080)

Employer grants and projects expenses - (57 221) (351 350) (408 571)

(20 577) 40 093 (69 793) (50 277)

13. Investment income
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Interest revenue

Reserve Bank (CPD account) 28 879 28 967

FNB current account 1 721 831

30 600 29 798

14. Levies
Levy transfer: Employer grants 152 620 97 314

Levy transfer: Discretionary grants 380 702 243 711

Levy transfer: Administration 81 586 52 503

Levy penalties and interest 6 261 7 893

621 169 401 421
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Levies analysis per IGRAP 20 – 2022

Mandatory
R‘000

Discretionary
R‘000

Administration
R‘000

Penalties 
and

interest
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Levies 128 430 317 865 67 426 1 233 514 954

Inter-SETA transfers (34) (83) (32) - (149)

Exempt employer provision movements (757) (1 874) (398) - (3 029)

Government grants - 2 944 1 472 - 4 416

SARS adjustments 24 981 61 850 13 118 5 028 104 977

152 620 380 702 81 586 6 261 621 169

Levies analysis per IGRAP 20 – 2021

Mandatory
R‘000

Discretionary
R‘000

Administration
R‘000

Penalties 
and

interest
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Levies 71 194 176 205 37 377 921 285 697

Exempt employer provision movements (14) (34) (7) - (55)

Government grants - 2 815 1 408 - 4 223

SARS adjustments 26 114 64 675 13 715 6 972 111 476

Inter-SETA transfers 20 50 10 - 80

97 314 243 711 52 503 7 893 401 421

15. Other income
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Provision for bad debts adjustments 75 155

16. Employee related costs
Basic salaries 31 619 25 478

Performance bonus – current year 2 086 393

Medical aid – company contributions 1 060 917

UIF 112 76

Workmen’s compensation 55 45

SDL 303 213

Leave pay accrual 249 453

Group life benefits 759 594

Post-employment benefits: Defined contribution plans *** 3 648 3 018

Leave paid-out 252 401

40 143 31 588

*** FASSET provides retirement benefits for all its permanent employees through a defined contribution scheme to the NMG Umbrella 
Smart fund that is subject to the Pension Funds Act, 1956 (Act No. 24 of 1956) as amended.
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17. Consulting and professional fees
Consulting fees 27 849

Service provider fees 11 717 11 425

11 744 12 274

18. Employer grant and project expenses
Mandatory grants 93 285 57 221

Discretionary grants 117 593 164 658

Project expenditure 282 047 186 692

492 925 408 571

Amount of R10 525 000 (2021: R8 325 000) relating to the employee cost has been included under project expenditure as this 
costs relate to activities directly attributable to project expenditure.

19. Other administration expenses
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Advertising and stakeholders engagement costs 297 1 160

Bank charges 85 84

Cleaning 1 31

Catering and refreshments 42 18

Committee costs and related costs 665 657

Education and Training Quality Assurance (ETQA) 41 170

Insurance 316 478

IT expenses 24 4 368

Legal fees * 805 158

Other expenses 836 637

Office maintenance 407 408

Postage and courier 10 -

Printing and stationery 222 398

Quality Council for Trades and Occupations (QCTO) 2 543 3 683

Recruitment costs 409 139

Repairs and maintenance 14 -

Research expenditure 2 094 2 042

Remuneration to members of the Accounting Authority 3 350 3 770

Staff welfare 20 -

Telephone 1 228 1 847

Training 1 024 640

Travel and accommodation 350 24

Water and electricity 519 394

Security services (VIP Protection)** 2 764 159

18 066 21 265

* The legal service expenditure is higher than in prior years due to disciplinary action taken as a result of the irregular expenditure 
incurred. Refer to Note 30.

** The security services expenditure is higher in the current financial year due to life threats against a FASSET executive.
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20. Cash generated from operations
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Surplus/(deficit) 78 578 (50 277)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 1 886 1 646

Profit on disposal of assets (25) 5

Provision for doubtful debts adjustment (75) -

Movements in operating lease liability (131) 87

Movements in provisions 74 184 131 981

Changes in working capital:

Inventories (90) (5)

Receivables from exchange transactions 276 23

Receivables from non-exchange transactions 18 097 6 423

Payables from exchange transactions (959) 4 302

Payables from non-exchange transactions 40 803 (28 511)

212 544 65 674

21. Commitments
Admin commitments

Office rental 4 127 7 627

Labour services - 490

Service provider fees 7 515 16 501

VIP security services - 1 059

Employee wellness 80 -

Water coolers 31 8

Printing machines - 31

Storage 74 92

Infrastructure and connectivity 1 025 2 004

Audit services 1 157 2 018

Research projects - 957

Travel agency 373 412

Fraud hotline services 118 -

Certificate printing 83 -

Telephones 87 222

14 670 31 421
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Discretionary projects
Bursary, academic support and special projects 2021/22 to be implemented in 2022/23

2022
R‘000

2021
R‘000

University of Witwatersrand 2 700 -

University of Cape Town 2 700 -

University of South Africa (UNISA) 2 700 -

University of Johannesburg 2 700 -

North West University 2 700 -

Nelson Mandela University 2 588 -

Pretoria University 2 700 -

University of Western Cape 4 500 -

University of Fort Hare 4 500 -

ISFAP 3 510 -

South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) 19 800 -

The South African Actuaries Development Programme (SAADP) 16 670 -

University of Western Cape 8 108 -

Imbeleko Dr Seni Myeni Foundation 5 898 -

Thandulwazi Trust 3 502 -

KZN CET College 1 000 -

The Graduate Institute of South Africa 5 000 -

University of Witwatersrand 1 023 -

International Women’s Forum SA 2 000 -

Business Development Centre of Excellence 1 600 -

Tshwane University of Technology 1 240 -

Association of Certified Fraud Examiners South Africa (ACFE SA) 2 400 -

International Business Training College (IBTC) 270 -

Institute for Risk Management South Africa (IRMSA) 3 144 -

Lagab Financial Services 1 325 -

Rossal No. 98 286 -

SAIPA 3 600 -

Injeje Consulting & Training (Pty) Ltd 43 736 -

Institute of Management Accounting and Strategy 4 200 -

Spectrium 6 300 -

Muthelo College 2 450 -

North West Provincial Treasury 825 -

National Treasury 4 200 -

Office of the Premier: Northern Cape 2 100 -

Matoto Technologies CC 6 000 -

Cloudseed (Pty) Ltd 24 000 -

TVET Lecturer Bursary 4 000 -

TVET Learner Bursary 1 200 -

South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA-MOU) 47 500 -

TVET College of Governors 6 000 -

260 675 -
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2021/22 Discretionary special projects to be implemented in 2022/23

2022
R‘000

2021
R‘000

TVET WBE Programme 2022/23 18 728 -

Youth Employment Services (YES) NSC Programme 2022/23 7 072 -

Youth Employment Services (YES) HET 2022/23 13 720 -

Non-government organisation 60 015 -

99 535 -

2020/21 Discretionary special projects to be implemented in 2021/22

Community Education and Training Support 552 -

Entrepreneurial 1 3 638 -

Entrepreneurial 2 429 -

TVET WBE Programme 2020/21 19 942 -

Youth Employment Services (YES) NSC Programme 9 624 -

Small Business Learner Placement 2 454 -

Youth Employment Services (YES) HET 18 635 -

55 274 -

2020/21 Bursary, academic support and special projects to be implemented in 2021/22

UJ-ETDP SETA 1 917 -

The Tax Faculty NPC – WITS Tax Professionals 30 -

The Tax Faculty NPC – Ithuba III 235 -

The Tax Faculty NPC – Kukhula III 118 -

The Tax Faculty NPC – TP Learners with Disability (Isifiso) 957 -

The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants 622 -

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 1 211 -

International Business Training College – CIMA Management Level (Gauteng) 174 -

International Business Training College – CIMA Operations Level(Gauteng) 177 -

International Business Training College – CIMA Operations Level (National) 136 -

International Business Training College – CIMA Strategic Level (National) 491 -

International Business Training College – ICB Financial Accounting 121 -

International Business Training College 133 -

Association of Certified Fraud Examiners 56 -

Credo Business College (Pty) Ltd 1 217 -

Institute of Management Accounting and Strategy – ACCA 1 085 -

Institute of Management Accounting and Strategy – CIMA 756 -

Spectrum (Pty) Ltd – CIMA 583 -

Spectrum (Pty) Ltd – ICBA 7 -

Anti-Fraud Risk Investigation and Compliance Academy (Pty) Ltd 1 153 -

The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants 329 -

South African Institute of Business Accountants 1 396 -

South African Institute of Business Accountants 1 250 -

South African Institute of Business Accountants 1 250 -

The Tax Faculty NPC – Tax Technician In Academy 178 -

The Tax Faculty NPC 507 -

Gert Sibanda TVET College 550 -

Learnex-Gratia (Pty) Ltd 200 -

16 839 -
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2019/20 Active projects – other

2022
R‘000

2021
R‘000

Small Business Learner Placement Grant (2020/21) - 446

Yes HET Projects (2020/21) - 762

- 1 208

2019/20 Active projects – bursary and academic support

SAIT – Ithuba 2 - 377

Credo Business College - 1 688

SAIT – TT in Academy - 19

SAIT – IN Academy - 74

Tax Faculty and SAIT – TP Disabilities - 58

CIMA – CA Programme - 7

Spectrum – CIMA - 90

ACCA - 1 148

IMAS – ACCA Qualification - 83

SAIT – Kukhula 2 - 268

South African Institute of Professional Accountants (SAIPA) - 4 410

South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA-ITC) - 684

National Treasury – 10 Learners Thabo Mashaba 4 961 8 630

National Treasury – 65 Learners Xoliswa Dlanga 905 3 641

5 866 21 177

2016/17 Projects – implemented in 2017/18

Special Projects - National Treasury - 675

ISFAP 12 733 26 545

12 733 27 220

2018/19 Projects – to be implemented in 2019/20

TVET Workplace-based Experience Project - 633

TVET Workplace-based Experience Project – surplus 181 11 802

TVET Learner Work Experience Placement Programme 3 046 -

3 227 12 435

454 149 62 032

An amount of R454 149 000 (2021: R62 032 000) was committed out of the total R699 968 000 (2021: R623 796 000) 
discretionary reserves. The percentage committed as at 31 March 2022 is 65%. A request for utilisation of the accumulated 
discretionary surplus will be submitted to National Treasury for approval.

Year 2021/22 split between PIVOTAL and Non-PIVOTAL
The grant regulations require at least an 80/20 split for discretionary projects between PIVOTAL and Non-PIVOTAL programmes. 
We have performed the calculation based on current year project allocations. During the current year FASSET has allocated  
84% (2021: 91%) projects to PIVOTAL programmes and 16% (2021: 9%) to Non-PIVOTAL programme.
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22. Related parties
Relationships

Entities under common 
control

By virtue of the fact that FASSET is a national public entity controlled by DHET, It is considered related 
to other SETAs, the QCTO and the NSF, public Universities, CET colleges and TVET colleges. The 
transactions are consistent with the normal operating relationships between the entities and are 
undertaken on terms and conditions that are normal for such. This will include and transactions that 
may occur during the period under review recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance, and 
balance outstanding at the reporting period recorded in the Statement of Financial Position as well as 
any committed balance at reporting date. At reporting date committed amounts related to Public
Universities, CET colleges and TVET colleges included in the notes to the financial statements amount 
to R50 793 000, R1 552 000 and R6 550 000 respectively. (2021: R0) balances included in the
Statement of Financial Position relating the public Universities, TVET and CET colleges amount to  
R0, (2021: R3 920 227), R0 (2021: R0) and R0, (2021: R270 000) at the reporting date.

Members of the Accounting 
Authority whose entities 
are beneficiaries of FASSET 
grants

NERPO (NE Nyathela-Mahanjana) amount included in the Statement of Financial Position R0  
(2021: R17 200)

Basamandla Counsulting (HB Mathibela) amount included in commitment R492 000 (2021: R0)

Members of Accounting 
Authority

L Ntuli (chairperson)

R Singo

H Mathibela

N Nyathela-Mahanjana

J Maboa

X Lingani

M Mushwana

M Metuse

P Ngwenya

T Phatlane

P Khumalo

T Masemola

M Magasa

N Mapiloko

Members of key management A Mafuleka (CEO)

E Thobejane (COO)

Z Alli (CFO)

E Boomgaard (Research Director)

NC Mthombeni (DCS)

T Maphanga (CIO)

M Thebethe (COSEC)

Related party balances

2022
R‘000

2021
R‘000

Amounts included in trade receivable/(trade payable) regarding related parties

Services SETA - 80

MICTSETA (123) -

CATHSSETA (26) -

Amounts relates to the inter-SETA transfer receivables to FASSET

QCTO 2 543 3 683
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23. Remuneration of executive management and members of Accounting Authority

Remuneration of executive management – 2022

Basic
R‘000

Allowance
R‘000

Employee
related
benefits
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Ayanda Mafuleka – Chief Executive Officer 1 768 352 309 2 429

Elizabeth Thobejane – Chief Operations Officer 1 744 - 277 2 021

Ebrahim Boomgaard – Research Director 1 313 54 213 1 580

Zakariya Alli – Chief Financial Officer 1 428 - 237 1 665

Nokulunga Mthombeni – Director Corporate Services 
(appointed June 2021) 957 - 161 1 118

Thembelani Maphanga – Chief Information Officer  
(appointed May 2021) 1 179 - 199 1 378

Mapula Thebethe – Company Secretary (appointed July 2021) 875 - 149 1 024

9 264 406 1 545 11 215

Remuneration of executive management – 2021

Basic
R‘000

Allowance
R‘000

Employee
related
benefits
R‘000

Bonus
R‘000

Leave
pay-out
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Ayanda Mafuleka  
– Chief Executive Officer 2 071 96 89 267 - 2 523

Elizabeth Thobejane  
– Chief Operating Officer 1 679 - 259 193 - 2 131

Ebrahim Boomgaard – PQA Director 1 262 - 179 144 - 1 585

Zakariya Alli – Chief Financial Officer 1 385 - 197 - - 1 582

Maria Matlosa – Director Corporate 
Services 1 172 - 133 65 89 1 459

7 569 96 857 669 89 9 280
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Remuneration of members of the Accounting Authority (excludes travel) 

2022
R‘000

2021
R‘000

L Ntuli (Chairperson) 276 486

RI Singo 173 166

J Maboa 227 227

X Lingani 164 203

N Mapiloko 270 289

P Khumalo 207 222

T Masemola 338 279

M Magasa 268 307

HB Mathibela 308 347

M Metuse 303 288

MF Mushwana 250 194

P Ngwenya 122 148

NE Nyathela-Mahanjana 215 222

TC Phatlane 235 235

MP Nhlapo 191 175

NE Ngwenya - 10

3 547 3 798

The Accounting Authority consists of members appointed in terms of the FASSET’s Constitution. Remuneration is paid to members 
or to their nominating organisations. FASSET has remunerated members of the Accounting Authority for attending Board and 
sub-committee meetings as disclosed above. The transactions above occurred under terms that were no more favourable than 
those available in similar arm’s length dealings.

24. Financial instruments
Liquidity risk
FASSET manages liquidity risk through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure and actual vs. forecasted 
cash flows and its cash management policy. Adequate reserves and liquid resources are maintained.

2022 Carrying
amount
R‘000

6 months 
or less
R‘000

6–12 
months
R‘000

1–2 
years
R‘000

Payables from exchange transactions (5 693) (5 693) - -

Project accruals (40 299) (40 299) - -

Project creditors (1 799) (1 799) - -

(47 791) (47 791) - -

2021 Carrying
amount
R‘000

6 months 
or less
R‘000

6–12 
months
R‘000

1–2 
years
R‘000

Payables from exchange transactions (6 652) (6 652) - -

Project accruals (35 882) (35 882) - -

Project creditors (9 662) (9 662) - -

(52 196) (52 196) - -
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Credit risk
Financial assets which potentially subject FASSET to the risk of non-performance by counter-parties and thereby subject to 
credit concentrations of credit risk, consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, receivables from exchange transactions and 
receivables from non-exchange as per GRAP 104.

FASSET limits its treasury counter-party exposure by only dealing with well-established financial institutions approved by National 
Treasury. FASSET’s exposure is continuously monitored by the Accounting Authority.

Credit risk with respect to levy paying employers is limited due to the nature of the income received. FASSET does not have any 
material exposure to any individual or counter-party. FASSET’s concentration of credit risk is limited to the industry (Financial 
and Accounting Services) in which FASSET operates. No events occurred in the industry during the financial year that may have 
an impact on the accounts receivable that has not been adequately provided for. Accounts receivable are presented net of 
allowance for doubtful debt. FASSET is exposed to a concentration of credit risk, as significant amounts are owed by SARS and 
DHET. This concentration of risk is limited as SARS and DHET are government entities with sound reputation.

2022
Gross
R‘000

Impairment
R‘000

Carrying 
amount
R‘000

Cash and cash equivalents 1 059 668 - 1 059 668

2021 Carrying
amount
R‘000

6 months 
or less
R‘000

6–12 
months
R‘000

1–2 
years
R‘000

Receivables from exchange transactions 20 20 - -

Project receivables 17 727 - 17 727 -

17 747 20 17 727 -

Gross
R‘000

Impairment
R‘000

Carrying 
amount
R‘000

Cash and cash equivalents 851 432 - 851 432

Market risk
FASSET is exposed to fluctuations in the employment market, for example, sudden increases in unemployment and changes in 
wage rates. No significant events occurred during the year in the market that FASSET is aware of. There are adequate procedures 
in place to address changes in the market when necessary.
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Interest rate risk
FASSET manages its interest rate risk by effectively investing FASSET surplus cash in term deposits with the Corporation for Public 
Deposits according to FASSET’s investment policy. The exposure to cash flow interest rate risk and the effective interest rates on 
financial instruments at reporting date are as follows:

2022 Floating 
rate

R‘000

Non-interest
bearing
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Cash 1 059 668 - 1 059 668

Payables from exchange transactions - (5 693) (5 693)

Project accruals - (40 299) (40 299)

Project creditors - (1 799) (1 799)

1 059 668 (47 791) 1 011 877

2021 Floating 
rate

R‘000

Non-interest
bearing
R‘000

Total
R‘000

Cash 851 432 - 851 432

Receivables from exchange transactions - 20 20

Project receivables - 17 727 17 727

Payables from exchange transactions - (6 652) (6 652)

Project accruals - (35 882) (35 882)

Projects creditors - (9 662) (9 662)

851 432 (34 449) 816 983

25. Going concern
The entity is currently established until 31 March 2030. There are no known instances which cast doubt on the SETA’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for the next 12 months.

The Audited Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

26. Budget differences
Notes to Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts
Legislation requires that FASSET annually, in September, submit a budget to the Minister for approval. Variances of 10% and 
above are considered material and are explained below:

Note 26.1. Interest received
Interest received was 13% above budget during the financial year due to slow spending in discretionary grants.

Note 26.2. Depreciation and loss on disposal of assets
FASSET does not budget for depreciation as it is a non-cash item and disposal of assets are not budgeted for.

Note 26.3. Employer grant and project expenses
Employer grant and project expenses was 24% lower than budget. The contributing factor to this was the late implementation of 
discretionary projects.

Note 26.4. Other Income – provision for bad debts adjustment
FASSET did not budget for provision for bad debts adjustment as this is a result of levy refunds to employers through the
SDL system.
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Note 26.5. External audit fees
The external audit fees are 39% higher than expected due to the interim audit being performed in February and March for
the 2021/22 financial period. This will reduce the extent of testing for the final audit.

Note 26.6 Other administration expenses
Other administration expenses are 55% lower than expected on the revised budget due to approval of the additional budget
being received late. The additional expenditure will be re-applied for in the 2022/23 financial year.

Note 26.7. Lease rentals on operating lease
Lease rentals on operating lease were 11% below budget in the year due to additional space not being procured as planned.

27. Contingencies
Discretionary projects
First time employer registrations
The Skills Development legislation allows an employer, registering for the first time, six months to submit an application for a
mandatory grant.

At the reporting date it is estimated that, as a result, additional mandatory grant expenditure of R548 000 (2021: R561 000)
will be payable. The amount is contingent on the number of submissions received and approved.

Legal case 1
In October 2019, BUSA won a court case against DHET where the department’s decision to decrease the mandatory grant 
levies and grants percentage was decreased from 50% to 20% in terms of Section 4(4) of the SETA Grant Regulations was set 
aside. The court did not decide on the mandatory levy or grant percentage to be applied from the court date onwards. The effect 
of the ruling is that the Minister would have to decide on the percentage for mandatory grants in consultation with the sector. The 
Minister has not yet made a decision in regard to the mandatory grant percentage.

DHET continued to show the mandatory levies portion as 20% in the 2020/21 financial year in the levy download information. 
The SETA continued to pay and accrue mandatory grants at 20% in the 2020/21 financial year in the absence of a revised 
percentage which is aligned to the approved Annual Performance Plan. The mandatory grant expenditure in Note 18 as well 
as the mandatory grant liability in Note 10 were calculated using a mandatory grant percentage of 20%. The SETA therefore 
discloses a contingent liability in regard to the amount of the mandatory grants payable to qualifying levy payers from the 
date of the court decision to the year end. This is disclosed as a liability as the intention of the litigants, BUSA, was to increase 
the mandatory grant percentage from 20%.The timing and amount of this contingent liability is uncertain and no reasonable 
estimate can be made at this point. Currently the department is in discussions with BUSA with regard to the mandatory 
grant percentage.

Legal case 2
A claim has been submitted to the value of R1 956 656.65 on the deceased estate of the deceased sole director of Trend Setters 
Consultants (Pty) Ltd and Afro-Ban Thai Massage (Pty) Ltd who had projects with FASSET. The amounts claimed were for monies 
that had not yet been transferred to universities for learner study fees at the time of death of the director when operation ceased 
to continue. The outcome is currently uncertain.

Surplus funds
Retention of cash
In terms of Section 53(3) of the PFMA, public entities listed in Schedule 3A and 3C to the PFMA may not retain cash surpluses 
that were realised in the previous financial year without obtaining the prior written approval of National Treasury. During 
May 2017, National Treasury issued Instruction No.12 of 2020/21 which gave a revised definition of a surplus. According 
to this instruction, a surplus is based on cash and cash equivalents, plus receivables, less current liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period.

Application to retain accumulated surplus as at year-end
FASSET will be applying for the retention of its accumulated surplus for the financial year ending 31 March 2022 in terms of 
section 53(3) of the PFMA from National Treasury during the second quarter of the 2022/23 financial year. The accumulated 
surplus as at year-end is therefore disclosed as a contingent liability until approval has been obtained.
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On 30 November 2017, DHET issued Skills Development Circular No. 15/2017 which requires SETAs to continue to apply 
for the retention of surpluses in terms of Section 53(3) of the PFMA and should observe National Treasury Instruction No.12 
of 2020/21.

As at 31 March 2022 the surplus for the year is as follows:

2022
R‘000

2021
R‘000

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1 059 668 851 432

Add: Receivables 2 765 21 038

Less: Current liabilities (362 137) (248 243)

Accumulated surplus 700 296 624 227

Notwithstanding the accumulated surplus above, FASSET has at year-end commitments in the 
form of contracts with various service providers as indicated in Note 19, the below reflects the 
accumulated surplus after taking into account the impact of these commitments:

Committed amount

Amount per surplus calculation above 700 296 624 227

Administration commitments (14 670) (31 421)

Projects commitments (454 149) (62 032)

Accumulated surplus net of commitments 231 477 530 774

28. Operating lease
The operating lease relates to the rental of office space in which the entity operates. FASSET  
entered into a lease agreement on 1 August 2018 until 31 July 2023. The monthly rental  
escalates annually by 7.5% on the anniversary of the start date.

Future minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable  
as follows:

Within one year 3 487 3 229

Later than one year not later than five years 1 193 4 654

4 680 7 883

29. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Opening balance as previously reported 1 1

Opening balance as restated 1 1

Add: Expenditure identified – prior period (1) -

Closing balance - 1

Details – prior year
In the prior year FASSET incurred fruitless and wasteful expenditure relating to a tender advert which was cancelled.
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30. Irregular expenditure
2022

R‘000
2021

R‘000

Opening balance as previously reported 10 310 576

- 576

Add: Irregular expenditure – current 1 000 959

Add: Irregular expenditure – prior period - 8 885

Less: Amount written off – current - (110)

Amount condoned by National Treasury (465) -

Closing balance 10 845 10 310

Details of Irregular expenditure – Current Year
The irregular expenditure balance of R10.8 million is made up of R8.8 million (81%) which relates to expenditure identified 
through investigation as a result of non-compliance with procurement requirements. This expenditure has undergone the 
determination test and an application to National Treasury for condonement has been submitted.

The remainder of the irregular expenditure is made up of R1.7 million which is as a result of non-compliance to the SDA in the 
appointment of certain Accounting Authority members by the DHET and R283 thousand which is as a result of over expenditure 
on a legal services contract.

Analysis of irregular expenditure

Non-compliance to SDA** 1 677 959

Amount awaiting response from National Treasury - 500

Amount not condoned by National Treasury and written off by Accounting Authority - (110)

Amount to be submitted for condonement to National Treasury - 76

Amount identified through investigation* 8 885 8 885

Amount incurred by exceeding the contract value*** 283 -

10 845 10 310

*  The irregular expenditure identified through investigation as indicated above has undergone a determination test and the application 
for condonement was sent to the National Treasury after year end.

** The irregular expenditure incurred is as a result of non-compliance by the DHET in the appointment of certain Accounting Authority 
members. The determination test as outlined in the Irregular Expenditure Framework has been conducted and the application for 
condonement will be submitted by the DHET.

*** The irregular amount of R283 300 was identified, which was as a result of an over expenditure on a legal services contract. The 
investigation as per the Irregular Expenditure Framework has commenced.

31. Events after the reporting date
At reporting date, awards amounting to R113 408 814 were still in process of being awarded and confirmed with service 
providers. These awards were finalised after year end and implementation is to be rolled out during the 2022/23 financial 
period. This is considered a non-adjusting subsequent event.
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Implementation of research findings, 
recommendations and future plans
In the financial year 2020/21, a study, entitled ‘TVET 
curriculum alignment to Finance and Accounting Services 
sector skills needs’, was conducted by the FASSET Research 
and Planning team. The findings of this study noted 
that there were no issues raised about the curriculum. 
Participants in the study indicated that they felt that lecturers 
were not empowered, which made the implementation 
of the curriculum weak and fragmented thus leading to 
intellectually poor TVET graduates. 

The management of FASSET decided, based on the study, 
to fund the placement of 480 TVET college beneficiaries. In 
addition, the number of partnerships signed with the public 
TVET colleges increased from two in the 2020/21 financial 
year to five for the 2021/22 financial year. 

Furthermore, FASSET opened funding for TVET lecturers 
who will enrol in courses that are related to their fields 
of teaching. In 2020/21, only 10 public TVET college 
lecturers were funded through the FASSET TVET college 
lecturers’ bursary. Based on the study’s recommendations, 
management increased the target for TVET lecturers’ 
bursaries from 10 to 30 in the 2021/22 financial year.

Over the past years, a concentrated effort to improve 
monitoring and evaluation (M&E) in the SETA landscape 
has been made. It is an admitted fact that M&E in 
government and all its agencies is poor, and staff have not 
been capacitated to conduct this. FASSET is no different, 
as it stands, there is no established M&E team and no 
experienced specialist who could coordinate and perform 
M&E. 

Noting the findings of the M&E report produced by the 
FASSET Research and Planning team, it was highlighted that 
M&E needs to be capacitated. The management decided 
to put funds aside through the Discretionary Grant Fund 
Monitoring and Evaluation project for the period of three 
years starting April 2022. The service provider to conduct this 
programme was appointed in March 2022. The broad M&E 
project has four work strands which are M&E, due diligence, 
impact assessment, and a tracking and tracing study. 
Meetings have since been held with the service provider to 
conceptualise these four work strands. Updates will be made 
from time to time until the final report is produced. 

In the financial year 2020/21, a study on the implication 
of the 4IR or emerging technology implication for skills 
planning in the Finance and Accounting Services sector 
was conducted. The study findings show that some of 

the traditional finance and accounting occupations were 
changing, and in some cases it was found that some 
occupations were potentially decreasing resulting in very 
few people being recruited for such roles. What the study 
recommended was lifelong learning for the future world 
of work, this meant that reskilling and training of certain 
employees in the Finance and Accounting Services sector has 
become more important. In response, FASSET is developing 
plans on how it could incorporate skills intervention 
programmes that will ensure employees are reskilled and 
retrained.

Emerging observation on schools visits
Annually, FASSET has a target of career guidance events. In 
the past, FASSET has not had a rural reach. In the financial 
year under review, FASSET management decided to embark 
on a career guidance drive that included executives visiting 
different provinces, particularly focusing on rural towns. 
The management team presented FASSET’s funded skills 
intervention programmes to learners and teachers.

Study introduction/background 
This 2022 study is to ascertain the future of the commerce 
stream in high schools. The aim of the analysis is to 
understand the implications of learners losing significant 
theoretical information ahead of entering university to 
obtain Finance and Accounting Services sector-related 
qualifications.

It is to help determine whether learners are equipped with 
enough sources and the support required to gain theoretical 
knowledge at high school level in commerce classes, 
especially as these classes provide useful background 
knowledge for learners wishing to pursue commercial 
courses.

Findings of the survey are consolidated by FASSET.

Scope of the survey and methodology
The survey was conducted in selected schools in Gauteng, 
Eastern Cape, and Limpopo. The information was collected 
through a structured questionnaire interview. Participants 
were given the questionnaire to respond to during the field 
data team’s visits to the schools.

The survey collected data regarding: 
1. Significance and demand of commercial subjects;
2. General support (educators, learner, communities/

parents); and
3. Challenges in driving the commerce stream.

ANNEXURE	1:	
SUMMARY	OF	RESEARCH	FINDINGS	IN	2021/22
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Thirty-eight schools were visited, and 97% (37 schools) 
responded to the questionnaire. The survey only covered 
commercial stream subjects. The study was completed 
by school principals or the heads of business-related 
departments in the schools. FASSET used a structured 
questionnaire that was distributed to the schools during 
visits. Survey questions follow at the end of this section titled 
Exploring the future of Commerce stream in High Schools:  
A Case Study of the selected schools.
 

Summary of key findings
Significance and demand of commercial subjects
Participants were asked if they are considering phasing out 
commercial subjects in their schools. Thirty-seven of thirty-
eight participants responded. Three respondents indicated 
that they are planning to phase out the commercial stream in 
their school. Twenty-three schools indicated that they are not 
planning to phase out the commercial stream. Lastly, of the 
thirty-three, five respondents indicated they would consider 
phasing the stream out should the enrolment of learners 
remain low. 

Furthermore, participants were asked how many learners 
have stayed in the commerce stream since Grade 10. A 
total of 36 out of 38 participants responded to the question: 
the non-respondents included a school that does not offer 
commercial subjects and the other has already phased out 
commercial subjects.

General support
Here, the survey investigated if there is support for and 
from each of the parties involved (learners, educators, 
community/parents) to help encourage the learners to take 
up commercial subjects. 

Respondents were asked what kind of support teachers 
are given from the Finance and Accounting sector. Twelve 
respondents indicated that they receive support from 
accounting facilitators through workshops and programmes 
and some funded by development institutions. Twenty-one 
respondents indicated that they do not receive any support. 
Three respondents’ answers were voided because they 
focused on learner support rather than educator support. 
One did not respond to this question because it was not 
applicable since it is in the agricultural stream. 

Looking at the three provinces:
• Gauteng indicated that 12 schools get support and 9 do 

not receive any support.
• Limpopo indicated that four schools get support and 12 

do not receive any support.
• In the Eastern Cape, one participant indicated that 

teachers do not get support.

Environmental factors
Participants were asked if there are any environmental 
factors that push communities to participate in advocating or 
adoption of the commerce stream. Some of the respondents 
seem to not have understood the question clearly. Four 
participants did not provide answers. The question was not 
applicable to one participant who stated that it is in the 
agricultural stream. One respondent indicated that there are 
no factors that encourage the community to push learners 
to take the commerce stream. Additionally, 12 respondents 
gave rather inaccurate answers that do not speak to the 
question. Eighteen respondents indicated that the community 
pushes because of the following factors:
1. Lack of business and financial skills in communities;
2. Lack of employment; 
3. Poor school and areal environment;
4. Employment of majority of graduate students from the 

commerce stream; and
5. Poverty. 

Parental support
Participants were asked whether parents are supportive of 
their learners (children) choosing the commerce stream from 
Grade 9. Sixteen respondents indicated that the parents 
support their children in choosing subjects in Grade 9, 
whereas 17 participants indicated that the parents do not 
support their children in terms of choosing subjects. Four 
respondents indicated that the parents are ‘somewhat’ 
supportive. One respondent felt that the question does not 
apply as it does not offer commercial subjects. Those that do 
not support and those that are partially supportive suggested 
the following factors to be an issue:
1. Most parents are not familiar with the commerce stream.
2. Schools usually choose streams for learners based on 

their previous results or grade.
3. Some parents prefer their children to take the science 

and maths stream.
4. Environmental factors like low parental education and 

poor school environment also play a role.

Conclusion 
The purpose of this study was to investigate the future of 
the commerce stream in high schools. The survey was 
done in selected schools in Gauteng, Eastern Cape, and 
Limpopo. It indicated that many schools that offer the 
stream are not looking to phase it out while others are 
considering to do so because of a low uptake by learners. 
The study also highlighted that many educators are not 
sufficiently supported by the Finance and Accounting sector 
to strengthen their own learning, and that many parents or 
the broader community do not encourage learners to pursue 
commerce-related subjects (and hence, careers). 
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Recommendations 
While FASSET has deployed all necessary interventions for programmes that assist learners with their career choices, it is evident 
that many learners require a lot of these interventions. FASSET needs to further broaden its scope of career guidance, by 
including the distribution of pamphlets that not only show what is required to be an employee in the FAS sector but also show 
what subjects are required for them to qualify for certain higher education and training programmes.

FASSET needs use local radio stations as platforms through which career guidance can be expanded. This exercise should be 
coordinated by the FASSET Marketing and Communications team and assisted by other units such as Projects and Research. 

Exploring the future of Commerce stream in High Schools: A Case Study of the selected schools 
The FASSET team that has been running high school career initiatives across the country observed a consistent trend particularly 
in the Eastern Cape and KwaZulu-Natal schools. The trend indicates that some schools have plans to discontinue the Commerce 
Stream while many others have already discontinued the stream due to a small number of enrolments. FASSET would like to have 
a better understanding of the implication thereof, where learners could be losing fundamental theoretical information ahead of 
entering university level to study Finance and Accounting Services sector-related qualifications. We are aware that the requisite 
subjects, in order to enrol in a commerce qualification, accounting in particular, at university are Mathematics and English 
however, we are of the view that the theoretical knowledge that learners gain at the high school level in commerce classes may 
provide useful background knowledge if they are to study commercial courses.

This short survey aims to investigate the extent of this trend nationally. 

The below questions should be attended to by a Principal or the heads of Business studies at the school. 

Questions Answers

How many learners have stayed in the commerce stream 
from Grade 10 to 12 in the past 3 years?

What type of support is received by the teachers in 
classrooms that links to the Finance and Accounting sector? 

What are some of the challenges experienced in driving the 
commerce stream?

Is the school considering discontinuing the commerce 
stream?

What is the attitude of the learners towards the commerce 
stream?

What are some of the environmental factors that propel 
communities to play a role in the advocating or adopting of 
the commerce stream?

In engaging with students and their families ahead of 
choosing subjects at Grade 9, are parents in support of the 
commerce stream?
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Ethics and Integrity in the Finance 
and Accounting Services (FAS) Sector: 
Investigating possibilities of using 
automation to curb accounting 
irregularities
The main objective of this study was to explore the extent to 
which ethics and integrity are understood in the FAS Sector. 
The objective was to investigate also how the use of modern 
automation contributes to the reduction of accounting 
irregularities. The key findings were as follows:
• It is empirical that the FAS Sector moves to a more 

automated era. Automated systems may carry a lot of 
advantages. However, to effect this particular change 
in the sector necessitates the required training for 
the employees and employers to better manage their 
organisations’ finances.

• Automation permits one to function faster and a lot more 
effectively, enhancing consumer fulfilment and experience.

• In many cases, ethical misconduct often takes place in 
situations where money is involved.

Enterprise Development Study in the 
FAS Sector: Current and Future Skills 
Needs of the Small, Micro and Medium 
Enterprises (SMMEs)
This study aimed to provide an insight into the current and 
future skills needs of the SMMEs focusing on South Africa’s 
FAS Sector. The key findings were as follows:
• The study detected a trend where SMME employees with 

information technology (IT) skills but also those with other 
skills are performing multiple functions.

• IT has merged with various functions; therefore, digitisation 
is sweeping across organisations. This is driving almost 
everyone in the SMME sector to learn IT skills.

• Most SMMEs are not receiving funding from FASSET for 
internship programmes and the development of their 
employees.

FASSET Beneficiaries Tracer Study: 
Assessment of the impact and outcomes 
of the Learnership Programme
The objective was for FASSET to produce through its 
learnerships lasting, long-term results whereby the learners/
students are taken through the learning journey till they 
acquire employment. 
The key findings were as follows:
• Improved employability of the beneficiaries. It was noted 

that more than 70% of the beneficiaries found employment 
within three months after completion of the learnership 
programme.

• Increased earnings through skills that can assist in self-
employment.

• Improved chances of promotion and career advancement.
• Increased interest in future study and further improvement.

TVET Curriculum Study: Exploring the 
TVET College Business Studies Lecturer 
Skills gaps
The main objective of this study was to explore the skills gaps 
of the TVET college lecturers. The study focused in particular 
on the nature of knowledge possessed by the TVET college 
lecturers in respect of the theoretical and practical knowledge 
to implement the curriculum diligently. The key findings were 
as follows:
• It was noted that lecturers generally lack technical skills 

and interactive teaching methodologies, and the reason 
was that the TVET colleges are generally under-resourced 
in respect of technology.

• Female lecturers are in the majority (62%) and their male 
counterparts, 38%.

• Lecturers’ qualifications stand at 47% for NQF Level 8 
(Honours degree), NQF Level 7 at 35% and NQF Level 9 
(Master’s) at 3%.

FASSET Sector Transformation Report
The objective was to analyse the year-on-year transformation 
of the sector since the inception of the SETA, with the focus 
being on the 2020/21 and 2021/22 period. It was also to 
look at the overview of the interventions funded by FASSET 
and its contributions to the sector. The key findings were as 
follows:
• There is considerable progress in the transformation 

agenda of the sector.
• The White population has seen a downwards spiral in 

terms of representation in the FAS Sector, while it has been 
an upwards spiral for Black Africans.

• However, the occupational groups, ‘managers’ and 
‘professionals’, have seen little progress in terms of the 
transformation agenda.

 

ANNEXURE	2:	
SUMMARY	OF	RESEARCH	STUDIES	DURING	2021/22
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